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PREFACE

WHEN the Oxford History of England was launched a
generation ago, ‘England’ was still an all-embracing word.
It meant indiscriminately England and Wales; Great Britain;
the United Kingdom; and even the British Empire.
Foreigners used it as the name of a Great Power and indeed
continue to do so. Bonar Law, a Scotch Canadian, was not
ashamed to describe himself as ‘Prime Minister of Eng-
land’, as Disraeli, a Jew by birth, had done before him. One
volume in this history treats Scotch universities under the
head of English education; others treat the internal affairs
of the colonies as part of English history. Now terms have
become more rigorous. The use of ‘England’ except for a
geographic area brings protests, especially from the Scotch.?
They seek to impose ‘Britain’ - the name of a Roman pro-
vince which perished in the fifth century and which in-
cluded none of Scotland nor, indeed, all of England. I never
use this incorrect term, though it is sometimes slipped past
me by sub-editors. ‘Great Britain’ is correct and has been
since 1707. It is not, however, synonymous with the United
Kingdom, as the Scotch, forgetting the Irish (or, since 1922,
the Northern Irish), seem to think. Again, the United King-
dom does not cover the Commonwealth, the colonial em-
pire, or India. Whatever word we use lands us in a tangle.

I have tried to stick to my assignment, which is English
history. Where the Welsh, the Scotch, the Irish, or the
British overseas have the same history as the English, my
book includes them also; where they have a different history,
it does not. For instance, Wales is an integral part of the

1. Some inhabitants of Scotland now call themselves ‘Scots’ and
their affairs ‘Scottish’. They are entitled to do so. The English word
for both is ‘Scotch’, just as we call les francais the French, and
Deutschland Germany. Being English, I use it.
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PREFACE

English administrative and legal system, but it has (since
1919) no established church. Scotland has a different estab-
lished church, a different legal and administrative system.
and a largely autonomous administration. Northern Ireland
since 1922 is more autonomous still. None of these things is
my concern. On the other hand, it would be impossible to
discover a specifically English foreign policy, and foolish,
though not impossible, to discover the specifically English
contribution to British budgets or to British overseas trade.
It is, however, reasonable, I think, to talk about English
feelings or English patterns of life. At any rate, this book
is about thirty years in the history of the English people,
and others come in only if they made a stir in English
politics or aroused English interest in other ways. Thus, I
discuss the impact of events in India on English politics
and do not attempt to narrate India’s political history. Simi-
larly, I have passed over developments in Africa which were
significant for Africa, but not, at the time, for England.
My book begins precisely on the day, 4 August 1914,
almost at the hour, 11 p.m., when the volume by Sir Robert
Ensor in this history ends. Its own ending is more ragged.
There was much unfinished business: the reordering of
Europe, the American loan, the establishment of the wel-
fare state and of Indian independence. The new patterns
were much clearer in 1951 than in 1945 However, I had to
stop somewhere. I have written in the form of a continuous
narrative, though with occasional pauses for refreshment.
Most themes chose themselves. For ten of the thirty-one
years which this volume covers the English people were in-
volved in great wars; for nineteen they lived in the shadow
of mass unemployment. When I had dealt with these sub-
jects, and with the politics which sprang from them, there
was not much room left. Some omissions are excused only
by ignorance. There were, for instance, advances in science
of the greatest importance: beneficent as with vitamins,
potentially catastrophic as with nuclear explosions. I do not
understand the internal-combustion engine, let alone the
atomic bomb, and any discussion of scientific topics was be-
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PREFACE

yond me. Nor could I have made much sense of modern
philosophy. At any rate, I chose the subjects which seemed
most urgent, most interesting, and with which I was most
competent to deal.

I have followed Sir Robert Ensor’s example and have
treated all those mentioned in this book, living or dead, as
historical figures - I hope without offence. The biographical
notes are designed only for the period covered by the book,
though they occasionally stray beyond it. I have received
information and ideas from many people and taken them
from many books. The bibliography especially could not
have been compiled without assistance from individual
historians and the authorities of various institutions. I am
deeply grateful for all this help, so generously given, and
hope that those who gave it will feel free to criticize the
results.

My colleague, Kenneth Tite, Fellow of Magdalen College,
read my entire manuscript twice. He saved me from many
mistakes, questioned many of my judgements, and tem-
pered the dogmatism of my style. He must take part of the
blame if the word ‘probably’ occurs too often. Sir George
Clark, the general editor, honoured me by his invitation to
write this book and sustained me when I was slighted in my
profession. He has read my manuscript with critical care
and reinforced it at many points. One other historian
gave me inspiration and guidance. I had hoped to place this
book in his hands. Now I set down in bereavement the name
of Max Aitken, Lord Beaverbrook, my beloved friend.

A.J.P.T.
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PREFACE TO THE PELICAN EDITION

For this edition I have corrected a number of mistakes,
some of which were pointed out to me by vigilant readers
and some of which I found myself. I have also incorporated
a little new information but essentially the book is un-
changed.

NOTE TO THE 1975 EDITION

For this reprint I have substituted a revised bibliography,
including works published up to July 1974.
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I

THE GREAT WAR: OLD STYLE
19I4~15

UntiL August 1914 a sensible, law-abiding Englishman
could pass through life and hardly notice the existence of
the state, beyond the post office and the policeman. He
could live where he liked and as he liked. He had no official
number or identity card. He could travel abroad or leave
his country for ever without a passport or any sort of official
permission. He could exchange his money for any other
currency without restriction or limit. He could buy goods
from any country in the world on the same terms as he
bought goods at home. For that matter, a foreigner could
spend his life in this country without permit and without
informing the police. Unlike the countries of the European
continent, the state did not require its citizens to perform
military service. An Englishman could enlist, if he chose,
in the regular army, the navy, or the territorials. He could
also ignore, if he chose, the demands of national defence.
Substantial householders were occasionally called on for
jury service. Otherwise, only those helped the state who
wished to do so. The Englishman paid taxes on a modest
scale: nearly f200 million in 1913-14, or rather less than 8
per cent of the national income. The state intervened to
prevent the citizens from eating adulterated foods or con-
tracting certain infectious diseases. It imposed safety rules in
factories and prevented women, and adult males in
some industries, from working excessive hours. The state
saw to it that children received education up to the age of
13. Since 1 January 1909, it provided a meagre pension
for the needy over the age of 70. Since 1913, it helped to in-
sure certain classes of workers against sickness and un-
employment. This tendency towards more state action was
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increasing. Expenditure on the social services had roughly
doubled since the Liberals took office in 1903. Still, broadly
speaking, the state acted only to help those who could not
help themselves. It left the adult citizen alone.

All this was changed by the impact of the Great War.?
The mass of the people became, for the first time, active
citizens. Their lives were shaped by orders from above; they
were required to serve the state instead of pursuing exclus-
ively their own affairs. Five million men entered the armed
forces, many of them (though a minority) under compulsion.
The Englishman’s food was limited, and its quality
changed, by government order. His freedom of movement
was restricted; his conditions of work prescribed. Some in-
dustries were reduced or closed, others artificially fostered.
The publication of news was fettered. Street lights were
dimmed. The sacred freedom of drinking was tampered
with: licensed hours were cut down, and the beer watered
by order. The very time on the clocks was changed. From
1916 onwards, every Englishman got up an hour earlier in
summer than he would otherwise have done, thanks to an
act of parliament. The state established a hold over its
citizens which, though relaxed in peacetime, was never to
be removed and which the second World war was again to
increase. The history of the English state and of the Eng-
lish people merged for the first time.

Formally speaking, the war came as though King George
V2 still possessed undiminished the prerogatives of Henry
VIIL At 10.30 p.m. on 4 August 1914 the king held a privy
council at Buckingham Palace, which was attended only by

1. In contemporary parlance, the war of 1914-18 was always, not
surprisingly, the Great War. It did not need the war of 1939—45 to
change it into the first World war. Repington devised the phrase at
the time of the armistice, ‘to prevent the millenian folk from forget-
ting that the history of the world is the history of war’. Repington,
The First World War, ii. 291.

2. George V (1865-1936), second son of Edward VII: married Prin-
cess Mary of Teck, 1893; king, 1910-36; changed name of royal family
from Saxe-Coburg to Windsor, 1917; his trousers were creased at the
sides, not front and back.
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DECLARATION OF WAR

one minister? and two court officials. This council sanctioned
the proclamation of a state of war with Germany from 11
p-m.2 That was all.3 The cabinet played no part once it had
. resolved to defend the neutrality of Belgium. It did not con-
sider the ultimatum to Germany, which Sir Edward Grey,
the foreign secretary,* sent after consulting only the prime
minister, Asquith,® and perhaps not even him. Nor did the
cabinet authorize the declaration of war. The parliament of
the United Kingdom, though informed of events, did not
give formal approval to the government’s acts until it voted
a credit of £100 million, without a division,® on 6 August.

The governments and parliaments of the Dominions
were not consulted. The Canadian parliament alone sub-
sequently expressed its approval. Apart from this each
governor general issued the royal proclamation on his own

1. Lord Beauchamp, first commissioner of works, who succeeded
Morley as lord president of the council on the following day.

2. Why 11 p.m.? It is impossible to say. The ultimatum to Germany
demanded an answer here (i.e. London) by midnight. After its dis-
patch someone unknown recollected that German time was an hour
in advance of Greenwich mean time, and it was decided that the ulti-
matum should expire according to the time in Berlin. Why? Perhaps
for fear that the German government might give a favourable, or
equivocal, answer; perhaps to get things settled and to be able to go to
bed; probably for no reason at all.

3. War was declared against Austria-Hungary on 10 August.

4. Edward Grey (1862-1933): educated Winchester and Oxford;
foreign secretary, 1905-16; created Viscount, 1916; special mission to
United States, 1919; chancellor of Oxford University, 1928-33; a
devoted bird-watcher until he lost his sight; the first foreign secretary
to publish a full account of his work in office.

5. Herbert Henry Asquith (1852~1928): educated City of London
school and Oxford; prime minister of Liberal government, 19o8-15; of
Coalition government, 1915-16; secretary for war, March-August
1914; defeated at East Fife, 1918; returned for Paisley, 1920; defeated
(by Labour), 1924; created Earl of Oxford and Asquith, 1925; re-
jected as chancellor of Oxford University in favour of Cave, a man
otherwise unknown, 1925; resigned leadership of Liberal party, 1926;
generally regarded as ‘the greatest parliamentarian’. In cabinert,
Asquith wrote letters to Venetia Stanley (later Mrs Edwin Montagu).

6. Ramsay MacDonald and some Radicals spoke against the declara-
tion of war.
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authority, as did the viceroy of India. The white popula-
tions of the Empire rallied eagerly to the mother country.
Seme 50 million Africans and 250 million Indians were in-
volved, without consultation, in a war of which they
understood nothing, against an enemy who was also un-
known to them. Use of the prerogative went further. The
administrative measures, consequent on the outbreak of
war, had long been laid down in the War Book, which
Maurice Hankey, secretary of the committee of imperial
defence,* elaborated. These measures were now brought
into force by proclamation. Military areas were closed to
aliens; trade with the enemy was forbidden; merchant ships
were requisitioned (some 250 at once, and later over a thou-
sand) for the transport of the armed forces.

This reliance on the prerogative was in part a quaint,
and convenient, survival; a reminder that Great Britain had
advanced towards democracy, and the Empire towards
Commonwealth, without any open break in the traditional
constitution. It also reflected the general view that war was
an act of state, if not of prerogative, with which ordinary
citizens had little to do. Even the ministers most responsible
assumed that Great Britain would wage war with the
armed forces which she possessed at the outset. The British
navy would fight a great engagement with the German high
seas fleet in the North Sea, while the armies of the conti-
nental Allies defeated Germany on land. All would be over
in a few months, if not in a few weeks. The ordinary citizen
would be little affected. As Grey said in the house of com-
mons on 3 August: ‘if we are engaged in war, we shall suffer
but little more than we shall suffer if we stand aside.” No
preparations had been made for changing civilian life - no
register of manpower or survey of industrial resources, no

1. Maurice Hankey (1877-1963) an officer of marines; secretary to
the committee of imperial defence, 1912-38; of war cabinet, 1916-19;
of cabinet, 1919—38; clerk to the privy council, 1923-38; created Baron,
1938; minister without portfolio and member of war cabinet, 1939—40;

chancellor of the duchy of Lancaster, 1940—41; paymaster-general,
1941—2. Balfour said: ‘Without Hankey we should have lost the

[first World] war.’
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BUSINESS AS USUAL

accumulation of raw materials nor even consideration of
what raw materials would be needed. The duty of the
civiian was to carry on normally; in Churchill’s* phrase,
‘Business as usual’,? the notice which a shopkeeper stuck up
after a fire. ,

There were some breaches of this rule. Financial panic
was widely expected to follow the outbreak of war. The
government proclaimed a standstill, or moratorium, and
took over responsibility for bills on neutral and enemy
countries. The alarm seems to have been overdone and
panic rather the other way — foreigners striving desperately
to meet their obligations. Pounds grew scarce on the inter-
national market. The American exchange reached $7 to the
pound (as against the normal rate of $4.86). The government
also took over the insurance of war risks on shipping - an
arrangement which showed a profit at the end of the war. It
was feared, too, that people might take to hoarding gold
sovereigns, then the general currency, and the treasury was
empowered to issue paper notes for £1 and 10s.® Here, too,

1. Winston Spencer Churchill (1874-1965), grandson of duke of
Marlborough and of American tycoon, Jerome: educated Harrow and
Sandhurst; first lord of the admiralty, 1911-15; chancellor of the
duchy of Lancaster, 1915; commanded a battalion in France, 1915-16;
minister of munitions, 1917-19; secretary for war (and air), 1919-21;
for colonies, 1921-2; supported Lloyd George on break up of Coali-
tion and defeated at Dundee, 1922; Conservative M.P. for Woodford,
1924-64; chancellor of the .exchequer, 1924-9; left Conservative
shadow cabinet and opposed concessions to India, 1931; supported
Edward VIII at time of abdication, 1936; first lord of the admiralty
and member of war cabinet, 1939—40; prime minister of National
government and minister of defence, 1940-5; leader of Conservative
party, 1940-55; Conservative prime minister, 1945, 1951-5; K.G,,
'1953; the saviour of his country.

2. And pleasure as usual also. County cricket matches continued
to be played until the end of August.

3. This was not an abandonment of the gold standard. The notes
could be changed into gold at the old fixed rate. Nor did paper
money contribute much to inflation. Though the note circulation
went up from [34 million prewar to £299 million by 1918, much of
this was covered by the return of gold coins to the Bank of England.
Legal tender money (i.e. gold plus notes) increased only from (200
million in June 1914 to £383 million in July 1918.
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the alarm seems to have been unnecessary. These improvisa-
tions were the first wartime act of Lloyd George, chancellor
of the exchequer.! He had opposed entry into the war until
the last moment, and now handled the financial problems
without, as yet, committing himself further.?

The president of the board of trade was also busy. The
railways were taken over by the government, and guaran-
teed their 1913 dividends - another arrangement which
finally showed a profit.? In practice, the take-over made little
difference. A committee of railway managers ran the rail-
ways for the board of trade. The companies were not co-
ordinated; and, as late as Easter 1916, leave trains from
France were stopped for five days so as not to interfere with
holiday traffic. There was one foreshadowing of future
developments. War cut off British supplies of sugar, two-
thirds of which had come from Germany and Austria-
Hungary. On 20 August a royal commission was set up to
buy and sell sugar, and to regulate its distribution — a first
exercise in state trading which remained autonomous
throughout the war. All these arrangements were made pri-
marily for the benefit of the traders concerned - bankers
and billbrokers, railway managers and sugar refiners. Other-
wise the state stood aside. Parliament dispersed on 10
August. Men waited, aloof, for the great shock of arms.

1. David Lloyd George (1863-1945): educated Church school;
Liberal M.P., 1890-1945; chancellor of the exchequer, 1908-15; mini-
ster of munitions, 1915-16; secretary for war, 1916; prime minister,
1916—22; leader of the Liberal party, 1926-31; created Earl Lloyd-
George, 1945. A master of improvised speech and of improvised poli-
cies. Though he was dangerous to most women, he gave his heart
to few. After leaving office, he farmed ambitiously, though unprofit-
ably, and propagated the ‘Lloyd George’ raspberry. He disliked his
correct surname, ‘George’, and imposed ‘Lloyd George’ on contem-
poraries and on posterity.

2. In a shortlived anticipation of coalition, Austen Chamberlain,
former Unionist chancellor of the exchequer, presided at the treasury
board during the emergency, when Lloyd George had to be absent on
other business.

3. The government paid £95 million to the railways during the war.
Their traffic would have cost 100 million at prewar rates.
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WAR PLANS

Naval plans had long been settled by the admiralty. The
Grand Fleet was already fully-mobilized on the outbreak of
war,! and at its battle stations in the North Seca, twenty
British battleships facing thirteen German, tense for the
Armageddon which Fisher had prophesied for September
1914.2 On 3 August the cabinet authorized the mobilization
of the regular army - an expeditionary force of six infantry
divisions and a cavalry division. Mobilization began on the
afternoon of 4 August.® No decision on the use of the army
had been taken before the war. The plans which Sir Henry
Wilson, director of military operations,* had elaborated with
French staff officers carried no commitment. On the after-
noon of 5 August, Asquith, as secretary for war, held a
council of war - really an enlarged meeting of the Army
Council.® Sixteen men, ‘mostly entirely ignorant of their
subject’,® speculated in the void. They agreed that the four-

1. In March 1914 it was decided, for reasons of economy, to hold a
trial mobilization in July instead of the usua! summer manoeuvres.
On 26 July the fleet was instructed not to disperse; on 28 July it was
ordered to war-stations. Churchill, first lord of the admiralty, decreed
full mobilization on the night of 1—2 August. This was approved by
the cabinet on the following day.

2. John Arbuthnot Fisher (1841-1920): first sea lord, 19o4-10,
1914-15; created Baron, 1909; devised Dreadnought type of battleship.

3. Not on 3 August, as subsequently stated by Haldane, and, fol-
lowing him, in vol. xiv of this History.

4. Henry Hughes Wilson (1864-1922): director of military opera-
tions, 1910-14; served in France, 1914-16; Eastern command, 1917;
chief of imperial general staff, 1918-22; created baronet and voted
£10,000 by parliament, 1919; Conservative M.P., 1922; assassinated by
members of Irish Republican Army, 1922.

5. Strictly the meeting was summoned by Haldane, who was
deputizing for Asquith at the war office. There attended Asquith,
Churchill, Grey, and Haldane; the first sea lord (Prince Louis of Bat-
tenberg); the four military members of the Army Council; Sir John
French who was to command the B.E.F.; Archibald Murray, his
chief-of-staff; Haig and Grierson, his two corps commanders; Sir Ian
Hamilton; and the two senior soldiers of the Empire, Roberts, who
was over 80, and Kitchener, who had been out of England for forty
years. Haldane’s list of those to be summoned, with Hankey’s ticks
for attendance, is in the Imperial War Museum.

6. Wilson’s phrase. Callwell, Wilson’s Life and Diaries, i, 159.
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teen Territorial divisions could protect the country from
invasion. The B.E.F. was free to go abroad. Where to? Ant-
werp? Amiens? Merely to Le Havre and then ramble across
the country? Or stay at home and train a mass army? Wilson
cut in. He explained that railway time-tables, unlike horses,
could not be changed. There could be no question of helping
the Belgians, though this was why Great Britain had gone to
war. The B.E.F. had no choice: it must go to Maubeuge on
the French left,as he had long planned. Thegreat men found
no answer. They agreed: all seven divisions to Maubeuge.

On the following day the cabinet insisted that two divi-
sions must stay at home. Meanwhile, Lord Kitchener* had
reluctantly agreed to become secretary for war. His prestige
propped up the Liberal government. He became at once the
symbol of patriotic enthusiasm. In India and Egypt he
had run military affairs like an oriental despot; now he did
not change his ways. He had no expert advice — the imperial
general staff were all off to France with the expeditionary
force. Nor did he consult the civilian ministers, whom he
distrusted and despised. He ran strategy by occasional
flashes of genius. Kitchener foresaw the great German ad-
vance through Belgium. Maubeuge seemed to him too
dangerous and exposed. On his prompting, the cabinet
changed the destination of the B.E.F. to Amiens.

Kitchener soon wavered. On 12 August French staff
officers, coached by Sir Henry Wilson, tackled him. They
argued that the British forces would be useless if they tried
to act independently of the French army. The real French
motive was political, not military. They attached little value
to the British army and wished only to ensure that Great
Britain should be firmly embedded as an ally, instead of
remaining - on the later American model - an Associated
Power. Kitchener was ashamed of the smallness of the

1. Horatio Herbert Kitchener (1850-1916): conquered Sudan, 1898;
commander-in-chief in South Africa, 19oo—2; in India, 19o2—g; British
representative in Egypt, 1911-14; created Baron, 1898, Viscount, 1902,
Earl, 1914; secretary for war, 1914-16; drowned on way to Russia,
1916; promised posthumous glory after the war; received none,
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THE B.E.F. IN FRANCE

British contribution. ‘Did they consider when they went
headlong into a war like this, that they were without an
army, and without any preparation to equip one?’* He ac-
quiesced in the French prompting, on condition Asquith
agreed, as, of course, he did. Sir John French? was instructed
to go to Maubeuge. On 19 August Kitchener sent the fifth
division to France; on 1 September, when French lost his
nerve, Kitchener promised to send the sixth also. These
random, and no- doubt inescapable, decisions had lasting
consequences. The entire regular army, as it existed on the
outbreak of war, was sent to France, and it seemed obvious
from this moment that further forces should go to France
as they accumulated. Moreover, by going to Maubeuge, the
B.E.F. ceased to be an independent force; it became an
auxiliary to the French army, though as time went on an
increasingly powerful one. In previous wars, Great Britain
had followed an independent strategy, based on sea power.
In the first World war she lost this independence by acci-
dent, almost before fighting had started.

The British Expeditionary Force was, in the words of the
official history,® ‘incomparably the best trained, best organ-
ized and best equipped British army which ever went forth
to war’. It was, however, according to the same authority,
‘wholly deficient’ in materials for siege or trench warfare -
hand grenades, howitzers, entrenching tools; an unfortunate
deficiency, since siege or trench warfare was soon to be its
lot. The B.E.F. was well adapted for war on the veldt:
khaki uniforms, unique skill with the rifle. The Royal Flying
Corps, with a strength of sixty-three machines, added a
new dimension to observation.* Otherwise, modern ingenuity

1. Arthur, Kitchener, iii. 265. _

3. John Denton Pinkstone French (1852-1925); commander-in-chief,
B.E.F., 1914-15; cr. Viscount, 1916; commander-in-chief, home forces,
1916-18; lord-lieutenant of Ireland, 1918-21; cr. Earl of Ypres, 1922.

3. Military Operations: France and Belgium, 1914, i. 10.

4. On 23 August the R.F.C. observed the German move to outflank
the B.E.F. at Mons. On 3 September a British aeroplane reported
Kluck’s swerve south east towards the Marne, which exposed the
German flank to attack from Paris.
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passed the army by. Each division had only twenty-four
machine guns, or two per battalion. On the outbreak of war
the British army had a total stock of eighty motor vehicles.
Guns and supplies were drawn by horses: each infantry
division had 5,600 horses to its 18,000 men. Messages were
carried from one unit to another, or to and from head-
quarters, by officers on horseback. There were at first no field
telephones or wireless equipment — unlike the navy, where
the commander-in-chief was bedevilled by a stream of wire-
less messages from the admiralty. Such was the force which
carried British arms to the continent, and carried also to
immortality a music-hall song, I#’s a Long Way to Tipperary.

Sir John French, the commander-in-chief, was a cavalry
officer, like many British generals of the first World war:
red-faced, 62 years old, exuberant at one moment, easily
depressed the next. His instructions, drafted by Kitchener,
were ‘to support and cooperate with the French army’. But
‘your command is an entirely independent one, and you will
in no case come in any sense under the orders of any Allied
General ... greatest care must be exercised towards a mini-
mum of losses and wastage’.? On 20 August the B.E.F. com-
pleted its concentration before Maubeuge. French plunged
cheerfully into the unknown. Two days later the first shots
were fired near Mons. As the British pushed northwards
from Maubeuge, they ran, without prevision, into the Ger-
man 1st army under Kluck, which was swinging south-west
through Belgium in order to pass by and then to encircle
the French. On 23 August two British.divisions faced six
German at Mons and, by rapid rifle-fire (which the Germans
mistook for machine guns), beat them off. Mons was a small
engagement by later standards: the 1,600 casualties were
often exceeded in the Boer war. It achieved legendary im-
portance, if only because it was the one occasion when
Heavenly Powers intervened in the war. The Angels of
Mons, varying in number from two to a platoon, fought on
the British side.? French, encouraged perhaps by this assis-

1. Military Operations: France and Belgium, 1914, i, appendix viii.
2. A more prosaic version has it that Arthur Machen, writer of
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BATTLE OF MONS

tance, meant to stand on the same line the next day. During
the night, he learnt that the French sth army on his right
had ordered a general retreat and that large German forces
were advancing on his empty left. He, too, ordered the re-
treat. Three days later, the IInd Corps could march no
further. It stood against the Germans at Le Cateau on
26 August, anniversary of the battle of Crecy.! The Ger-
man pursuit was halted, though mainly because the Germans
were more eager to resume their march south-west than
to destroy the British army. After Le Cateau the B.E.F. could
continue its retreat undisturbed.

The retreat from Mons was an impressive physical per-
formance. The B.E.F. marched 200 miles in 13 days, often
with only four hours’ sleep a night. Strategically, it had

ave results. Once French had, as it were, stretched out his
hand to the French jth army on his right, he could not re-
linquish his grasp. He found himself being pulled due south
instead of south west, the direction from which he had
come. In one way this was fortunate: it pulled him out of
the path of the advancing Germans. But it also pulled him
away from his lines of supply and from Saint Nazaire on
the Atlantic coast, his ultimate point of retreat. Anxious
to preserve his army and staggered by what seemed to him
crippling losses, he determined to withdraw from the line
altogether and ‘refit’.2 The news of this decision raised
alarm when it reached the government in London. Kitchener
held a midnight conference with Asquith and such
other ministers as could be hastily assembled. He then
crossed to Paris and met French at the British embassy on

short stories, invented the Angels of Mons in 1915 during the
campaign for raising war loan.

1. The numbers engaged on the British side, and the casualties,
were almost exactly the same as at Waterloo: 30,000 and 8,000. .

2. Poor French has been universally condemned for this loss of nerve
which, if persisted in, might have forfeited victory on the Marne. On
30 August French could only see that the defeated French armies were
heading straight for encirclement, and he wished to break out in time.
Gort saved the British army in 1940 by taking much the decision
which French has been blamed for wanting to take in 1914.
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1 September. There was a stormy scene, Kitchener assum-
ing the airs of a supreme commander. French was over-
awed, though resentful. He agreed to keep his place in the
line, ‘conforming to the movements of the French army’
Kitchener wrote: ‘please consider it as an instruction.’
Thus Joffre, the French commander-in-chief, came to com-
mand the British army in practice, though not in theory.

On 5 September Joffre decided to strike back at the pur-
suing Germans. French duly conformed. With tears in his
eyes, he said to the interpreter: ‘tell him we will do all that
men can do’. In fact, the B.E.F. did little. The new order
went out too late to stop further retreat beyond the Marne on
5 September. The next day, the B.E.F. started two marches
behind the French. As it moved forward it found no Ger-
mans, but an empty hole. Kluck, commanding the German
1st army, having first swung south east to encircle the Allies,
had again swung west to hold off attack from Paris. Biilow,
commanding the German 2nd army, was pinned by the
French offensive further east. Thirty miles separated the
two armies. The B.E.F. advanced slowly into this gap - the
men tired, the officers made cautious by their previous en-
gagements with the Germans. Even so, the British cavalry
were sometimes forty miles behind the German lines. On
9 September the Germans began a general retreat, before
the B.E.F. had made effective contact with the enemy.
There were virtually no British casualties on the Marne. It
was a manoeuvre, not a battle, so far as the British were con-
cerned. Leisurely pursuit followed until 14 September. Brit-
ish staff officers speculated whether they would be on the
Rhine in three weeks or six. Then the weary Germans, un-
able to march further, stopped on the Aisne. Unwittingly,
they stumbled on the discovery which shaped the first World
war: men in trenches, with machine guns, could beat off
all but the most formidable attacks. The Allied advance
ground to a halt. On 16 September French issued his first in-
structions for trench warfare.?

1. Military Operations: France and Belgium, 1914, i. 264.
2. See Note A, p. 62.
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THE FALL OF ANTWERP

Both combatant lines hung in the air. Some 200 miles of
open country separated the German and French armies
from the sea. Each side tried to repeat the original German
strategy of turning the enemy line. This was not so much a
‘race to the sea’, its usual name, as a race to outflank the
other side before the sea was reached. Both sides failed. The
Allies seemed to have a splendid opportunity. The Channel
ports — Calais, Dunkirk, Ostend, and Zeebrugge — were avail-
able to the British. The Belgian army was still intact, far
away in the German rear at Antwerp. Nothing was made
of this. Joffre wrote the Belgians off. Kitchener refused to
send any of the eleven Territorial divisions which were now
mobilized. He hesitated over the one remaining regular divi-
sion, and sent it too late.

Churchill, first lord of the admiralty, plunged into land
warfare, regardless of protocol. He sent an ill-equipped naval
brigade to Antwerp; then on 3 October arrived himself to
inspire the Belgians. In the excitement of the firing line, he
proposed to relinquish the admiralty and take ‘formal mili-
tary charge’ of the British forces in Antwerp - a proposal
which the cabinet received with ‘ill-concealed merriment’.
This token of British assistance was too slight to stiffen
the failing Belgian resolve. Antwerp fell on 10 October. The
Belgian army withdrew down the coast, where it managed
to hold a fragment of national territory throughout the war.
The British marines were sacrificed, most of them being
interned in Holland. The affair brought Churchill much
discredit. He had operated a bold strategy with inadequate
means and thus laid a first stone in the reputation for im-
pulsive irresponsibility which was to dog him for many
years. Yet maybe the delay before Antwerp, due rather to
the Belgian defence than to Churchill and his marines, pre-
vented the Germans from winning the ‘race to the sea’.

The B.E.F. was by now no longer on the Aisne. It had
been awkwardly wedged there between two French armies.
Joffre agreed that it should move further north. It arrived
in Flanders with the intention of outflanking the Germans,
just when more powerful German forces, released by the
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fall of Antwerp, arrived in Flanders with the intention of
outflanking the Allies.* The head-on collision from 12 Octo-
ber to 11 November, though known as the first battle of
Ypres, was no battle in the old style, where movement in
the open field produced decision within a single day. It was
the first spluttering attempt at trench warfare, new forces
fed in each day on a narrow front until mutual exhaustion
followed. At first French thought he was winning in the old
way. On 22 October he wrote: ‘the enemy are vigorously
playing their last card’.? Two days later he had to report
that the B.E.F. had run through their supplies and would
soon be fighting without artillery.? He even proposed the
construction of an entrenched camp at Boulogne ‘to take the
whole Expeditionary Force’. On 31 October the Germans
broke through the British line; then, as happened so often
later, could make nothing of their opportunity — French
troops sealed the breach before German reserves could start
moving. Ypres was saved from the Germans. The British
were saddled with a sharply exposed salient and, what was
worse, with the constant temptation of a Flanders offensive,
a temptation to which they bloodily succumbed in 1917. The
first battle of Ypres marked the end of the old British army.
The B.E.F. fought the Germans to a standstill, and itself out
of existence. More than half of those who crossed to France
in August were now casualties; one in ten had been killed
(three quarters of them at Ypres). The high command and
the staff officers survived. The old army was gone past recall.

By November 1914 the almost universal expectation of a
short war had proved false. Instead of decision, there was
deadlock. In France a continuous line of trenches ran from
the Swiss frontier to the sea — a thin line by later standards
but solid enough to prevent a war of movement. On the
eastern front, too, there had been victories, but no decisions.

1. The Germans had twenty divisions at Ypres, against fourteen
Allied.

2. Military Operations: France and Belgium, 1914, ii. 520.

3. In reply, he was ‘requested to see that economy was exercised’.
ibid. 203.
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WAR AT SEA

The Russians rolled into east Prussia, only to be routed at
Tannenberg (26-29 August). They defeated the Austrians
in Galicia and were again halted by German intervention.
The front was less solid in the east than in the west: move-
ment was still possible on a great scale, but, until 1917, no
final victory. The greatest disappointment for the British
public was that there was no great battle at sea. The Ger-
man high seas fleet remained obstinately in harbour. The
directors of British naval strategy had made stupendous pre-
parations for the wrong sort of war: everything for an
immediate engagement, little or nothing for a prolonged
period of waiting. They had not foreseen the danger either
from submarines or from mines.

Three British armoured cruisers® were sunk by a single
U-boat on 22 September; the battleship Audacious was sunk
by a mine on 27 October. The admiralty were so perturbed
by the latter loss that they kept it secret until the end of
the war.? Scapa Flow, the base of the Grand Fleet, was not
secured from submarines. At the (false) alarm of an enemy
periscope, Sir John Jellicoe? led his fleet in precipitate flight,
first west of Scotland, then to the west coast of Ireland. The
British fleet did not return to Scapa Flow until well on in
1915 and then remained mostly in harbour. The North Sea
became a no-man’s sea, occasionally raided by each side.
The Germans never ventured to attack British communica-
tions with France, still less to attempt an invasion of the
British Isles. Perhaps they, too, were deterred by mines and
submarines, perhaps by Nelson’s long shadow. Their utmost
enterprise was to bombard the British coast twice. They
killed a number of people at Bridlington and West Hartle-
pool; broke the windows of boarding houses at Scarbor-

1. Aboukir, Hogue, and Cressy.

2. The loss was generally known long before. Liners passed the
wreck on their way to America, and an illustrated paper published a
photograph of it, entitled ‘an Audacious Picture’.

3. John Rushworth Jellicoe (1859~1935); commander-in-chief Grand
Fleet, 1914-16; first sea lord, 1916-17; governor of New Zcaland, 1920-

25; created Viscount, 1918, Earl, 1925; received grant of (50,000 from
parliament, 1919.
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ough; and damaged the ruins of Whitby Abbey. On a third
attempt, they were caught by British battlecruisers and
badly knocked about. After this, the German navy did not
come out again for a long time.

British sea power struck harder on the outer oceans. The
Germans, equally obsessed with battleships, had few
cruisers for raiding commerce. One of them, the Emden,
ravaged British shipping in the Indian Ocean. Seventy-eight
British ships hunted her. She was caught and destroyed at
Cocos Island by the Australian cruiser Sydney on g Nov-
ember. At the outbreak of war a German squadron under
Admiral von Spee was in Chinese waters. It crossed the
Pacific and on 3 November destroyed a weaker British force
under Sir Christopher Cradock off Coronel in Chile. Chur-
chill and Lord Fisher, restored as first sea lord when anti-
German prejudice drove Prince Louis of Battenberg from
office, at once sent two battlecruisers under Sturdee! to the
South Atlantic. On 8 December von Spee was tempted to
destroy the British wireless station on the Falkland Islands,
where, unknown to him, Sturdee happened to be coaling. It
was now the turn of the Germans to be outgunned. Four out
of their five ships were sunk. The fifth escaped and was sunk
in the following March. In both engagements, the stronger
force annihilated its opponent virtually without loss.2 Danger
from surface raiders was virtually ended. Britannia ruled the
waves. Supplies poured into Great Britain from all the world.
The British drew an invisible noose of distant blockade
around Germany. German ships were arrested. Neutral ships
were brought into British ports, and their cargoes checked.
Later, British consuls in far-away countries issued neutrals
with a clean bill, if they conformed to the rules. All this

1. Frederick Charles Doveton Sturdee (1859-1925): admiral of the
fieet; chief of war staff, admiralty, 1914; commander-in-chief, South
Atlantic and South Pacific, 1914; commanded fourth battle squadron,
1915-18; commander-in-chief, Nore, 1918-21; created Baronet, 1916;
received thanks of parliament and £10,000, 1919.

2. At Coronel von Spee sank two British cruisers; two German
sailors were wounded. At the Falkland Islands, Sturdee sank four
German cruisers. There were thirty British casualties.
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ASQUITH AT A LOSS

was in ﬂagrélnt contradiction with the Declaration of
London, which the British government had accepted in
1909 and the house of lords had.then thrown out. The Brit-
ish blockade caused much difficulty with the United States.
It was to prove, nevertheless, a potent weapon of victory.

What was to happen now that the illusion of a quick vic-
tory had been dispelled? This riddle was posed to the rulers
of the British Empire. They were not equipped to answer
it. The Liberal cabinet was a government of departments.
Churchill ran the naval war, Kitchener the war on land;
Grey looked after what remained of foreign policy. The
cabinet stood aside. Asquith, the prime minister, was a
strong character, unshakable as a rock and, like a rock, in-
capable of movement. His initiative, if he ever had any,
was sapped by years of good liying in high society.! He
claimed rightly that he and Grey were the two men most re-
sponsible for bringing Great Britain into the war. With this,
he supposed, his task was exhausted. Statesmen, in his view,
should keep out of the way, while free enterprise provided
the arms with which generals won the battles. Most of the
cabinet ministers were Free Traders, hostile to government
initiative. Runciman, president of the board of trade,? told
the house of commons: ‘No government action could over-
come economic laws and any interference with those laws
must end in disaster.’

The situation in the house of commons reinforced the
government’s unwillingness to act. Since the general elec-

1. Asquith was the first prime minister since the younger Pitt who
is said to have been manifestly the worse for drink when on the
Treasury Bench. George Robey was uncomfortably near the truth
when he sang:

Mr. Asquith says in a manner sweet and calm:
Another little drink won’t do us any harm.

2. Walter Runciman (1870-1949): educated S. Shields H.S. and Cam-
bridge; son of a shipowner; Liberal M.P., 1899-1900, 1902-18, 1924~
31; National Liberal 1931-7; succeeded his father as Baron and
created Viscount, 1937; president of board of trade, 1914-16, 1931~
7; lord president of the council, 1938—9; mission to Czechoslovakia,

1938.
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tion of December 1910, the two main parties - Liberal and
Unionist — almost balanced.! Asquith had a stable and sub-
stantial majority with the eighty Irish and forty Labour
men. He assumed that their tame acquiescence would con-
tinue, apart, of course, from the half-dozen Labour men
who actually opposed the war. It did not occur to him that
their support would now have to be earned. Bonar Law, the
Unionist ieader,? had no wish to detach them; it was iIn-
conceivable that he could head a Unionist government,?
sustained by Irish Nationalist votes. Though ‘meekly am-
bitious’, in Asquith’s phrase, Law always bided his time, and
this made him the most formidable giant-killer of the
century. Balfour, Asquith, and Lloyd George all fell beneath
his reluctant axe. At the moment, Law wanted to keep the
Liberals tied to the war. He believed, perhaps correctly, that
the Unionists could conquer power and even win a general
election if they forced the patriotic note. The price would
be too high; the Liberals might then turn against the war
which they had so tardily supported. National unity would
be shattered.

Even so, this unity was not easy to maintain. It was threat-
ened almost immediately when parliament resumed (from
2§ to 31 August and again from 9 to 17 September), in order
to complete business left unfinished on the outbreak of war.

1. At the general election they exactly balanced: 272 members
each. Since then the Conservatives had gain 15 seats from the Liberals
and 2 from Labour. The Liberals had gained 1 from the Conservatives
and 2 from Labour. Thus, in August 1914 the totals were 260 Liberals
and 288 Conservatives.

2. Andrew Bonar Law (1858-1923): educated Canada and Glasgow;
b. in New Brunswick; an iron-merchant in Glasgow; leader of Union-
ist party, 1911-21, 1922~3; colonial secretary, 1915~16; chancellor of
the exchequer and member of war cabinet, 1916-19; lord privy seal,
1919-21; Conservative prime minister, 1922—3. His ashes were interred
in Westminster Abbey. Asquith said: ‘It is fitting that we should have
buried the Unknown Prime Minister by the side of the Unknown
Soldier.’

3. The Conservatives had adopted the name Unionist, in order to
embrace the Liberal Unionists who broke with Gladstone over Home
Rule. The name ccased to have much relevance after the creation of
the Irish Free State, and the older name came back into common use.

42




HOME RULE ACT

Welsh Disestablishment and Irish Home Rule, having passed
three times through the house of commons, were ripe to be-
come law under the provisions of the Parliament Act. Both
were placed on the statute book, together with acts suspend-
ing their operation until six months after the end of the
war. Welsh Disestablishment created little stir, except
among Welsh members and Lord Robert Cecil* - the Welsh
holding that they should have disestablishment at once,
Cecil that they should not have it at all.?

Home Rule was a different matter. The parties had been
locked in dispute over the exclusion of Ulster; no agreement
had been reached. The Unionists wanted exclusion of
Ulster tacked on to the original bill. Asquith at first ac-
quiesced; then, faced with a revolt of the Irish Nationalists,
insisted that Home Rule must go on the statute book un-
diluted. The Unionists were indignant at what they re-
garded as a breach of faith. On 15 September they protested
by leaving the house of commons in a body, led by Law.
Asquith described them as ‘a lot of prosa1c and for the most
part middle-aged gentlemen, trying to look like early
French revolutionists in the Tennis Court’.? The contro-
versy was mighty irrelevant in present circumstances. Home
Rule, suspended for the duration, brought no change in
Ireland: the viceroy, the chief secretary, and Dublin Castle
still ruled. The Irish question was deeply changed all the
same. When it came to be discussed again, Home Rule
would be the starting point, not the goal: the Union of
1801 had been given notice to quit. There was another
change, less noticed at the time. During the final wrangle,
Asquith gave an assurance which he had never given be-
fore: ‘employment of force, any kind of force’ for the co-

1. Robert Cecil (1864-1958): educated Eton and Oxford; third
son of third marquis of Salisbury; minister of blockade, 1916-18; lord
privy seal, 1923; created Viscount, 1923; chancellor of the duchy of
Lancaster, 1924-7; High Churchman and Free Trader; after the war,
became an enthusiast for the League of Nations.

2. Welsh Disestablishment duly came into force after the war,
much to the benefit of the disestablished Church.

3. Asquith, Memories and Reflections, ii. 33.
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ercion of Ulster was ‘unthinkable’, ‘a thing we could never
countenance or consent to’. Thus, the unity of Ireland, too,
was implicitly ended.

The row left deep marks. Unionists refused to appear
with Liberal speakers on patriotic platforms. There was
much more dividing them under the surface. The Unionists,
by and large, regarded Germany as a dangerous rival and
rejoiced at the chance to destroy her. They meant to fight
a hard-headed war by ruthless methods; they condemned
Liberal ‘softness’ before the war and now. The Liberals
insisted on remaining high-minded. Many of them had
come to support the war only when the Germans invaded
Belgium; even the less Radical among them were relieved
to escape from a ‘realist’ position. Entering the war for
idealistic motives, the Liberals wished to fight it by noble
means and found it harder to abandon their principles than
to endure defeat in the field. In particular, the Liberals were
determined to maintain the system of Free Trade which
they had successfully defended before the war. Many
Unionists hoped that the war would kill Free Trade along
with other Liberal illusions. There would have been raging
conflict between the parties if these differences had been
brought into the open. Asquith and Law combined to keep
them under cover. Throughout the remaining life of the
Liberal government, that is, until May 1915, the house of
commons did not once discuss the war.

There were other reasons for this silence. Surprise was
supposed to be a vital ingredient of war, and the Great War
produced an excessive enthusiasm for secrecy, or ‘security’
as it came to be called. Military grounds perhaps justified
this at first. The B.E.F. took the Germans unawares at
Mons, and apprehension that the British might land at the
Channel ports in their rear, though this never happened,
embarrassed them still more. Soon, security operated more
against the British public than against the enemy. The
authorities, military and civil, had no idea how to win the
war and therefore maintained silence until, by some miracle
as yet unforeseen, the war should be won. No war corres-
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CENSORSHIP

pondents followed the army to France.! In May 1915 six cor-
respondents were invited to headquarters ‘for a limited
period’; they remained in this temporary, and somewhat
privileged, position throughout the war. A press bureau dis-
tributed statements from G.H.Q. and from government
departments; it advised, on request, about the publication
of other news. The war office, relying on the Defence of
the Realm Act,? censored all cables and foreign correspon-
dence - a censorship which was avowed only in April 1916.
Any newspaper publishing unauthorized news, or still worse
speculating about future strategy, ran the risk of a prosecu-
tion under D.O.R.A., and most newspapers walked warily.
Reports of parliamentary proceedings were not censored.
In practice, indiscreet questions were rejected by the
Speaker, on the private instruction of some government de-
partment, and members were struck dumb by their own
freedom. Curiously, the Lords were more outspoken than
the Commons. In November 1915 Lord Milner® brazenly
referred to the coming evacuation from Gallipoli - a defiance
which the bewildered Germans wrote off as deception. The
one leakage in the house of commons was trivial. On 27 Jan-
uary 1916 a junior minister revealed that museums were
being used to house government departments and were thus
a legitimate object for attacks from the air.* Enemy infor-
mation about conditions in England hardly existed. The
public were still more in the dark.

The English people could not be ignored so easily. War

1. The prospective correspondents were instructed to provide them-
lselves with horses. These were taken over by the war office six weeks
ater.

2. First enacted August 1914, and repeatedly strengthened there-
after. ‘Dora’, an elderly lady, became the symbol of restriction.

3. Alfred Milner (1854-1925): educated Germany, London, and Ox-
ford; created Viscount, 1902; member of war cabinet, 1916-18; secre-
tary for war, 1918; for colonies, 1919-21; admired by ‘the Milner
kindergarten’ of young men who had worked under him in South
Africa after the Boer war.

4. An attempt to take over the British Museum was defeated by Sir

Frederic Kenyon, the Director. He suggested instead the Bethlehem
Hospital, ‘commonly known as Bedlam’.
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produced a great surge of patriotic enthusiasm; all lesser
passions were laid aside. H. G. Wells expressed this in his
Mr Britling, who discarded his mistress in order to make
plans for a better world. Mr Britling was typical, too, in
his restless bicycling to the nearest village in quest of news.
He found little. Instead rumour flourished. The Angels of
Mons were one such rumour, universally believed. Even
more famous were the Russian troops - ‘little short of a
million’, according to a Times reporter' - who landed at
Aberdeen early in September 1914 and passed through
England on their way to the western front. Nearly everyone
knew someone who had seen them, though the snow on their
boots, which gave the last touch of authenticity, was pro-
bably a later, light-hearted gloss.

With rumour came hysteria. Harmless old men, who had
forgotten to take out naturalization papers during their forty
years in England, found their sons in the army and them-
selves interned in the Isle of Man. Shops of bakers with
German-sounding names were sacked. Hard tennis courts?
were suspect as gun emplacements, prepared for the invad-
ing German army. Flickering lights, particularly near the
coast, were denounced as signals to the enemy. The arrival
of some hundred thousand Belgian refugees increased the
hysteria. They brought stories of German atrocities — some
true, most of them inflated by the heat of war: the vio-
lated nuns and the babies with their hands cut off were never
found.? The Belgians were given at first an emotional wel-
come. Lord Curzon* entertained the king and queen at his

1. Macdonagh, In London during the World War, 21. The story
was denied by the Press Bureau on 15 September,

2. Tennis courts were replacing the billiards room at the homes of
richer people — a victory somehow for morality and perhaps for
equality of the sexes. (Few women played billiards; many played
tennis.)

3. In the first World war nearly everyone believed the stories of
German atrocities, though relatively few were true. In the second
World war nearly everyone refused to believe the stories, though they
were true, and German crimes the most atrocious ever committed by
a civilized nation.

4. George Nathaniel Curzon (1859-1925): educated Eton and Ox-
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BELGIAN REFUGEES

country house; Lord Lonsdale provided for their horses as
‘a further contribution to the national cause’. This sympathy
did not last. Most of the refugees were ordinary working-
class people, aggrieved at having been driven from their
homes and resentful that Great Britain had not defended
the neutrality of Belgium more adequately. Their competi-
tion was feared on the labour market.! Before the war
ended, the Belgians were far from popular.

The war was in fact coming home to people’s lives despite
the silence in high places. Kitchener, the least public-
minded of ministers, was responsible for this. He startled
his colleagues at the first cabinet meeting which he atten-
dcd by announcing that the war would last three years, not
three months, and that Great Britain would have to put an
army of millions into the field.?2 Regarding the Territorial
ariny (which he mistook for the French ‘territoriaux’ of
1870) with undeserved contempt, he proposed to raise a
New Army of seventy divisions® and, when Asquith ruled

ford; viceroy of India, 1898-1905; created Earl 1911, Marquis 1921;
lord privy seal, 1915~16; lord president of the council and member of
war cabinet, 1916—-19; foreign secretary, 1919—24; lord president, 1924~
5. At time of armistice, hoped that there would be ‘no be-ano’. Seeing
soldiers bathing, was surprised that the lower classes had such white
skins, Many of the best stories against Curzon were made up by
Curzon himself.

1. The Local Government Board handled, in all, 119,000 Belgian
refugees. As well, ‘better-class refugees’ were dealt with by a com-
mittee which Lady Lugard had originally organized to receive women
and children fleeing from the expected civil war in Ulster. Later, a
munitions area was created at Birtley, Durham, where Belgian police-
men, Belgian law, and even Belgian beer created the illusion of a
Belgian town.

2. Kitchener expected the French army to be defeated in the field.
He did not foresee trench warfare and, when it came, said: ‘I don’t
know what is to be done; this isn’t war.’

3. This was a rule-of-thumb figure. On the German analogy, the
British, allowing for the difference in population, should have raised
105 divisions. Kitchener arbitrarily knocked off a third for the needs
of the navy, the merchant service, and industry. The answer was
70. Thus, Great Britain’s military effort was determined by a crude
calculation of available manpower, not by considering strategical
requirements.
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out compulsion as politically impossible, agreed to do so
by voluntary recruiting. Soon Kitchener’s finger pointed
balcfully from every hoarding: ‘Your Country needs YOU.’
Rupert Brooke gave the almost unanimous answer: ‘Now
God be thanked who has matched us with His hour.” Kit-
chener asked for an initial one hundred thousand - 175,000
men volunteered in the single week ending 5 September;
750,000 had enlisted by the end of September. Thereafter
the average ran at 125,000 men a month until June 1913
when it slackened off. In all over two and a half million
men enlisted® before voluntary recruitment came to an end
in March 1916.

The achievement was staggering; the method clumsy.
After the first flood of volunteers, enthusiasm had to be kept
constantly astir. Supposedly eligible young men were pre-
sented with white feathers. Recruiting meetings built up an
exaggerated hatred of the Germans and equally exagger-
ated hopes of the better world which would follow victory.
On these platforms staid politicians, with their old-time style
were eclipsed by demagogues. Horatio Bottomley, in par-
ticular, rose to new fame: an undischarged bankrupt at the
beginning of the war, acknowledged tribune of the people
at the end.? Sane thinking about how to run the war, or
why it was being fought, was difficult in these conditions.
Moreover, enthusiasm brought in more recruits than the
existing military machine could handle. There were not
enough barracks, often not even rifles for them. Recruits
spent the winter months in tents and trained with sticks.

1. One and three quarter million in the regular army; three quarters
of a million in the Territorials. As well 329,000 volunteered for the
navy and, later, about 60,000 for the air force. N. B. Dearle, Labour
Cost of the Great War, 8.

2. Horatio Bottomley (1860-1933): editor of John Bull; independent
M.P., 1918—22; convicted of fraudulent conversion, 1922; died a
pauper. At recruiting meetings, the strength of his peroration was
determined by the size of the ‘take’, and he took, in all, £78,000. He
used to recite a poem with the line: ‘This is more than a war, mate —
it’s a call to the human race.” Bottomley murmured the words with a
more personal meaning as he slapped the (5 notes into his pocket at
the end of the meeting.
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There were few qualified men to train them. Kitchener
formed the remaining regular troops into divisions and sent
them to France, instead of using them to shape the New
Army.? The young enthusiasts were handled by elderly
officers and sergeant-majors, who had completed their ser-
vice before the death of Queen Victoria. It was the begin-
ning of disenchantment.

Kitchener’s authority had another unfortunate result. At
the beginning of the war there were two private armies in
Ireland: the Ulster Volunteers, who had been formed to
resist Home Rule, and the Irish Volunteers, who had been
formed to defend it. Both were now anxious to be embodied
in the British army. Kitchener, who had been born and
partly brought up in Ireland though not an Irishman,
shared the outlook of the Protestant garrison. He accepted
the Ulster organization; he rejected the Home Rulers. The
Red Hand of Ulster was acknowledged; the Irish Harp was
not. Recruits from Ulster had their own officers; those from
the south of Ireland were placed under Protestants. Red-
mond, the Irish leader, had believed that Ireland would
win her freedom by fighting for the freedom of Belgium
and other small nations. Thanks to Kitchener, the surge of
Irish loyalty was dissipated. A minority of the Irish Volun-
teers, under John MacNeill, swung round to an anti-British
attitude; many of the rest slipped into sullen indifference.

Nevertheless, the New Army was Kitchener’s triumph:
the greatest volunteer force ever raised in any country. His
prestige brought in recruits, and the recruits added to his
prestige. He was England’s Hindenburg, like him a wooden
titan. As virtual war dictator, Kitchener was responsible also
for supply? and for strategy. These proved his undoing. The
war office was equipped only to supply a small army. At the
outbreak of war there were twenty clerks in the Army Con-

1. ‘Of the many mistakes made in the war, ... probably the most
expensive.” Military Operations: France and Belgium, 1913, ii. viii.

2. The admiralty always kept supply for the navy in its own hands
and enforced the doctrine of ‘absolute priority’ for naval needs. Even
in 1918 it was taking men from working on merchant ships and tanks
to build battleships which were never used.
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tracts department. Kitchener clung to the cheese-paring
economy with which he had once run the campaign in the
Sudan. He neglected the finance for expansion which Lloyd
George offered him. A Shells committee of the cabinet,
which sat between 1 October 1914 and 1 January 1915, failed
to move him. The war office refused to extend its list of au-
thorized firms and deluged these firms with orders which
they could not fulfil. It insisted that only experienced firms
knew how to produce munitions of satisfactory quality, and
this was confirmed when the first shells, ordered from a
wider list by the ministry of munitions, brought the word
‘dud’ into common use. Nevertheless, whatever the excuse,
there was a shortage of shells. The blame fell on the war
office and so on Kitchener.

Strategy was his greatest failure, though no one in the first
World war did any better. Kitchener insisted on determin-
ing strategy all alone; he was at a loss what to determine.
The British army was in France and was being steadily re-
inforced. Joffre had a single aim, to which he insisted the
British ought to conform: liberation of the national terri-
tory. Kitchener had no faith in this strategy. The German
lines, he believed, had become ‘a fortress which cannot be
taken by assault’. On the other hand, he ‘anticipated a call’
to become Supreme Allied Commander some day when
the British armies reached full strength, and therefore felt
that he must defer to the French now in the hope that
they would defer to him later. Hence he became more than
usually incoherent when the cabinet looked to him for
strategical advice. Civilian ministers were provoked into
devising strategy themselves — some of them not at all re-
luctantly. The key thought for these amateur strategists,
Churchill and Lloyd George in particular, was sea power.
Surely, they argued, this gigantic power could somehow be
used to turn the German flank without the sacrifice of mil-
lions of men. They wanted a dodge in a double scnse: a
clever trick which would evade the deadlock of the western
front. They sought a field of action where the Germans
could not get at them, and forgot that then they would not
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THE DARDANELLES

be able to get at the Germans.If this field of action were out-
side Europe, so much the better: it would bring territorial
gains for the British empire.

In November 1914 the cabinet acknowledged that its
expectation of a short war had proved false. The com-
mittee of imperial defence, which had hitherto been res-
tricted to organizing the conquest of the German colonijes,?
was transformed into a war council. Rival projects were
aired. Lloyd George favoured an expedition to Salonika or
the Dalmatian coast. Hankey, secretary of the council, sug-
gested an attack on Turkey, who had entered the war
against the Allies in October. This idea attracted Kitch-
ener, with his long service in the East. He favoured it still
more when an urgent appeal for help against the Turks
reached him from Grand Duke Nicholas, Russian com-
mander-in-chief, at the end of the year. Churchill and
Fisher (the first sea lord) both wanted some great ‘am-
phibious’ operation, though Fisher pointed to Sleswig and
Churchill to the Dardanelles. All these schemes were de-
bated without staff advice or consideration of detailed
maps. There was no inquiry whether shipping was available,
nor whether there were troops to spare — Kitchener inef-
fectually observing that there were none. The war council
cheerfully assumed that great armadas could waft non-
existent armies to the end of the earth in the twinkling of
an eye.

The man of most persistence won. Churchill pressed for
the Dardanelles. Fisher believed that he ought not to oppose

1. The ‘casterners’, as they were called, were misled by the analogy
of Wellington’s campaign in Spain. They overlooked (a) that it
involved a very large army by the standards of the time; (b) that it
made only a marginal contribution to the defeat of Napoleon’s
Grand Army.

2. Togoland was occupied in August. The New Zealanders took
Samoa (August), the Australians New Guinea (September), the South
Africans South-west Africa (December). The Cameroons were con-
quered in 1917; German East Africa not until the end of 1917 (at a
cost of [75 million). Von Lettow, the German commander there, re-

treated into Portuguese East Africa and did not surrender until after
the armistice.
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his political chief at the war council.* Also he agreed with
Kitchener’s judgement that 150,000 men would be needed
to take the Dardanelles, and therefore expected the army
to be drawn in after all. Kitchener was won over by an
opinion, extracted with some difficulty from the British
admiral in the Mediterranean, that the navy eould force
the Dardanelles alone. Sir John French hurried over to as-
sert the unique importance of the western front. The
bewildered war council grasped at an apparent way out: a
naval attack at the Dardanelles which would break the dead-
lock of trench warfare without diverting troops from
France. On 13 January 1915 the war council unanimously re-
solved that the Admiralty ‘should prepare for a naval
expedition to bombard and take the Gallipoli Peninsula,
with Constantinople as its objective’. On 28 January the
naval plan was approved by the war council, after Fisher
(who was technically responsible for it) had been persuaded
not to protest against it by Kitchener (who had technically
nothing to do with it).

As the great ships massed in the eastern Mediterranean,
Kitchener had second thoughts. If the naval action suc-
ceeded, troops would be needed to occupy the Peninsula; if
it failed, they would be needed to restore British prestige in
the East. Somehow, he hoped to trickle forces to the Dar-
danelles without Joffre or French noticing that they had
gone. On 16 February he agreed that the 29th division, com-
posed of regulars from India, could be sent to the eastern
Mediterranean.? On 20 February he refused to release it. On
24 February he told the war council: ‘if the Fleet cannot get
through the Straits unaided, the Army will have to see the

1. This constitutional rectitude had not prevented his briefing the
Unionist editor, Garvin, against the naval plans of the Liberal govern-
ment in 1909, nor was it long to prevent his briefing Law against
Churchill.

2. To cajole the French, Kitchener suggested that the division might
go to Salonika, the one ‘side show’ which they favoured. Lloyd
George, who also favoured Salonika, was the only member of the war
council to argue that troops should not be sent to the Dardanelles
if the naval attack failed.
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business through’. On 10 March he finally decided that the
29th division should go. Two days later he sent for his
favourite general, Sir Ian Hamilton,* and said to him: ‘We
are sending a military force to support the Fleet now at the
Dardanelles, and you are to have command.” Hamilton re-
ceived one inaccurate map, no information about the
Turkish army and little about the fortifications of the Dar-
danelles, no firm guidance as to the forces which he could
expect. He left without a staff, Kitchener saying to him: ‘If
the Fleet gets through, Constantinople will fall of its own
accord, and you will have won not a battle, but the war.’?

The bottom soon fell out of these hopes. On 18 March the
British fleet and some French ships entered the Straits.
The waters, it was supposed, had been swept clear of mines.
The Turkish forts were bombarded. It is now known that
their ammunition was exhausted by the end of the day and
that no more was available. One line-of mines had been
missed: it had been laid parallel to the Asiatic shore, not
across the Straits. On the way back the fleet ran into it
Two British battleships and a French ship were sunk; one
British ship and one French ship were severely damaged.
The ships were old and due for scrap. All the same Sir
]ohn de Robeck,® the admiral in command, was dismayed

. Ian Standish Monteith Hamilton (1853-1947): chief of staff to
Kltchener in South Africa; defended voluntary system of recruitment
against Roberts, 1910; commanded Central Force for home defence,
1914; commanded at Gallipoli, 1915; after this, not employed again;
wrote agreeable volumes of reminiscences.

2. It is a mystery why most people, then and since, assumed that the
fall of Constantinople would lead to the defeat of Germany. The only
immediate gain would be to open a line of supply to Russia, and this
gain was purely theoretical since neither Great Britain nor France
had, at this time, supplies to send. Turkey might have been knocked
out of the war, but this would have lessened the burden on Germany.
An army would have had no light task to march from Constantinople
to Central Europe and, in any case, there was no army to spare. Later,
the Allies sent large forces to Salonika, a better port, without achieving

any result until the end of the war, when the German army was
already defeated.

3. John Michael de Robeck (1862-1928): commanded naval forces at
the Dardanelles, 1915-16; commanded second battle squadron, 1916~
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at their loss. On 22 March he held a first conference with
Hamilton. According to Hamilton, de Robeck said:
‘he was now clear that he could not get through without the
help of all my troops’. According to de Robeck, Hamil-
ton took the initiative in offering to clear the Straits with
the army. At any rate, the naval attack was called off and
never renewed. Hamilton discovered that the transports
had been sent out in such confusion that no immediate
action was possible. He decided to take his army back to
Alexandria and to organize it there for a landing in about
three weeks’ time. During these three weeks, which grew into
a month, the Turks increased their forces at Gallipoli from
two divisions to six — one more than Hamilton commanded.

Thus, when the campaigning season of 1915 opened, Great
Britain was committed to offensive action in France which
would absorb more than all her available resources, and to
an improvised offensive in Gallipoli. Military failure fol-
lowed. On 25 April British and Australian troops attacked
at Gallipoli. They had no landing craft and were not trained
for the difficult operation of landing on a hostile coast. They
got safely ashore only by landing at the extreme end of
the peninsula, where their presence could do the Turks little
harm. Their generals lacked drive, and Hamilton failed to
provide it. He was too polite to be a successful commander.
He drifted helplessly up and down the coast on a warship,
refusing to interfere with his subordinates. The Turks re-
covered from their surprise and pinned Hamilton’s men
to the shore. Instead of a war of movement, a new line of
trenches was drawn on the Peninsula, more intractable
than that on the western front.

In France Sir John French staged an assault, indepen-
dently of the French, known as the battle of Neuve Chap-
elle (10-13 March). This attack pierced the German line; the
Germans closed the gap before reserves could arrive. The
Germans, on their side, first used gas in an attack on the

19; commander-in-chief of Mediterranean fleet, 1919-22; of Atlantic
fleet, 1922—4; received thanks of parliament, grant of (10,000, and
baronetcy, 1919.
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Ypres salient - the ‘second battle’ of Ypres (22 April-25
May); this, too, miscarried after heavy British losses. Hence-
forth soldiers had to add gas-masks to their other bur-
dens. Finally, there was an assault, in cooperation with the
French, known variously as the battle of Festubert or of
Aubers ridge (9-25 May). All three engagements demon-
strated the futility of narrow attacks against a fortified line.
French cloaked his failure by complaining about the short-
age of shells. These complaints reached the ear of North-
cliffe,’ greatest of the press lords. He resolved to launch an
outcry against the ‘shells scandal’, which would drive
Kitchener, and maybe the Liberal government, from office.

The press reached perhaps it highest point of influence
during the first World war. Radio was in the future. News-
papers were the only source of news, and their circulation
rose still more when the casualty lists began to appear. With
the politicians almost silent, the newspapers provided
opinions as well. Lloyd George said in 1916: “The Press has
performed the function which should have been performed
by Parliament, and which the French Parliament has per-
formed.”> Great editors, thundering out their convictions,
were by no means new. Delane of The Times had been their
finest example long before. Such editors were now in pro-
fusion - Scott of the Manchester Guardian, Garvin of the
Observer, Massingham of the (weckly) Nation: men placed
in authority by the proprietor® and expressing in their own
terms, policy in the widest sense. Though they were all
individuals with pronounced character, they were associ-
ated with some broad political circle, Liberal, Unionist, or
Radical. Northcliffe was different: hence the hostility which

1. Alfred Harmsworth (1865-1922): created Baron Northcliffe, 1905,
Viscount, 1917; head of British mission to the United States, 1917;
director of enemy propaganda, 1918; founder of modern journalism;
created and inspired the Daily Mail; owned The Times which he
transformed from a derelict property into a profitable undertaking.

2. Riddell, War Diary, 151.

3. In the discussions of the freedom of the press, it is often over-
looked that the political character of a paper was determined, in
every case, by its proprietor. Scott was unique in being, after 1903,
owner as well as editor.
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he provoked. He was proprietor of the Daily Mail, the daily
newspaper with the largest circulation, and of The Times,
which claimed to be, in a particular way, the national
voice. He was also, or at any rate regarded himself as being,
‘Chief Editor’. He determined policy; the editors were his
instruments. Unlike other editors, he did not express the
opinions of a party or political group. He was, in Beaver-
brook’s words, ‘the greatest figure who ever strode down
Fleet Street’,' and he expected men to follow his lead
merely because he was the great Northcliffe. This was his
mistake. Editors succeeded by voicing or by stimulating
opinions, not by dictating them. Though men bought
Northcliffe’s papers for their news, they were no more im-
pressed by his political sense than by that of any other
successful businessman. They did not obey his orders. Men
did not wear the Daily Mail hat; they did not eat the Daily
Mail loaf. Nor did they accept the Daily Mail ‘Chief’. North-
cliffe could destroy when he used the news properly. He
could not step into the vacant place. He aspired to power
instead of influence, and as a result forfeited both.
Northcliffe was not alone in planning a political offen-
sive. The Unionist backbenchers resented the siience to
which Law had committed them. They, too, wished to force
a discussion of the shells scandal, though their target was
the Liberal Free Trade ministers, not Kitchener. The Lib-
eral auxiliaries were also preparing to desert. The Irish
Nationalists had no reason to support Asquith once Home
Rule was laid aside, and much reason to attack Kitchener
after his contemptuous handling of the Irish Volunteers.
Labour was moving towards independence. The Labour
party had opposed the war till the last moment. On 5 August
it swung round. Ramsay MacDonald? resigned as leader of
the parliamentary party. Arthur Henderson® took his place.

1. Beaverbrook, Politicians and the War, i. 93.

2. James Ramsay MacDonald (1866-1937): leader of Labour party,
1911-14, 1922-31; prime minister and foreign secretary, 1924; prime
minister of Labour government, 1929-31; of National government,
1931-5; lord president of the council, 1935-7; died at sea.

3. Arthur Henderson (1863-1935): president of board of education,
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LABOUR AND THE WAR

On 24 August the trade unions declared an industrial truce
for the duration of the war. Labour leaders spoke on recruit-
ing platforms: they pressed for an energetic conduct of the
war. They dreaded industrial conscription; this is why they
had opposed war earlier. To avert this the unions had to
. abandon their traditional attitude of leaving decisions to
the bosses; they had to become partners, if only junior
partners, in the conduct of affairs.

The hand of cooperation which they held out was grasped
from within the government by Lloyd George. He had al-
ready established himself as ‘the man of the people’ - pro-
duct of an elementary school, pioneer of social welfare. He
cared nothing for the conventional rules — neither the rules
of personal behaviour nor those economic rules of free enter-
prise to which his Liberal colleagues attached so much
importance. Lloyd George lived in the moment, a master of
improvisation. He had few friends in political circles. He
followed opinion, and sometimes shaped it, by his intimate
contact with editors and proprietors of newspapers.* Before
the war he was the chief industrial conciliator of the govern-
ment. Then he had been the complement to Asquith, not
his rival; the two worked together and ran in harmony. On
19 September 1914 the situation changed. Lloyd George
spoke publicly in all-out support for the war. From that
moment, he challenged Asquith. He might declare that he
would dig potatoes if Asquith ceased to be prime minister.
Unconsciously, perhaps even unwillingly, he was offering
himself as the man who could run the war better. In his
own sphere as chancellor of the exchequer, Lloyd George
contributed little. His first war budget of November 1914,

1915-16; member of war cabinet, 1916-17; home secretary, 1924; for-
eign secretary, 1929—31; president of world disarmament conference,
1932-5; known in the Labour movement as ‘Uncle Arthur’.

1. Lloyd George numbered among his close friends and advisers
Scott, editor of the Manchester Guardian; Riddell, chairman of the
News of the World; Dalziel, owner of Reynolds’ News; and Robertson
Nicholl, editor of the British Weekly, the most influential noncon-
formist organ. Robert Donald, editor of the Daily Chronicle, was an-
other devoted supporter, at any rate until 1918.
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which doubled the income tax,! merely added £1 million a
week to the revenue when expenditure had already in-
creased by £1 million a day and was going steadily up. His
second war budget of May 1915 added no new taxes at all.
Lloyd George was no longer interested in balanced budgets,
if he ever had been. He was intent only on unlimited supply.

His opportunity soon came. The most urgent problem in
the munitions factories was ‘dilution’. Unskilled workers
and women had to be brought in if the engineering shops
were to expand. The skilled workers refused to relax their
traditional standards. The government had some compul-
sory powers under D.O.R.A. and could no doubt get more.
The price would be the renewal of industrial strife. The
union leaders took a decisive initiative: they would accept
‘dilution’ if it were carried through voluntarily and under
their direction. Lloyd George responded. He met the union
leaders at the treasury from 17 to 19 March; other unions,
especially the Amalgamated Society of Engineers, were
drawn in. The resulting Treasury Agreement revolution-
ized the position of trade unions: where formerly they had
opposed, they now participated. They were to accept and
to operate ‘dilution’. They received in return three promises.
Traditional practices were to be restored at the end of the
war; this promise was kept, to everyone’s surprise. Profits
were to be restricted, in exchange for the sacrifice of union
rights; this promise, too, was kept, though less effectively
than the unions expected. Finally, the unions were to share
in the direction of industry through local joint commit-
tees; this promise was not kept — the committees were used
only to organize dilution. Nevertheless, Lloyd George
was right when he called the treasury agreement ‘the great
charter for labour’. It was his great charter too: it estab-
lished his claim to be the man who could enlist ‘the people’
for the war cffort.

The net was closing round Kitchener. On 12 April Lloyd
George got a new cabinet committee on munitions, with

1. Basic rate went up from 1s. 3d. to 2s. 6d. in the pound, though
the many exceptions made this crude figure misleading.
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himself in the chair, and Kitchener excluded. In Fleet
Street, Northcliffe was preparing his -outcry against the
shells scandal. In parliament, Unionist backbenchers, Irish
nationalists, and Labour were uniting in common discon-
tent. On 13 May the Unionist Business Committee put down
a motion on the shell shortage. This was a direct attack on
the Liberal government. It cut clean across Law’s strategy:
he meant to hold the Liberals to support of the war, not to
overthrow them. With great difficulty he persuaded the re-
bellious Unionists to hold their hand. Suddenly a mine
exploded in a different quarter. The failure of 25 April
meant that more ships and more men must be sent to Galli-
poli. The war council so resolved on 14 May - its first meet-
ing since 6 April. Fisher feared for the strength of the
Grand Fleet. He could stand the drain of ships no longer.
On 15 May he resigned as first sea lord. This was a stroke
of luck for Law: a crisis which he could initiate, instead of
having it forced on him by his backbenchers. Moreover, the
outcry could be directed solely against Churchill, who was
supposedly responsible for the Dardanelles campaign. The
Unionists hated him both as a deserter from their ranks
and as the man who had planned forcible action - a
pogrom, as it was called - against Ulster.

On 17 May Law told Lloyd George that, if Fisher went
and Churchill remained, there would be an outcry in the
house of commons which he could not restrain, even if he
would. Lloyd George replied: ‘Of course we must have a
Coalition, for the alternative is impossible.” The two men
then saw Asquith. He had no belief in the administrative
capacity of the Unionists. On the other hand, here was a
fine chance to saddle them with the responsibility for ‘side-
tracking Kitchener’: they, not he, would bear the brunt of
‘the horrible Harmsworth campaign’! Coalition was made,
and the last Liberal government in British history killed,
within a quarter of an hour.2

1. Addison, Four and a Half Years, i. 79.
2. The making of the first Coalition is one of the few political
episodes in the first World war on which solid evidence is lacking. I
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Asquith’s calculations did not altogether work out. The
Unionists, instead of throwing Kitchener out, insisted:on
keeping him. However, this had the advantage in Asquith’s
eyes of closing the war office against a Unionist. Besides,
Kitchener’s powers were shorn. Northcliffe’s campaign
against the shells scandal exploded too late to affect the
Liberal government, which was already dead; but it gave
the final push to Lloyd George’s demand for an indepen-
dent ministry controlling supply. Who should head it ex-
cept Lloyd George himself? He became minister of
munitions.! This apparently exposed the exchequer to a
Unionist. Asquith was a match for this problem also:
Lloyd George’s move was announced to be temporary. Ob-
viously a Tariff Reformer could not keep the place warm
for him. McKenna,? supposedly a sound Free Trader, was
willing to oblige. Grey, of course, remained at the foreign
office. The Unionists received only the crumbs. Law, their
leader, was fobbed off with the colonial office.

Churchill was the one great casualty,® as Law had in-
tended. He was pushed aside to the duchy of Lancaster, a
setback from which he did not recover for many years.
Balfour,* Asquith’s only friend among the Unionists, took

am not sure that Lloyd George played so passive a part. Perhaps he
pushed Law forward. In any case, this was a foretaste of the future:
Law and Lloyd George dictating action to Asquith.

1. Strictly the first ‘Minister’ in British history. Previously there
had been secretaries of state, presidents of boards, etc., but no minis-
ters. The new phrase was an echo of French practice. ‘Minister without
portfolio’ (instead of with a sinecure) was another, introduced at
the same time (for Lansdowne).

2. Reginald McKenna (1863-1943): educated K.C.S. and Cambridge;
home secretary, 1911-15; chancellor of the exchequer, 1915-16;
offered the exchequer by Baldwin in 1923; failed to find a consti-
tuency and remained chairman of a bank.

3. The Unionists also insisted on excluding Haldane, the lord
chancellor, because of his alleged pro-German sympathies. His two
close friends, Grey and Asquith, made no effective protest. Asquith
perhaps meant to send a message of explanation, but, write his
biographers, ‘the moment passed and Haldane went in silence’.
Spender and Asquith, Asquith, ii. 167.

4. Arthur James Balfour (1848-1930): educated Eton and Cam-
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Churchill’s place at the admiralty. There were other ges-
tures of national unity. Arthur Henderson joined the
cabinet ostensibly in charge of education, actually the voice
of ‘Labour’. This was a portent: the industrial working
class took a share of power, however slight, for the first time.
Carson,* the former Ulster rebel, became attorney general.
Redmond, the Irish Nationalist leader, would also have
joined the government if he had been given an Irish post.
But this would have recognized his claim to lead Ireland.
He was offered an English office, and refused. Thus Red-
mond, the projected Irish Botha, remained out, just when
Botha himself was conquering new territories for the Bri-
tish empire. Otherwise national unity seemed complete. The
Opposition vanished.? A truce between the parties prevented
contests at by-elections — at any rate until the appearance
of unofficial candidates. The backbenchers on both sides
were exasperated by this coalition between their leaders - a
coalition indeed of the front benches against the back. The
Liberals saw their government spirited out of existence
without a word of explanation;?® the Unionists were deprived
of their expected victory. This was a perfect government,
if the object of politics be to silence criticism. Could it be
equally successful against the enemy?

bridge; Unionist prime minister, 1902-5; former Unionist leader (re-
signed 1911); first lord of the admiralty, 1915-16; foreign secretary,
1916-19; lord president of the council, 1919—22, 1925—9; created Earl,
1922. Clemenceau called him ‘cette vieille fille’.

1. Edward Henry Carson (1854-1935): educated Portarlington and
Dublin; uncrowned ‘king of Ulster’; attorney general, 1915; first lord
of the admiralty, 1916-17; member of war cabinet, 1917-18; created
Lord of Appeal, 1921. Dangerous in opposition, he was ineffective in
office.

2. The front Opposition bench was occupied by Henry Chaplin, as
the senior ex-cabinet minister, but he did not lead an Opposition.

3. Subsequently Asquith appeased his followers in twenty minutes
of emotional oratory at the National Liberal Club. ‘Some of the
members were moved even to tears as was the Prime Minister himself.’
Addison, Four and a Half Years, i. 8o.
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Note

NoTE A. The battle of the Marne. The German strategy, devised
by a deceased chief-of-staff, Schlieffen, aimed at turning the
flank of the French by going through Belgium, and then encirc-
ling them. Moltke, the German chief-of-staff, carried out
Schlieffen’s plan, actually providing a stronger force than
Schlieffen had postulated — fifty-five divisions instead of fifty-
three. The plan worked. The Germans got beyond the end of the
Allied line, and swung south. What were they to do as they
approached Paris? They could not sit down and besiege the
city, for this would destroy the momentum of their advance. If
their 1st and 2nd armies divided, one going west of Paris and
the other east, they could be attacked in detail by the Paris gar-
rison; if they kept together and swung east of Paris, they offered
an exposed flank to the Paris garrison. Schlieffen had foreseen
this problem and failed to solve it. Hence he concluded that his
plan was ‘an undertaking for which we are too weak’. So it
proved. Kluck’s 1st army wavered to and fro like the tentacles of
an octopus, as it approached Paris. First Kluck intended to go
west of Paris. Then he hoped to encircle the French army before
the Paris garrison noticed and so swung south-east. Finally, he
swung west again to ward off the new French 6th army, which
was threatening his flank from Paris. This created the gap into
which the B.E.F. so cautiously advanced.

Who deserved the credit for the French counter-attack — Joffre,
the commander-in-chief, or Galliéni, the commander in Paris?
The answer scems to be: both, though with conflicting strateg-
ical ideas. Joffre planned to meet the German advance head on.
Galliéni hoped to break through the German rear. In other
words, Galliéni was trying to close the neck of the sack behind
the Germans, while Joffre was actually hitting the bottom of the
sack and so driving them out of Galliéni’s trap. Joffre’s forces
were the stronger. Galliéni did not receive the reinforcements
needed to carry out his manoeuvre. The Germans were able to
hold their flank, indeed to force Galliéni back, and then to re-
treat in time. They were not defeated in battle. They retreated
because they imagined themselves to be in a dangerous strategi-
cal position, as they were by peacetime standards. The battle
of the Marne was a last manoeuvre of the prewar type, not
mutual slaughter on the first World war pattern. Hence its
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effect ran to nothing when the Germans dug trenches on the
Aisne. Did the intervention of the B.E.F. make any difference?
Not much. The Germans would have fallen back in any case
when they saw the gap between their 1st and 2nd armies.
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THE PRESSURES OF WAR
1915-16

Tue Coalition government, which Asquith annocunced on
26 May 1915, claimed to demonstrate national unity and to
promote a more efficient conduct of the war. Only appear-
ances were changed. The Liberals still cherished free enter-
prise and Free Trade; the Unionists still kicked against
them. There was little unity even within the cabinet. Mc-
Kenna soon turned against Lloyd George, for whom he was
supposed to be deputizing. Lloyd George’s impatience, he
complained, was ‘wrecking before capture’. McKenna him-
self was content with wrecking. Runciman, at the board of
trade, opposed every creative suggestion. Some Unionist
ministers, Curzon in particular, wrote off loyalty to Law,
their leader. Asquith behaved like a referee in the boxing
ring, supervising the combats of others, not as a reconciler
of differences, still less as a national leader asserting autho-
rity over his subordinates. Each minister still ran his
department in isolation and occasionally sniped at his col-
leagues. Though the national effort grew steadily, this was
imposed from outside, by the enemy and by popular pres-
sure, not by any coordinated direction. It was a last experi-
ment in running a great war on the principles of laissez faire.

Lloyd George at the ministry of munitions provided the
great exception. His year of office there transformed British
cconomy, and his own national standing also. Though he
told the workers of Clydeside: ‘Boys, I'm as keen a Socialist
as any of you’, his acts sprang from no doctrine or policy;
they were the response of genius to the challenge of events.
When Lloyd George entered the requisitioned hotel which
was to house the new ministry, he found no tables, no staff,
and too many mirrors. By the end of the war the ministry
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was employing a staff of 65,000, and had over three million
workers under its direction. The cabinet set up a committee
to control the new ministry. The committee met once and
then dispersed, never to meet again. The ordnance board
of the war office was suspended in December 1915. Lloyd
George ruled alone and provided munitions far exceeding
the demands of the war office. By 1918, though not before,
the ministry of munitions actually caught up with the
army’s appetite for shells. Haig' reported that ‘two
machine guns per battalion were more than sufficient’. Kit-
chener thought that four per battalion might be useful, and
anything more a luxury. Lloyd George said: ‘Take Kit-
chener’s figure. Square it. Multiply by two. Then double
again for good luck.” The army began the war with 1,330
machine guns. During the war 240,506 were manufactured -
thanks to Lloyd George. The war office turned down the
Stokes light mortar, one of the best weapons of the war,
Lloyd George got an Indian maharajah to finance its manu-
facture out of his own pocket. The admiralty, under Chur-
chill’s impulse, were already experimenting with armoured
tractors or ‘tanks’, though Kitchener dismissed them as ‘a
pretty mechanical toy’. The ministry of munitions took
them over and made them a practical instrument of war.
The ministry was, as Lloyd George wrote, ‘from first to
last a business man organization’. Staffed by businessmen, it
naturally handled other businessmen gently. In theory, the
government had power to requisition, based on an obscure
clause in the Army Act, and more doubtfully on the pre-
rogative.? In March 1915 two army officers demonstrated

1. Douglas Haig (1861-1928): commanded 1st Army Corps, 1914,
First Army, 1915; commander-in-chief in France, 1915-19; of Home
Forces, 1919—21; created Earl and given /100,000 by parliament, 1919;
given Bemersyde Mansion by public subscription, 1920; president of
British Legion, 1921-28.

2. In 1920 this latter power was successfully challenged in the courts
on the ground that the government could not do by prerogative any-
thing which they had power to do by statute. An Indemnity Act was
hastily passed to protect the government from the bill of £700 million
which they would otherwise have had to pay. Here, as elsewhere, men
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the efficacy of this power by requisitioning a million and a
half sandbags in Liverpool one Saturday afternoon.?
Thereafter the government could control ‘an industry by
requisitioning its raw material. The ministry of munitions
did this with steel; the war office (which still clothed and
fed the troops) with leather and later with wool. Manu-
facturers were therefore glad to accept the system of ‘cost-
ing’, which gave them the costs of production plus ‘a
reasonable profit’; a system legalized in 1916 by a clause in
D.O.R.A., though the house of commons did not realize
what it was doing. The system worked satisfactorily where
the government were dealing with a few large firms, all
roughly on the same level of efficiency, and the ministry of
munitions had some check on the costs of production in the
218 national factories which it set up. Usually, however,
costs had to be those of the least efficient firm. This was
particularly true in the munitions industry itself, where
20,000 small factories were hurriedly built or converted to
catch the {2,000 million which the ministry of munitions dis-
persed. It was a great achievement to provide for an army
of four million men within a couple of years. The price was
a crop of profiteers, men who shot up from nothing to great
fortunes (and often later down again). These men subse-
quently sustained Lloyd George, to mutual advantage.
Labour, on the other hand, was handled from outside.
No union official was employed in the ministry of muni-
tions, and Henderson had to be called in from the board of
education whenever there was a crisis. Nor was any exist-
ing government department competent to deal with labour
questions. The hand-to-mouth growth of welfare had pro-
duced a chaos of authorities. The local government board
ran the Poor Law; the home office administered the fac-
tory acts; the board of trade ran the labour exchanges
created in 1909; autonomous commissions directed National
Insurance. During the early months of the war the two ser-

were reluctant to restrain the government until the war was over, and

‘war socialism’ rested to some extent on consent.
1. They paid 2d. a sack, where the merchants were asking 6d.
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vice departments distributed ‘badges’ to their respective
munitions workers: the admiralty, always lavish, gave out
400,000, the war office only 80,000. These perhaps protected
workers from white feathers. They could not keep men
fixed at their jobs nor prevent their joining the army. By
June 1915 one fifth of the male workers in engineering had
enlisted, at a time when the army could not equip the men
it already had. The ministry of munitions extended the
system of ‘badges’ and resisted further recruitment. In July
1915 an act of parliament laid down that a munitions
worker could not be taken on by another firm within six
weceks of leaving his last job, unless he had a leaving certi-
ficate from his previous employer. This was intended to
prevent ‘poaching’. In practice, it tied the worker to his exist-
ing wage and to a bad employer. Labour hated the leaving
certificate as an instrument of industrial conscription.
Strikes and ‘go slow’ made it more trouble than it was
worth, and it was abandoned in July 1917. Henceforth a
worker could be kept in munitions only by the threat of
call-up if he left the industry.

Before the war there was no mass army, and no idea
that one would ever come into existence. Shortage of muni-
tions was therefore inevitable. Men looked, however, for
easier explanations. They blamed slackness. Of course wor-
kers, who were receiving high wages for the first time in
their lives, did not always turn up regularly. The optimism
of government statements weakened any sense of urgency.
One union leader complained: ‘We have made sufficient
progress now to have crossed the earth if what the papers
say is true.” The workers were also alleged to be spending
their money on heavy drinking. In the last days of the
Liberal government, Lloyd George proposed state purchase
of the ‘liquor traffic’, a scheme which he hoped would also
please his somewhat estranged Radical admirers. The
‘trade’ reluctantly acquiesced. The temperance advocates,
however, revolted, and the scheme was dropped. Restric-
tion took its place. Hours of drinking were cut down; iff par-

1. Hurwitz, State Intervention, 118.
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ticular, the afternoon gap (still with us) was imposed - a last-
ing memorial of the Great War. An experiment in state
ownership (recently abandoned) was tried at Carlisle, in the
neighbourhood of a large munitions centre at Gretna. Beer
was reduced in strength, and its price increased. Though
these measures halved the consumption of beer by 1918,
they were unpopular with the working classes and gave an
easy handle to demagogues like Bottomley, who combined
denunciation of liquor control with demands for a more
energetic conduct of the war. Exhortation was also tried.
George V was persuaded to take the King’s Pledge of total
abstention for the duration of the war. No one followed his
example except Kitchener - certainly not Lloyd George,
still less Asquith. The ruling class of the time continued to
consume champagne.

Improvement of working conditions did more to reduce
absenteeism. Lloyd George called in, among other business-
men, the cocoa magnate, Seebohm Rowntree, advocate of
industrial welfare. Factory canteens could be written off
against wartime taxation and now first became a general
feature of British industry. The ministry of munitions itself
promoted 867 of them. All this did little to touch the real
problem: the shortage of labour. The appeal of higher
wages helped; so, too, did the desire to avoid military ser-
vice and, to a lesser extent, the return of wounded men
from the army. The gap remained.! Women did something
to fill it. In July 1915 Christabel Pankhurst, the militant
suffragette, staged her last demonstration. Thirty thousand
women marched down Whitehall with the slogan: ‘We de-
mand the right to serve/

The demand was soon granted. Nearly 200,000 women
entered government departments. Half a million took over

1. Some 4.9 million industrial workers joined the armed forces. Set
off 650,000 for the natural increase of population, and 290,000 for the
postponement of retirement, etc. Women provided 1.6 million; Bel-
gians 60,000; 700,000 wounded men returned from the army. Dearle,
The Labour Cost of the Great War, 259, calculates the average net

loss of labour during the war as 1.6 million men or, allowing for the
inferior capacity of women, 2 million.
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the clerical work in private offices. Women acted as con-
ductors on trams and buses. A quarter of a million worked
on the land.? The greatest increase of women workers was
in the engineering shops: here almost 800,000 were re-
cruited, mostly in the first year after July 1915. Against this
there was one striking decline: domestic servants were
fewer by 400,000. Of course, not all this work survived the
war, emphatically not in the engineering trades. Much did.
The male clerk with his quill pen and copperplate hand-
writing had gone for good. The female shorthand-typist
took his place. It was a decisive moment in women’s eman-
cipation. Women became more independent and more
enterprising. The woman worker in munitions paid for her
round of drinks at the public house. Practical needs revolu-
tionized fashion. Never again did skirts sweep the ground.
The petticoat disappeared, though not for good. Women’s
hats became neater. A few women cut their hair, though the
‘bob’ and its successors were not really established until
after the war.

The arrival of women caused turmoil in the engineering
shops. Few women were in unions. None cared about
established craft practices. They cared about ‘equal pay’,
which Lloyd George had promised for piece work only, and
which the men opposed. The union officials, though pledged
to dilution by the treasury agreement, had to proceed
warily, negotiating for each craft on a geographical basis.
Against them, and against the government, the shop stew-
ards acted for all workers in the shop, whatever their
craft and whether members of a union or not. The shop
stewards -were often revolutionary socialists, particularly on
Clydeside; some of them were opposed to the war. Essen-
tially they represented a working-class interest wider than
trade union conservatism, and Lloyd George was often

1. In addition, nearly 100,000 women joined the auxiliary services of
the three armed forces, now first instituted (except for F.A.N.Y.).
Rather more than 100,000 became nurses (mostly V.A.D.); 30,000
worked in the Y.M.C.A. These figures do not include the unpaid
voluntary workers, mostly middle class, in canteens and other welfare
services.
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tempted to work with them against the established union
leaders. It was Henderson’s job, as conciliator, to keep him
in line. Women were not the only cause of industrial unrest.
Resentment against high profits counted even more. The
most militant workers were often also the most patriotic -
South Wales and Clydeside, the two centres of industrial
discontent, also provided the highest proportion in the
country of recruits for the army. But the workers were un-
willing to sacrifice their rights, or to work overtime, if this
brought increased profits to their employers, as it inevitably
did. The government dared not act effectively against the
bosses; therefore, however unwilling, they had to conciliate
the workers also.

The government had great powers on paper. In July 1915
the treasury agreement was given the force of law. Hence-
forth strikes or resistance to dilution in the munitions in-
dustry could be punished in the courts. Lloyd George would
not use this bludgeon. He appreciated instinctively that any
threat of industrial conscription would provoke working-
class resistance. He preferred conciliation. In July 1915 the
miners of South Wales struck in order to enforce the closed
shop. Runciman, at the board of trade, wished to use the
powers of the law against them. Lloyd George settled the
strike by conceding the demands of the miners behind
Runciman’s back. His intervention on Clydeside was less
successful. On Christmas Day 1915 Lloyd George, supported
by Henderson, addressed a rowdy meeting of 3,000 shop
stewards in Glasgow. His oratory miscarried. Coercion was
then attempted. The socialist paper, Forward, was sup-
pressed for publishing an accurate account of Lloyd
George’s attempt to speak. David Kirkwood, the chief shop
steward, was deported to Edinburgh.

Soon there was a return to conciliation. As time went on,
the ministry of munitions worked hand in hand with the
revolutionary shop stewards, despite growls of protest from
the union officials. In 1917 Churchill, then minister of muni-
tions, asked Kirkwood to return to Glasgow as shop steward
at Beardmore’s, the greatest works on Clydeside. Munitions
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were produced throughout the war without any direct com-
pulsion of labour, and there were no serious strikes, des-
pite the talk of labour unrest or later of ‘Bolshevik’ shop
stewards. Working days lost in strikes during the war years
averaged a quarter of those lost before the war and only a
tenth of those lost immediately after it! No doubt simple
patriotism was the main reason for this industrial peace.
Lloyd George was the only man high in government who
contributed to it, and this ability to handle labour was a
great asset for him when he entered the decisive struggle
for power in December 1916.

Lloyd George’s success at the ministry of munitions did
not stand quite alone. In September 1915 McKenna intro-
duced an effective war budget, with some attempt to pro-
mote taxes against the swelling expenditure. Since every
increase of indirect taxation increased the cost of living
(and hence labour discontent), most of McKenna’s new
money came from direct taxes. Income tax went up to 3s.
6d. in the pound, and the exemption limit was lowered.
There were two innovations of principle. To meet the out-
cry against war profits, McKenna imposed an excess-
profits duty of o per cent (raised to 8o per cent in 1917) on
any increase in prewar profits. This somewhat clumsy
instrument did not prevent ‘profiteering’, but it provided in
all a quarter of the total tax revenue in the war period. Mc-
Kenna also imposed duties at 334 per cent on a number of
supposedly luxury articles such as motor cars, clocks, and
watches. These duties were intended to reduce ‘luxury’ im-
ports rather than for any Protectionist purpose. All the
same, they were a sin against Free Trade. Lloyd George
threw a note across the cabinet table to Walter Long,? an

1. Days lost in strikes (yearly average) 1915-18: 4.2 million. In
1910-14: 17.9 million. In 1919-21: 49.1 million.

2. Walter Long (1854-1924): educated Harrow and Oxford; M.P.,
1882—-1921; president of local government board, 1915-16; colonial sec-
retary, 1916-19; first lord of the admiralty, 1919-21; created Viscount,
1921. Chesterton wrote (incorrectly):

Walter, beware! scorn not the gathering throng ...
It suffers, but it cannot suffer Long.
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extreme Protectionist: ‘So the old system goes destroyed
by its own advocates’;' and the McKenna duties, as they
were called, dismayed rank-and-file Liberals. They seemed
to be the first price of Coalition.

The increased taxes did not go far to meet the increasing
expenditure, though they did a little better when income
tax was pushed up first to gs. in the pound (1916), and ulti-
mately to 6s. (1918), and when taxable incomes them-
selves increased. In 1915-16 only a fifth of the national ex-
penditure was being met from taxation; the later improve-
ment only raised this to 30 per cent. Even treasury officials
were not much disturbed by this. The budget was artificially
divided into a normal peacetime budget, which was
balanced in the ordinary way, and wartime expenses, which
were left to look after themselves. McKenna even laid down
the doctrine that there need be no limit on government
borrowing so long as taxation was enough to cover interest
and sinking fund on the National Debt. With his blessing
this rose, during the war, from £625 million to £7,809 million.
War loan provoked a patriotic campaign second only to that
for recruiting. Men supposed that they were somehow shift-
ing the cost of the war on to the shoulders of future genera-
tions. Actually, in physical terms, the war had to be paid for
while it was on, and war loans — unlike increased direct
taxes — were merely a promise that any sacrifice made by
the wealthier classes would be temporary.? In any case,
much of this sacrifice never took place. The rate of interest
on war loan, usually 5 per cent, was kept unnecessarily high
in the belief that otherwise foreign money would leave the
country. Moreover, the money, subscribed to war loan, often
came from bank credits and even more often from the
government, who were thus paying interest on money
which they had themselves manufactured. The rich had
actually more money to spend than before as the result of
their patriotic lending. Yet there were fewer goods. Prices

1. Hewins, Apologia of an Imperialist, ii. 52.

2. This did not apply to the smaller sums raised later from the
poorer classes by National Savings.
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therefore rose, until by 1919 the pound bought only a third
of what it had done in 1914. Wages lagged behind until late
in 1917.2 The burden of increased prices fell on the poor, who
thus paid for the war without getting the credit.

Inflationary finance was not the only cause of the rise in
prices. War pushed up the price of manufactured goods at
home. The price of imports rose still more. Great Britain
had, however, no difficulty in paying for her imports during
the first World war. Exports, though much reduced in
volume, brought in as much sterling as before the war,
thanks to the rise in their price. British services, such as
shipping, also brought higher profits. Great Britain’s inter-
national balance of payments, as a result, actually remained
favourable until-the last year of the war.2 There was a more
limited exchange problem. The war increased the British
need for supplies from the United States, without increas-
ing British exports to them. There was therefore a dollar
shortage, which was met partly by loans on the American
market, partly by sales (some voluntary, some, from 1917 on,
compulsory) of American securities held by British citizens.
At the end of the war, men noted sadly this loss of some
£207 million invested in the United States. They failed to
notice that British foreign investments elsewhere had gone
up during the war by £250 million. Even so, the pound ster-
ling held its own on the international exchange by its own
strength. There was no exchange control during the first
World war, no check on the export of capital, theoretically
not even an embargo on the export of gold.® Indeed, if Great
Britain had been fighting the war alone, she would have
come out with her international financial position slightly
stronger than when she had gone in.

This rosy picture was changed by the lavish loans which

1. Or rather wage rates lagged. Increased overtime did something
to redress the balance.

2. There was a favourable balance of f200 million in 1915; of
£101 million in 1916; an equal balance in 1917; and an unfavourable
balance of 107 million in 1918.

3. In practice, the export of gold was prevented at first by penal
rates of insurance and, later, by the refusal of export licences.
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Great Britain distributed to her allies - oddly, without any
parliamentary sanction. The British government imagined
that they could not only conduct war on a continental scale
such as they had never attempted before, but could also
finance their allies as they had done during carlier wars.
Russia received (586 million, France [434 million, Italy
£412 million;a total,including lesser countries and the Domi-
nions, of £1,825 million. This could not be covered from Brit-
ish resources. It was met largely by American loans (some-
thing over £1,000 million in all), particularly after the United
States entered the war in 1917. The problem was ignored
during the war. When mentioned, it was obscured by the
assumption, held even by McKenna, that the loans to the
allies were solid assets which would be repaid in full when
the war was over.

The wartime problem was not shortage of money with
which to buy goods abroad. It was shortage of ships with
which to carry them. Requisitioning for naval and military
purposes took nearly a quarter of British shipping out of
ordinary service in the course of 1915. The shipyards could
not fill the gap. Their claims on men and materials were
eclipsed by those of the admiralty and the ministry of
munitions; their output sank to a third of the prewar figure.
In 1915 the Germans added to British difficulties. They an-
swered the British blockade by using submarines to sink
merchant ships. The submarines, or U-boats, had to sink
without warning if they were to achieve any effective
results, and this brought a moral condemnation on the Ger-
mans which the almost invisible British blockade escaped.

The greatest German stroke was to sink the Lusitania, a
ship carrying passengers (including some American citi-
zens) and also munitions, in May 1915. This act, barbarous
by the standards of the time, produced anti-German riots
in England. At Liverpool, troops had to be called in after
three days of general destruction. The German knights of
the Garter were solemnly struck off the roll, and their ban-
ners removed from the chapel at Windsor. More seriously,
the sinking of the Lusitania provoked strong protest from
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President Wilson of the United States. The Germans,
who were in any case short of submarines, offered to end the
sinkings if the British would allow food through the block-
ade. Grey favoured the offer. The admiralty turned it
down. Somewhat later the Germans, after sinking more
passenger ships and provoking more protests from Wilson,
imposed restrictions on their submarines all the same. There
was no sinking at sight during most of 1916, and the more
limited submarine attacks, though still a nuisance, were kept
under control. This was, oﬁ course, gain for the British. It
was also loss. The comparative ease with which they had
overcome this first threat led them to neglect precautions
against a more powerful campaign later.

In another way, also then regarded as barbarous, the
British people had their first direct experience of war. The
first Zeppelin appeared over the British coast on 29
December 1914. London was bombarded from the air in
April 1915, and when the lighter-than-air ships proved
vulnerable, aeroplanes followed them. The raids provided
much drama, with British ‘aces’ shooting the clumsy Ger-
man machines down from the sky. The effects were
trivial by the standards of the second World war - 1,117
civilians and 296 combatants lost their lives as a result
of bombing from the air. The raids, however, caused much
dislocation and outcry. Lighting restrictions were imposed
throughout the country, and factories stopped work when a
single raider was sighted far away. The U-boats and the
Zeppelins heightened popular hysteria. Leading mini-
sters were denounced as weaklings, if not traitors. There
was a demand for reprisals against German submarine
crews, taken prisoner: a demand to which the admiralty
disgracefully yielded, despite a protest from George V,* until
the Germans retaliated in kind. Pemberton Billing, the
first man to challenge the party truce successfully (at East
Hertfordshire in March 1916), owed his success mainly to
being the ‘member for air’. He can claim the credit for
initiating the modern doctrine that war should be directed

1. Nicolson, George ¥V, 272.
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indiscriminately against civilians, not against the armed
forces of the enemy. The Royal Air Force was created be-
fore the war ended, specifically to practise what Pem-
berton Billing preached.

These were still side-issues. The war meant predomi-
nantly the war on land. Here the Coalition government did
not improve on their predecessors. The war council was
dissolved with the government which had created it. Only
in June 1915, after almost a month’s delay, was the Dar-
danelles committee set up to replace it.* It had ten members,
chosen to satisfy the balance of parties, not for their com-
petence, and every recommendation was fought over again
in cabinet a second time. Kitchener gave little guidance.
He trembled at the blow to British prestige in the Orient if
the attack at Gallipoli failed; he trembled still more at
Joffre’s indignation if men and supplies were diverted from
the western front. Churchill again took the initiative, des-
pite his humble position. In mid-June the Dardanelles
committee resolved to reinforce Hamilton. Kitchener could
only give five raw divisions, thus raising Hamilton’s force
to twelve — the Turks had by now fifteen in Gallipoli. What
was worse, Kitchener refused to move any experienced
general from the western front and, insisting on ‘Army List
seniority’, sent out the elderly Stopford, who had never
commanded in war.

On 6 August Hamilton again achieved surprise in a land-
ing at Suvla bay. Again nothing was made of it. Stopford
remained on board ship and slept throughout the after-
noon. Even personal promptings from Hamilton did not
shake him. The men settled down to bathe on the peace-
ful beach, while the surrounding hills were empty of the
enemy. The Turks had time to take up position. By 10 August
a new line of trenches had been formed, as unbreakable as
the others. Asquith wrote: ‘The generals and staffs
engaged in the Suvla part of the business ought to be court-
martialled and dismissed from the Army.’? Stopford was

1. The western front was still expected to run itself.
2. Magnus, Kitchener, 347.
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sent home, at his own request. The British forces clung to
the barren coast, like a climber stranded halfway up a
rock face.

The British government thought that they had decided
against any fresh offensive on the western front until Kit-
chener’s armies could take the field in 1916. French and his
senior army commander, Haig, agreed with this policy of
waiting. On 6 July 1915 leading British ministers met their
French colleagues at Calais: the first inter-allied confer-
ence ever held and the precursor of many such meetings in
both World wars. Kitchener, with his fluent French, domi-
nated the proceedings, and the British view was apparently
accepted, to everyone’s surprise. The offensive was indefi-
nitely postponed. This was a deception. Kitchener went for
a'walk with Joffre and promised not to oppose an offensive
in the autumn if Hamilton’s further attack at Gallipoli were
allowed to take place first. A little later he accepted from
Joffre, a new instruction to French: ‘Initiative in combined
action of the British and French forces devolves on the
French Commander-in-Chief, notably as regards effectives,
objective, dates.”* Kitchener sent this instruction to French
without informing the cabinet or the Dardanelles
committee.

After Hamilton’s failure, Joffre presented his bill, and
Kitchener honoured it. He told the Dardanelles committee:
‘We have to make war as we must and not as we should like
to.”2 The French ministers, who had no faith in an offensive,
agreed to it in order to please Kitchener; the British mini-
sters agreed in order to please the French. Joffre insisted
that the British should attack at Loos (25 September-13
October), in a district of mining villages. The German line
was shaken. British reserves arrived too late to take advan-
tage of this. The British suffered 50,000 casualties against
20,000 German. French had kept his reserves too far in the
rear and made matters worse, from his own point of view,
by blaming Haig for this in his official report.

1. Military Operations: France and Belgium, 1913, ii. 125.
2. Churchill, World Crists, ii. 465.
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Loos brought doom to Sir John French. Kitchener had
long lacked faith in him, or perhaps never had any, and
was in correspondence with Haig behind his back. Haig
had other means of influence. He and his wife were highly
regarded by the royal family - they were the first couple
not of royal blood to be married in the private chapel at
Buckingham Palace, and he wrote to the king constantly on
military affairs, no doubt from patriotic motives. George
V said to Kitchener, with his usual common sense: ‘If any-
one acted like that, and told tales out of school, he would
at school be called a sneak.” Kitchener replied: “We are be-
yond the schoolboys’ age.” French was not the only one en-
dangered. Most ministers had lost faith in Kitchener; some
of the more resolute were determined to have done with the
Dardanelles. Kitchener wavered despairingly. On 11
October he proposed to reinforce Hamilton. Three days
later Hamilton was superseded, and Sir Charles Monro sent
from France to take his place. Monro recommended evacua-
tion within twenty-four hours of arriving at Gallipoli. Kit-
chener could not stomach this and appealed to Monro’s
subordinates against it. The Dardanelles committee was at
sixes and sevens: Churchill and Curzon still for going on,
Lloyd George and Law eager for coming out. The French,
usually against distractions, increased the confusion by urg-
ing an expedition to Salonika, in belated aid for Serbia.

Asquith produced an adroit solution, in his usual spirit of
‘wait and see’: Kitchener should be sent out to write
Monro’s report all over again. Meanwhile, Asquith himself
would take over the war office and carry through sweeping
changes. He explained to Lloyd George: “‘We avoid by this
method of procedure the immediate supersession of K. as
war Minister, while attaining the same result.”? The plan
miscarried. Kitchener duly went. But on 6 November the
Globe reported that he was about to resign. Kitchener was
still a popular figure. Public opinion was disturbed. The

1, Haig, Private Papers, g8.

2. Asquith to Lloyd George, 3 November 1915. Lloyd George, War
Memoirs, i. 520.
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Globe was suppressed for a fortnight, and when it re-
ap})eared had to state that there were ‘no grounds of dis-
sension between Kitchener and his colleagues such as to
affect their future ministerial cooperation’. After this it was
impossible to get rid of Kitchener, and he obstinately re-
fused to stay in the Near East.

When he returned he found that things had changed. .

The Dardanelles committee had gone, and Churchill with
it! In its place was a war committee with fewer members?
and supposedly wider powers. Sir John French had gone,}?
and Sir Douglas Haig became commander-in-chief in
France. Kitchener, too, had virtually gone. Sir William
Robertson* had become chief of the imperial general staff
and wrote his own terms of appointment. Henceforth the
C.L.G.S. alone, not the secretary of state for war, was to
determine strategy. He alone was to advise the government.
He alone was to issue orders to the commanders in the
field. Kitchener’s functions, in his own words, were ‘cur-
tailed to the feeding and clothing of the army’. He wished
to resign, but was persuaded that it was his duty to remain. In
any case, he told Robertson: ‘I need leisure to think. I have
no fear as to our final victory, but many fears as to our mak-
ing a good peace.’s Actually he did no thinking. He remained
only as a patriotic symbol - ‘the great poster’ of Margot
Asquith’s wounding phrase - still worshipped by the public,
disregarded and even despised by his colleagues.

1. For the next eighteen months Churchill commanded a battalion
in France.

2. Initially Asquith, Balfour, Kitchener, Grey, and Lloyd George,
Law was forced in by the Unionists ten days later; and McKenna was
added also to balance him.

3. Asquith told him he was needed at home to advise against
Kitchener.

4. Sir William Robertson (1860-1933): first field-marshal to start
in the ranks; chief of staff in France, 1915; C.I1.G.S., 1915-18; Eastern
Command, 1918; commander-in-chief, Home Forces, 1918, of Army
on the Rhine, 1919—20; created Baronet and voted f10,000 by parlia-
ment, 1919. The dropping of aspirates, attributed to him in many
delightful stories, is probably mythical.

5. Arthur, Kitchener, iii. 299.
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Haig and Robertson between them set their stamp on
British experience in the World war. They were the supreme
‘Brass Hats’. Haig was certainly a stabler character than Sir
John French: resolute in command, loyal to subordinates,
unruffled by defeat. He was as able 2 staff officer as any in
the British army, unrivalled in his mastery of railway time-
tables. He was confident that he could win the war, though
he did not know how. Like most British generals of the time
he disliked politicians, especially Liberals, and got on badly
with them. All the same, he was more adroit and supple
than he seemed, and this hidden skill enabled him to out-
manoeuvre even Lloyd George, though only just.

Robertson was more direct and more obstinate. He
claimed greater power than any British general before or
since: virtually that of supreme command over all British
armies.! His main concern was to deny civilian ministers
any say in the conduct of the war.? Far from acting as chief
adviser to the government on strategy, he refused to supply
them with strategical information. He met all civilian criti-
cism or suggestion with the reply: ‘I've ’eard different.” His
own mind was clear. The Germans, he believed, could be
beaten only by beating their main army in France. He re-
iterated that the British armies were in France because this
was the principal theatre of war and that everything else
must be sacrificed to it.

Robertson’s firm hand was shown at once over Gallipoli.
Kitchener refused to recommend evacuation, though ad-
mitting that it must take place. Admiral Wemyss,® who was
acting temporarily €or de Robeck, believed that the navy
could force the Straits. The war committee proposed to

1. The Duke of Marlborough, who had something approaching
the 'same power, was also a politician.

2. According to the talk at G.H.Q., Robertson’s original intention
was to have a war committee of the C.I.G.S,, the First Sea Lord, and no
civilian minister. Bourget, Gouvernement et Commandement, 117.

3. Rosslyn Erskine Wemyss (1864-1933), second in command at
Dardanelles, 1915-16; first sea lord, 1917-19; did not receive thanks
of parliament or money grant, 1919; created Baron Wester Wemyss,

1919.
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abandon two beaches and to hang on at one. Robertson
stamped on all these suggestions and insisted on ending the
entire enterprise. Suvla and Anzac beaches were evacuated
on 18 and 19 December, Helles beach on 8 January 1916 - all
three without loss, the successful end to a sad adventure.
The Gallipoli campaign was to cause interminable contro-
versy later. Twice it seemed to have come near to success;
twice it had failed allegedly from lack of men and supplies.
On a wider view, it failed rather from lack of room. Galli-
poli, far from being an easy backdoor into Germany, was
a narrow, tight crack, and stronger forces would not have
made the crack wider. They would only have increased the
congestion on the peninsula. The campaign could have suc-
ceeded only if it had been fought somewhere else. No doubt
it helped to wear down Turkish strength and made some
demand on German supplies. Otherwise nothing redeemed
the blow to British prestige.

Failure at Gallipoli had a lasting consequence. Rightly or
wrongly, there was never again a serious attempt to break
into Germany from behind, until the very end of the war
when her armies were already defeated. The westerners
won, despite a continuing argument. Not that withdrawal
from Gallipoli freed men for the western front. A quarter
of a million men were kept in Egypt to guard the Suez canal
from an imagined Turkish attack. Next the British forces
crossed the desert of Sinai in order to make the canal yet
more secure and then advanced progressively further for
no particular purpose. Some of the Arab tribes were induced
to revolt against Turkish rule, and a young Oxford archaeo-
logist, T. E. Lawrence, acquired legendary fame as their
leader. His adventures, aided by his considerable literary
gifts, made him the only old-style hero of the first World
war. At the end of 1917 the British armies captured Jeru-
salem - Lloyd George’s Christmas present to the British
people. A year later, when the war ended, the armies, now
swelled to half a million men, were still plodding forward
along the Syrian coast. This was a romantic campaign,
redolent of history, where a cavalry engagement could be
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dignified with the name Armageddon But little harm was
dore to the Germans.

In Mesopotamia the Indian government had already em-
barked on a campaign of their own to protect the Persian
oil wells, which supplied the British navy. There was a med-
ley of authorities: the commander in Mesopotamia; the
commander-in-chief in India; the viceroy; the India office
in London. Between them, they propelled the British forces
towards Baghdad. Early in 1916 the advance was speeded
up to atone for the failure at Gallipoli. It ran into failure. In
April 1916 Townshend surrendered at Kut with 10,000 men.
Fresh forces were sent to redeem the disaster: 300,000
troops were finally committed. As well, the French insisted
on keeping an army at Salonika, though Serbia, which it
had been intended to relieve, had been overrun. The British
government tried to refuse, then agreed that the Allied
army should remain there ‘on a temporary basis’. It re-
mained throughout the war: 600,000 Allied troops - 200,000
of them British - more or less interned at Salonika by a
Bulgarian army* which would otherwise have played no part
. in the war. Thus, despite Robertson’s disapproval of ‘side
shows’, over a million men, and sometimes nearer two mil-
lion, were diverted from the Western front.

The continental Allies, and particularly the French, sus-
pected that the British were picking up the spoils of empire,
while the French and Russians were bleeding to death in
Europe. The British tried to remove this suspicion by a series
of partition treaties. On 12 March 1915, as a preliminary to
the attack on Gallipoli, they agreed with the Russian
government that Constantinople and the Straits should go
to Russia, ‘subject to the war ... being brought to a success-
ful conclusion’. They received in exchange Russian consent
to their absorbing the neutral zone in Persia and a free
hand (or so they thought) in settling Asiatic Turkey. Subse-
quently they negotiated with the French a partition of
Turkey-in-Asia, an agreement never properly concluded,
though the British secured Mesopotamia and Palestine

1. Bulgaria entered the war against the Allies in November 1915.
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partly by its means.? As well, the Allies bribed Italy into the
war by the treaty of London (26 April 1915), which pro-
mised her Tyrol, Istria, and North Dalmatia without
Fiume (Rijeka). These ‘secret treaties’ caused much outcry
when they were revealed by the Bolsheviks. Even before
then the British government were accused of fighting in
order to give Constantinople to Russia and Alsace-Lorraine
to France, or to add Asiatic Turkey to the British Empire.
This was not so. The British government did not underwrite
the French claim to Alsace and Lorraine until October
1917, and the secret treaties (except for the treaty of Lon-
don, which promised unconditionally what Italy ‘will re-
ceive’) were attempts to avoid conflict between the allies
after victory, not definitions of the objects for which the
war was being fought. They evaded the real problem: what
to do about Germany. No answer was found to this prob-
lem while the war was on, nor after it ended.

The British people were clear why they had gone to war:
it was for the sake of Belgium. Liberation of Belgium, and
full reparation, remained always their primary aim, and
the Germans would have caused great turmoil in British
opinion if they had offered it - which, fortunately for
national unity, they never did. But this was not enough. The
British could not be content with righting the wrong done
to Belgium; they wanted a guarantee that it would never
happen again. How was this to be done? The obvious
answer was the defeat of Germany, and from this it fol-
lowed that there need be no war aim except victory.

Many people did not like this barren cenclusion and
dreamt of some organization which would make future war
impossible. Though the actual phrase, a League of Nations,
was invented by Lowes Dickinson, an opponent of the war,
it was taken up by many who were also fervent for the de-
feat of Germany: by H. G. Wells, by most Liberal news-
papers, by Grey himself. There was deep confusion in this
proposal. Some supposed that it could be achieved only after
victory over Germany; others that it made victory unneces-

1. See Note A, p. 106.
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sary. Those who were sceptical of idealistic solutions also
split into two: a majority hoped for a crushing military vic-
tory, others favoured a ‘realistic’ peace of compromise with
a return to the conditions of 1914. In general, British people
thought themselves engaged in ‘a war to end war’, and ex-
pected victory to provide this of itself.

A small minority was dissatisfied with this negative att-
tude. In September 1914 the scattered remnants of those
who had opposed entry into the war set up the Union of
Democratic Control, in order to ensure that the diplomatic
errors or crimes which had, in their opinion, caused the
war should never be made again. Ramsay MacDonald was
the outstanding politician of the group. E. D. Morel, the
secretary, supplied the attacks on secret diplomacy, and also
the plans for a better way. The outlook of the U.D.C. won
some support from middle-class intellectuals. It was also
shared by the Independent Labour Party, which - though
affiliated to the Labour party - became increasingly critical
of the war. The two U.D.C. demands for ending the war by
negotiation and for open or democratic diplomacy after-
wards, were theoretically distinct. No one troubled to dis-
tinguish them in the hysteria of the time. The supporters
of the U.D.C. tended to think of themselves as ‘pacifists’ (a
word used now for the first time), and so, still more, did
others. Meetings of the U.D.C. were broken up by soldiers
on leave. Morel himself was imprisoned, and Bertrand
Russell, a prominent supporter, fined, on trumped-up
charges.! Passion drowned any cool discussion of war aims.
All the same, like Charles James Fox in an earlier period of
patriotic frenzy, though E. D. Morel lost the present, he won
the furure. There was no peace by negotiation, but in the end
the ghost of E. D. Morel determined British foreign policy.?

1. Morel was imprisoned for sending printed matter to a neutral
country (though he had supposed the recipient to be in France).
Russell was fined for a pamphlet which was alleged to discourage re-
cruiting. Russell was also deprived of his lectureship at Trinity Col-
lege, Cambridge, despite the protests of Fellows who were on active
service. In 1944 Russell was elected a Fellow of Trinity.

2. See below, p. 258.
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WAR STILL REMOTE

Public opinion, as voiced by the Daily Mail and by the
demagogues of the recruiting platforms, was impatient with
all such discussions. Victory was its sole concern. The war
still seemed a long way off: something ‘over there’, as sym-
bolized by the leave trains departing each night from Vic-
toria Station. At home, life rolled on almost unaffected.
There was plenty of food, and indeed of everything else.
Statesmen still appeared in top hats. Businessmen rarely
lapsed into bowlers. Some standards were slightly relaxed.
Short black jackets took the place of tail coats for evening
dress. Some men wore unstarched collars at the week-end.
Maidservants, instead of footmen, handed round the sand-
wiches at afternoon tea and were to be seen even in west
end clubs. War brought some minor benefits. The zip-
fastener escaped from the ban which the makers of buttons
had long imposed upon it. Life in the trenches popularized
safety razors and toothpaste (instead of powder). Enter-
tainment became more entertaining: no more plays by
Galsworthy or Bernard Shaw. Instead, George Robey and
Violet Lorraine appeared in the Bing Boys and sang:
you were the only girl in the world.” A comparatively worth-
less musical play, Chu Chin Chow, established what was for
many years a record-breaking run.! The spirit of 1915 was
best expressed by Ian Hay, a writer of light fiction, in The
First Hundred Thousand — a book which treated soldlermg
as a joke, reviving ‘the best days of our lives’ at some imagi-
nary public school.

Popular feeling wanted some dramatic action. The agi-
tation crystallized around the demand for compulsory mili-
tary service. This was a political gesture, not a response to
practical need. The army had more men than it could
equip, and voluntary recruitment would more than fill the
gap, at any rate until the end of 1916. Auckland Geddes,?

1. The record was broken in the nincteen-fifties by Agatha Christie’s
detective play, The Mousetrap, which threatened to run for ever.

2. Auckland Geddes (1879-1954): educated George Watson’s Col-
lege and Edinburgh; professor of anatomy at McGill University;

director of national service, 1917-19; president of board of trade, 1919—
20; ambassador to United States, 1920—24; created Baron, 1942.
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who was in the best position to know, later pronounced this
verdict: “The imposition of military conscription added
little if anything to the effective sum of our war efforts.’
However, there was a general belief that thousands of
‘slackers’ - 650,000 was the figure usually given - were
somchow evading their country’s call. In the autumn of
1915 the question of conscription broke into a blaze. Some
Unionist ministers threatened to resign unless it were adop-
ted. They were seconded by Lloyd George, who was look-
ing for new worlds to conquer now that the ministry of
munitions was running at full spate. Asquith produced an
ingenious evasion. Lord Derby,? though an advocate of
conscription, was set to organize a scheme by which men
of military age ‘attested’ their willingness to serve when
called upon. The Liberals were told that this would avoid
conscription, the Unionists that it was the preliminary to it.
The Labour leaders were especially strong for a scheme
which would, they believed, save the voluntary system. Two
and a half million men attested, thanks largely to Labour
advocacy.

Asquith sold the pass, perhaps without meaning to do so.
He promised that no attested married men should be called
up until all unmarried men had been taken. Did this mean
only attested unmarried men or all unmarried men whether
attested or not? Asquith did not explain. The answer of
public opinion was clear: the married men would have felt
outrageously cheated if they had been called up while a
single unmarried man walked the streets. Compulsory ser-
vice was now inevitable. In Janury 1916 Asquith took the
plunge. The first Military Service act ended voluntary re-
cruitment and imposed compulsion on unmarried men be-
teen the ages of 18 and 41.3 The political consequences were

1. Simon, Retrospect, 100.

2. Edward Stanley, 17th Earl of Derby (1865-1948): educated Wel-
lington; uncrowned (Conservative) ‘king of Lancashire’; secretary for
war, 1916-18, 1922—4; ambassador to France, 1918-20; close friend
of George V. Haig said of him: ‘like the feather pillow he bears the
mark of the last person who sat on him’.

3. There was a promise that no one should be called up until he
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less serious than Asquith had feared. Labour protested and
acquiesced. Some thirty Liberals voted against the bill. Sir
John Simon! resigned as home secretary, thus drawing on
a stock of moral inflexibility not much replenished later.
That was all. Runciman and McKenna had opposed con-
scription in the belief that the seventy divisions which it
envisaged were beyond the economic resources of the coun-
try. Instead of resigning, they decided to stay in office and
to defend laissez faire, which they did to some purpose.

One gesture of conciliation was made towards Liberal
principle: men with a conscientious objection to military
service were allowed to state their case before a local tri-
bunal, which could grant them absolute or conditional ex-
emption. This provision, almost without parallel in other
countries, worked clumsily. The tribunals were composed of
the elderly and retired, unsympathetic to all young men
and especially unsympathetic to conscientious objectors.
Many of the claims, muddled no doubt and incoherently
expressed, were rejected. Some 7,000 objectors agreed to
perform non-combatant service, usually in ambulance
work; another 3,000 were put in rather useless labour camps,
run by the home office. Later, the tribunals learnt to evade
the question of conscience by deeming an objector’s present
work to be of ‘national importance’ and hence qualifying
him for exemption on other than conscientious grounds.
There remained 1,500 ‘absolutists’ — men who refused all
compulsory service - some from religious conviction, some
as believers in liberty, a few as Marxists who would take no
part in a capitalist war. These men were drafted into mili-
tary units, and sentenced to imprisonment by court-martial
when they refused to obey the order of an officer. Forty-one
of them were transferred to France, where being on active
was 18%, and a further promise (withdrawn in 1918) that no one
would be sent abroad until he was 19.

1. John Simon (1873-1954): educated Fettes and Oxford; attorney
general, 1913-15; home secretary, 1915-16; foreign secretary, 1931-5;
home secretary, 1935-7; chancellor of exchequer, 1937-40; lord chan-

cellor, 1940—45. Lloyd George said: *Simon has sat on the fence so long
that the iron has entered into his soul.’
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service, they could be sentenced to death for disobedience,
and they lived under this shadow for a month until per-
sonal intervention by Asquith had them brought back to
England. Lloyd George, once a pro-Boer, took the lead in
harrying the conscientious objectors: ‘I will make their
path as hard as I can.” The question seemed trivial at the
time; it had great effect later. The 1,500 ‘absolutists’ drove
the first nail into the coffin of Lloyd George’s Radical reputa-
tion.

Compulsory service did not achieve its alleged purpose of
providing more men for the army. On the contrary, it kept
them out. Munition workers and coal miners could not be
prevented from succumbing to patriotic emotion when en-
listment was voluntary. The military authorities had to
reject them once conscription went through. Instead of un-
earthing 650,000 slackers, compulsion produced 748,587 new
claims to exemption, most of them valid, on top of the mil-
lion and a half already ‘starred’ by the ministry of muni-
tions. In the first six months of conscription the average
monthly enlistment was not much above 40,000 — less than
half the rate under the voluntary system.! Of course it was
more sensible to keep men in essential occupations than to
let them join the army, but this was not how it appeared to
generals or fire-eating Unionists, who thought that war was
won at the front, not in the factories. The agitation for com-
pulsion started all over again: this time for married men
as well. Lloyd George once more threatened to resign un-
less compulsion were made general. Runciman, McKenna,
Grey threatened to resign if it were. Asquith despaired, and
expected the government to break up. He devised another
elaborate compromise which pleased nobody, and on 26
April presented it to the house of commons in the first
secret session of the war. The secrecy was imposed to con-
ceal the party rifts from the public, not to deny knowledge
to the encmy.

1. Compulsion was not the only cause of the decline. Enlistment
was bound to become less after the first surge of patriotism. But
compulsion did not arrest this decline.
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THE EASTER RISING

Asquith had a stroke of luck - his last. 26 April was the
Tuesday after Easter. On the previous day there was a re-
bellion in Dublin. The house of commons was stirred to
patriotism. It demanded a final, comprehensive measure,
and this demand grew stronger three days later, when news
arrived of Townshend’s surrender to the Turks at Kut.
Asquith gave a sigh of relief. He withdrew his compromise,
carried universal mlhtary service to the age of 41, and yet
preserved the outward unity of his government. This affair,
though tactically successful, was disastrous for Asquith’s
prestige. Everyone knew that the solution had been im-
posed upon him. The house had intervened directly for the
only time in the war. It had dictated to the government
instead of being led. Moreover, Asquith had escaped
trouble over conscription only by raising the darker shadow
of Ireland. This had now to be faced.

The Military Service Acts did not apply to Ireland -
another unconscious repudiation of the Union. Even so, the
Irish question could not be ignored ‘for the duration’. The
discontented minority of Irish Volunteers continued to drill
and talked openly of rebellion. Birrell, the Irish secretary,
felt that it would be unfair to disarm them, when the Ulster
Volunteers, who had also talked of rebellion, were not dis-
armed before the war. The Irish extremists sought German
assistance, as the Ulster rebels had done before them. In
Germany Sir Roger Casement, formerly a British consul,
attempted, unsuccessfully, to recruit an Irish legion from
among prisoners of war. A rising, with German backing,
was planned for Easter Sunday, 1916. The plans miscar-
riecd. The Germans had never meant their promises
seriously; and when Casement landed from a German sub-
marine on Good Friday, it was with a warning to call off the
rising, not with German arms or German soldiers. In any
case, he was captured within a few hours of landing. In Dub-
lin, John Macneill, Volunteer chief-of-staff, first resigned
and then cancelled the plans for mobilization. On Easter
Sunday the Volunteers stayed at home. On Monday a
group in Dublin, unsupported in the rest of the country,
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seized the General Post Office and proclaimed the Irish
Republic. Five days of fighting followed. A hundred British
soldiers, and 450 Irish, were killed. The G.P.O. was des-
troyed. On the Friday after Easter, the first Provisional
Government of the Irish Republic surrendered.

This was the only national rebellion in any European
country during the first World war' — an ironical com-
ment on the British claim to be fighting for freedom. The
rising was repudiated by Irish public opinion. Here was the
chance for a new start. The British government made little
of it. General Maxwell, the military commander, was left in
sole charge for a fortnight. The seven men who had signed
the proclamation of independence were shot. So, too, were
all the Volunteer commandants involved except one -
Eamonn de Valera, who, having been born in the United
States of a Spanish father and an Irish mother, was techni-
cally stateless and escaped with imprisonment for life.?
Asquith went to Dublin. He found the atmosphere chang-
ing: the blood of the martyrs now stood in his way. He
believed that all could be redeemed, if Home Rule were in-
stituted at once. Then, as usual, he shrank from the creative
effort which a solution of the Irish question demanded.
Lloyd George seized the opening: if he settled Ireland, he
would win back his Radical supporters and eclipse Asquith
as well. Lloyd George negotiated with Carson and Red-
mond. He secured agreement between them, by means
however equivocal: Home Rule at once for twenty-six coun-
ties; six counties of Ulster to remain part of the United
Kingdom until after the war, when an imperial conference

1. Outside Europe the Arab rising against the Ottoman Empire can
perhaps be dignified as national.

2. The American ambassador is said to have intervened on de
Valera’s behalf. One hundred and sixty others were sentenced to
prison; 1,862 men and 5 women were interned in England without
trial. Casement was tried for high treason at the Old Bailey. F. E.
Smith - Carson’s ‘galloper’ in 1914 — led for the prosecution. Casement
was convicted. On 3 August he was hanged. To discredit any cam-
paign for reprieve, British agents circulated diaries, allegedly Case-
ment’s and probably genuine, containing homosexual passages.
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would review the question afresh. The unity and confidence
of the Liberal party were restored; the Unionists were in
confusion. Law cared much for Ulster, little for the rest of
Ireland. He accepted Lloyd George’s proposals; so also did
Balfour and F. E. Smith.* Opposition came only from the
‘magnates’, once Whig, now Unionist. It was enough for
Asquith. The backing of Law - ‘a very good ironmaster
who had come into politics late’ — meant nothing to him. He
started back in alarm at the protests of Lord Lansdowne.?

The Heads of Agreement were progressively weakened
at Lansdowne’s dictation. When Redmond refused to com-
promise further, they were scrapped.* Dublin Castle con-
tinued to rule Ireland. This failure gave the deathblow to the
Irish constitutional party. Force seemed the only remedy in
Ireland, and the extremists, who had been discredited by
the Easter rebellion, soon began to triumph at by-elections.
The Irish Nationalists lost interest in parliament, and vir-
tually seceded - eighty supporters lost to Asquith. This
was not his only loss. He attempted to appease the house by
agreeing, on 20 July, to a select committee of inquiry into
the Mesopotamia campaign, and threw in, for good mea-
sure, an inquiry into the Dardanelles as well - an inquiry
which it was hoped, would hit only Churchill. Few were
distracted by these red herrings. The Liberals had seen
their cherished causes abandoned one by one: peace; Free
Trade; voluntary recruiting; now Home Rule. What held
them behind Asquith any longer? Only a determination

1. Frederick Edwin Smith (1874-1930): educated Birkenhead and
Oxford; solicitor general, 1915; attorney general, 1915-19; lord chan-
cellor, 1919—22; secretary for India, 1924-8; created Baron Birkenhead,
1919; Viscount, 1921; Earl, 1922; Beaverbrook rated him ‘the cleverest
man in the kingdom’.

2. H. A. Taylor, Robert Donald, 121.

3. Henry Petty-Fitzmaurice, fifth Marquis of Lansdowne (1843-
1927): educated Eton and Oxford; formerly governor general of
Canada, viceroy of India, foreign secretary; minister without portfolio,
1915-16; published letter in Daily Telegraph advocating a compromise
peace, 29 November 1917.

4. See Note B, p. 107.
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(which he shared) to win the war. It was increasingly diffi-
“cult to believe that he was the man to win it.

Lloyd George once more claimed the vacant place. He
was lucky to be on offer. Ireland saved Lloyd George’s life.
He and Kitchener had projected a visit to Russia, in order
to inspirit their flagging ally. At the last minute, Lloyd
George called off, because of the negotiations over Ireland.
Kitchener went alone. On 5 June the Hampshire, with
Kitchener on board, struck a mine within two hours of leav-
ing Scapa Flow. Kitchener and most of the crew were
drowned. So perished the only British military idol of the
first World war. The next morning Northcliffe burst into
his sister’s drawing-room with the words: ‘Providence is on
the side of the British Empire after all.” This reflected a
common view that the secretary for war still held the key
to victory and that Kitchener hz}d been incapable of turn-
ing it. Few men appreciated how his powers had been
diminished, first by the encroachments of Lloyd George,
then by those of Robertson. Haig and Robertson under-
stood it well enough. They wished to ensure that
Kitchener’s successor, too, should be a figurehead, and
therefore proposed Walter Long, who would do whatever
the C.I.G.S. told him to.

Asquith was ready to accept the generals’ nominee. Law
and Lloyd George were not. Though personally still on cool
terms, they agreed that the new secretary must be a strong
man, in other words, Lloyd George. Asquith reluctantly
bowed to their order — dramatic indication that his autho-
rity as prime minister was crumbling.! Lloyd George be-
came secretary for war, glad no doubt to escape from the
coming . breakdown over Ireland. He was in a hurry. He
took his new office on 4 July. The battle of the Somme had

1. This was the occasion when Law, pursuing Asquith into the
country, allegedly found him playing bridge with three ladies on a
Monday morning and was outraged at this frivolity during a great
war. Since it was Whit Monday when all the government offices were
closed, it is difficult to see how Asquith could have been better em-

ployed — quite apart from his belief that ministers should keep out of
the way while the generals won the war.
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started on 1 July. Lloyd George believed that Haig was
about to win the war, and wished to be at the war office so
as to claim the credit for this achievement. In his hurry, he
failed to insist on a change in the system of supreme com-
mand and so was as much under Robertson’s dictation as
Kitchener had been.

The Somme was the first great action by a British army
of continental size. The army in France had grown steadily
as the men who had responded to Kitchener’s call com-
pleted their rudimentary training. At the beginning of
1916 it numbered thirty eight divisions; nineteen more
had come over by the middle of the year.! The army had
an incomparable spirit: it was by far the greatest volunteer
force ever to go into battle. But it was a clumsy instrument.
The senior officers were elderly, unimaginative professionals
from the old peacetime army, who refused to contemplate
the problems of trench warfare. In the words of the official
history, ‘the failures of the past were put down to reasons
other than the stout use of the machine-gun by the enemy
and his scientifically planned defences.”? The junior officers
were, for the most part, former public schoolboys. They
were expected to set an example to their men, as indeed
they did;® tactical leadership was held to be beyond them.
The men had been trained to man a trench, and to ad-
vance in a regular line, bayonets glinting in the sun.

Haig believed that previous attacks had failed from lack
of weight. This time a battering ram was to be driven into
the enemy lines by a prolonged ‘barrage’. The infantry
would merely clear up the wreckage. Then, in Haig’s vision,
would come the ‘breakthrough’, with cavalry operating in
open country. Many hundred thousand horses were kept
in France throughout the war, waiting for the opportunity
which never came, and using, for their forage, more ship-

1. This compares with g5 French and 117 German divisions on the
western front.

2. Military Operations: France and Belgium, 1916, i. 34.

3. The ratio of casualties between officers and men was 3 to 1. A
special decoration, the Military Cross, was instituted in 1915 for acts
of bravery by junior officers.
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ping space than was lost to German submarines. In the rear,
motor transport was now fairly common;' near the front
line, great dumps of shells bore witness to the work of the
ministry of munitions. There was a network of dugouts and
communicating trenches. A fantastic complication of flares
and rockets carried messages back to the gunners or to the
aeroplanes ‘spotting’ overhead. Despite this, the battle of
the Somme was fought as though infantrymen, armed with
flintlock muskets, were the last word in military science.
Haig had favoured an offensive in the north. Here British
communications were best, and a breakthrough would
create an open flank. The entire German line could then
be ‘rolled up’ - a version in reverse, in fact, of the original
Schlieffen plan, to which Ludendorff also conformed when
he took the offensive in 1918. But Haig had been instructed
to follow Joffre’s strategic direction. Joffre wanted a com-
bined Anglo-French operation, in order to ensure that the
British did their share of the fighting, or rather more. The
Somme happened to be the place where the two armies
joined hands. Strategically, there was nothing to be gained
on the Somme. Victory there would merely free the Ger-
mans from an awkward salient or, if extremely successful,
saddle the Alliecs with one of their own. Moreover, the
combined offensive did not work out. In February the Ger-
mans attacked Verdun, and this absorbed the bulk of
French resources. By July, when the British were ready, the
Somme had become predominantly a British enterprise —
hence with even less purpose than before. However, Haig
did not hesitate. He had now become convinced that a
powerful offensive, even on the Somme, would win the war.
He wrote on the eve of battle: ‘I feel that every step in my
plan has been taken with the Divine help.”? Others did
not share his confidence. Rawlinson, the army commander

1. A traffic census at Fricourt on 21-22 July 1916 (the only one
ever taken) shows the mixture of old and new. In 24 hours there passed
26,000 troops; 568 motor cars; 95 motor buses; 617 motor cycles; 813
motor lorries; 3,800 horse wagons and carts; 5,400 riding horses; 8
machine guns. Military Operations: France and Belgium, 1916, i. 283.

2. Duff Cooper, Haig, i. 327.
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on the Somme, expected at best limited gains; Joffre
merely ‘attrition’ — the killing of Germans.

On 1 July thirteen British divisions went ‘over the top’ in
regular waves. The attack was a total failure. The barrage
did not obliterate the Germans. Their machine guns
knocked the British over in rows: 19,000 killed, 57,000
casualties sustained — the greatest loss in a single day ever
suffered by a British army and the greatest suffered by any
army in the first World war. Haig had talked beforehand of
breaking off the offensive if it were not at once successful.
Now he set his teeth and kept doggedly on - or rather, the
men kept on for him. The generals, though without hope,
flattered their chief’s obstinacy. ‘Captures of prlsoners but
not the heavy casualties, were regularly reported.’ The
slaughter was prolonged for weeks, then for months. It
tailed off in November when it floundered in the mud. No
strategical gain had been made. Three British soldiers were
lost for every two German.! “The troops were tried almost
to the limit of their endurance.’2

Kitchener’s army found its graveyard on the Somme. Not
only men perished. There perished also the zest and idea-
lism with which nearly three million Englishmen had
marched forth to war. C. E. Montague, a writer on the
Manchester Guardian who dyed his grey hair in order to
volunteer, has recorded this process of Disenchantment.
The change was shown also in the war poets. The early
poets, Rupert Brooke and Julian Grenfell, wrote with a
lyrical innocence which they had carried over from peace-
time. After the Somme came a new school, poets who saw
in war only horror and suffering, tempered by the com-
radeship of the trenches. Edmund Blunden expressed this
spirit sensitively, Siegfried Sassoon and Robert Graves more
savagely. Most of them remained war poets, not - as later

1. British losses: 420,000. French: 194,000. German (against the
British): 280,000; (against both armies): 465,000. The official history
revised these figures and claimed the true German losses as 680,000,
thus implying ~ against all experience - that the attackers lost less
than the defenders.

2. Military Operations: France and Belgium, 1916, ii. 538.
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readers inclined to regard them - anti-war poets. Sassoon,
indeed, turned against the war altogether, after winning the
Military Cross, and claimed to be a conscientious objector.
The others still wanted to destroy ‘Prussia’, though they saw
this ‘Prussia’ in their own commanders as well as on the
other side.! In any case, these pocts spoke only for a mino-
rity. All except Isaac Rosenberg were officers — and Rosen-
berg was by no means a representative ‘other rank’. Even
Wilfred Owen, incomparably the greatest poet of either
war, saw his ‘men’ from outside. With astonishing virtuo-
sity, the British army grew from 200,000 to five million
and kept its antiquated class-structure inviolate. The
colonels and adjutants, though incompetent for modern
war, knew how to preserve social standards and turned the
young officers into temporary gentlemen, who wore riding
boots and passed the port in mess.

The ‘Tommies’ have left few memorials. One or two, such
as Frank Richards and David Jones, became writers and
published reminiscences many years later. Otherwise the
Tommies speak in the songs which they composed on the
march or to beguile the tedium of the trenches - songs
which survive mainly in oral tradition. The tunes were
usually adapted from contemporary music-hall ‘hits’. The
words were self-depreciatory and often obscene.? No other
army has ever gone to war, proclaiming its own incompe-
tence and reluctance to fight, and no army has fought
better. The humble Englishman found his voice, and these
songs preserve him for posterity. In more literary composi-
tions, the Tommies were presented with affectionate con-

1. Wilfred Owen wrote in the unfinished preface to his poems:

If T thought the letter of this book would last,

I might have used proper names; but if the spirit of it

survives Prussia — my ambition and those names will be content.

2. During the first World war use of the four-letter word, as it is
now called, became universal, or more probably its universal use was
first observed by the literate classes. Between the wars the word was
presented by writers in a modified form — mucking or flicking — or
with its initial only - f - - - ing. Its use in full — fuck — now seems to be
approaching literary, though not conversational, respectability.
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tempt. ‘Ol Bill' was their symbol, created by Bruce
Bairnsfather (himself an officer of course) — a hoarse-voiced
walrus of a man with a crude wit that was almost human.
Old Bill had no ideas, no ambitions, no resentment against
his blundering superiors. With mud and water up to his
waist, he made only the philosophic remark: ‘If you know
a better ’ole, go to it.” This was the epitaph of the men
who died on the Somme.

While fighting raged on the Somme, Lloyd George had
been numbered with the enthusiasts. He said on 22 August:
‘We are pressing the enemy back. ... We are pushing the
enemy on the Somme. ... He has lost his tide’ A month
later he championed ‘the knock-out blow’. He made out
afterwards that he did this in order to silence in advance
President Wilson’s proposal for a negotiated peace. In fact,
he committed himself to the knock-out blow in the belief
that, as secretary for war, he was about to deliver it. All
the more fiercely therefore did he turn against Haig and
Robertson when he discovered that they had misled him.
In November he said to Hankey: “‘We are going to lose this
war.” Failure on the Somme was only one of many troubles.
A Russian offensive miscarried on the eastern front after
initial success. Rumania tardily joined the Allies in August,
only to be overrun by the Germans — Lloyd George at-
tempting in vain to stir up Allied assistance by an advance
from Salonika. Events at sea were still graver.

In the spring of 1916 the Germans called off unrestricted
submarine warfare. As a sort of psychological compensa-
tion, their battlefleet began provocative sweeps on the
North Sea. The British Grand Fleet responded to the
challenge. On 31 May Beatty,? commanding the British
battlecruisers, encountered his German opposites. A run-
ning engagement drew him under the guns of the German
High Seas fleet. Beatty swung away and drew the Germans,

1. T. Jones, Lloyd George, 78.

2. David Beatty (1871-1936): commanded battlecruisers, 1913-16,
Grand Fleet, 1916~19; first sea lord, 1919-27; created Earl and given
£100,000 by parliament, 1919.
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in their turn, on to the British Grand Fleet under Jellicoe,
which was at sea some fifty miles northwards. At about
6 p.m. there took place the only battle between two great
modern fleets ever fought in European waters.? It lasted
little more than five minutes. The German admiral turned
away, discharging torpedoes as he did so. Jellicoe turned
away also to avoid the deadly stream. Half an hour later
the German fleet reappeared. More shots were exchanged.
Then the Germans vanished again, and this time for good.
The battle of Jutland was over. The inconclusive result was
a great disappointment for British opinion, educated in the
legend of Nelson and Trafalgar. The German fleet had not
been destroyed. British losses were greater than German;
the British ships had proved inferior in armour and
guns.? But appearances were deceptive. The Germans had
turned tail on sight of the British monsters. Their High
Seas fleet only left harbour again three times in the course
of the war, and then to no purpose.

The Germans came within sight of victory after Jutland,
not because they won the battle, but because they recog-
nized that there was nothing to gain by repeating it
Henceforth they neglected their battlefleet and increased
the submarine attacks on shipping. Here was the jugular
vein of the British empire. Ships and all they brought began
to run short. Requisitioning of ships was no solution. This
worked only where the government had a monopoly of the
article moved, as with the armed forces, sugar, and - from
October 1916 — wheat.® Otherwise it merely pushed up the
freight on ships not requisitioned. The shipowners, though

1. 250 ships were present at Jutland, and 25 admirals.

2. The British lost 3 battlecruisers, 3 armoured cruisers, and 8 des-
troyers; the Germans 1 battleship, 1 battlecruiser, 4 light cruisers, and
5 destroyers. British designers had not allowed for the fact that, in
battles fought at long range, shells would fall from above. They had
armoured the sides of the vessels, not the decks. They had also failed
to guard against sparks in mid-air, which would flash down the hoists
and explode the ammunition.

3. Wheat, like sugar, was bought by an autonomous Royal Com-
mission.
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DEMAND FOR CONTROLS

making fantastic profits, were also patriotic men. They
wanted government direction and control; in practical
terms, the licensing of imports. Much more followed though
the shipowners did not say so. Licensing of imports meant
in its turn rationing more or less directly: the controlled
distribution of raw materials to industry and of food to in-
dividual consumers. This again implied control of home
production, particularly of agriculture, that most obstinately
anarchic of industries. On top of this, all British economic
life had to be transformed in order to provide more men
and more capital for the making of munitions. Here was a
terrifying prospect: an economic revolution to be carried
out helter-skelter in the midst of war, with little accurate
information, no previous experience, and no trained admin-
istrators. The political implications were also alarming.
Controlled economy challenged the Liberal system of free
enterprise which had made England prosper ever since the
repeal of the Corn Laws.

This challenge had already been dimly on the horizon
when the Coalition government was formed in May 1915.
To meet it, Asquith had left all the key positions in
Liberal hands. The Liberal champions did not fail. Runci-
man, himself a great shipowner, remained adamant in
helplessness. In November 1916 he submitted to the govern-
ment a report which Addison? called ‘the most invertebrate
and hopeless of any memoranda presented to the Govern-
ment during the war by a responsible head of a department
on a great issue’.2 According to Runciman, shipping losses
must inevitably bring Great Britain to collapse by the
summer of 1917. He drew no conclusion from this, nor could
he do so. His economic principles ruled out licensing or

1. Christopher Addison (1869-1951): educated Harrogate and Lon-
don; minister of munitions, 1916-17; minister of reconstruction, 1917~
19; president of local government board and first minister of health,
1919—21; minister of agriculture, 1930-31; commonwealth secretary,
1945-7; lord privy seal, 1947-51; the only doctor of medicine since
the second duke of Montagu (d. 1759) to receive the Garter; created
Baron, 1937, Viscount, 1045.

2. Addison, Politics from Within, ii. 10.
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control. Yet he, like most Liberals, was tied to the war by
the fact that the Liberals had been in power when it
started, and the closer Liberals were to Asquith, the more
they were tied. Law might fear that the Liberals would turn
against the war, if driven from office, and other Conserva-
tives might hope it. Asquith remained resolute for war,
though for nothing else - a contradiction which threatened
either him or the country with ruin.

The logical alternative to a controlled economy was peace
by negotiation. Hardly anyone stated this clearly or even
realized it. Churchill was almost alone when he preached
‘war socialism’ from the backbenches.! On the other side,
the small group associated with the U.D.C. advocated a
negotiated peace for its own sake, and their views reached
a wider audience through the LL.P. The LL.P. sympathized
with the efforts being made in Switzerland to revive the
Socialist International, and its delegates would have at-
tended the meetings at Zimmerwald and Kienthal, if the
government had not refused them passports.2 The Labour
party, however, remained resolute for the war; yet, regard-
ing war socialism as synonymous with industrial conscrip-
tion, imagined that it was on Asquith’s side — Henderson,
its leader, describing him as ‘the indispensable man’. The
strongest support for a negotiated peace came from with-
in the government, though few people knew this at the
time. In November 1916 Lansdowne circulated a paper to
the cabinet, in which he arglied that the war would destroy
civilization and that therefore peace should be made on
the basis of the status quo ante bellum. This proposal, which
would in any case have been rudely rejected by the Ger-
mans,? received rough treatment from other Unionists -

1. In the house of commons on 22 August 1916.

2. Among European countries, only Russia and Turkey required
passports for entry before 1914. The requirement then became general
and was not got rid of afterwards.

3. It is now known that the minimum German terms, favoured
even by Bethmann Hollweg the Chancellor, included German acquisi-
tion of the Longwy-Briey basin from France; military and economic
control over Belgium, including a German garrison at Antwerp; ac-
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Balfour and Robert Cecil. The military leaders were also
contemptuous of it. Haig said that the prospects for 1917
were ‘excellent’. Robertson, when asked whether the war
could be won, replied: ‘Quite frankly, and at the same time
quite respectfully, I can only say I am surprised that the
question should be asked. The idea had not before entered
my head that any member of His Majesty’s Government
had a doubt on the matter”? - fine bulldog stuff, though
hardly the strategical guidance which Robertson was sup-
posed to provide.

War socialism or a negotiated peace were the stark al-
ternatives over which men would have disputed if they
had been conscious of what they were doing. They were
not. To judge from the press,? the attitude of backbenchers,
and by-elections® — and we have little other guide - English
people were almost unanimous in wanting to win the war,
and they wanted it run better, though they did not know
how. Lloyd George had an answer: he could win the war.
He had shown that he could produce munitions. He alone
could manage Labour. Now he claimed the supreme direc-
tion. He proposed a war council of three, with himself in
the chair, which should run the war free from control by
the cabinet. His original target was Robertson, under
whom he groaned at the war office. His target changed as
the crisis developed. He came to demand that Asquith
should be put on the shelf, more or less politely. By a cur-
ious twist, this demand was favoured even by Robertson,
who did not yet appreciate the troubles in store for him
from Lloyd George. Here was a dramatic conflict. On the
quisition of part, or all, of the Belgian Congo; a kingdom of Poland
dependent on Germany; dependent states on the east coast of the
Baltic; and a share of Persia for Germany. Fritz Fischer, Griff nach
der Weltmacht (1961).

1. Duff Cooper, Haig, ii. 9.

2. When the crisis exploded, Lloyd George had on his side every
leading newspaper except the Daily News — the respectable Times,
Manchester Guardian, and Observer, as much as the popular Daily
Mail, Daily Express, and Daily Chronicle.

3. Kennedy Jones, rogue candidate in the spring with the cry ‘Do
It Now’, was returned unopposed as an official Unionist in December.
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one side, Lloyd George, man of the people, supported by
almost the entire nation; on the other, Asquith, supported
by every Cabinet minister, and mighty, as he believed, in
the force of the two party machines.

Lloyd George could not launch the rebellion. It had to
come from outside. Many backbench Unionists had long
been restless against Asquith’s Liberal nvganona. They
were marshalled by Carson, always happiest in rebellion.?
On 8 November Carson almost captured a majority of the
Unionists from Law over an apparently trivial question.?
Law took alarm. He was determined to maintain his leader-
ship of the Unionist party and appreciated now that he
could do this only if he produced a more energetic con-
duct of the war. His adviser, Max Aitken,® drew him
steadily towards Lloyd George, and events drew him still
more strongly. Law, like Lloyd George, did not spring from
the charmed circle of traditional politics; in the last resort
he, too, went with the people. Still, it seemed a terrifying
prospect: two men of humble origin challenging the massed
ranks of the established order.

But Asquith had feet of clay. His supremacy rested on the
artificial silence which the whips imposed on the house of
commons. Now, not only the backbench Unionists were
turning against him. The Irish Nationalists had no interest
in Asquith, and little in British politics, since the failure

1. Carson had resigned from the government in November 1915 as
a protest agamst the failure to aid Serbia.

2. The issue was the disposal of enemy property in ngena Carson
wished to limit the sale to British subjects; the government, true to
Liberal principles, insisted on a free market. Seventy-three Unionists
voted with the government; 65 against. Law, though carrying the
free market, saw to it that only British subjects bought the property.

3. William Maxwell Aitken (1879--1964); Scotch-Canadian by birth
and son of a Presbyterian minister; self-made millionaire; created
Baron Beaverbrook 1917, to his subsequent regret; minister of infor-
mation, 1918; minister of aircraft production, 1940-41; member of
war cabinet, 1940-42; minister of state, 1941; minister of supply, 1941-
2; minister of war production, 1942; lord privy seal, 1943-5. Owner
of Daily Express, Sunday Express, and Evening Standard; the greatest
newspaperman since Northcliffe and also a considerable historian.
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over Home Rule. Labour, though it supported Asquith,
would equally support any other prime minister who could
win the war. Above all, Christopher Addison, Lloyd George’s
only intimate who was in the house of commons, brought
the sensational news that forty-nine Liberal members of
parliament supported Lloyd George unconditionally and
that another eighty would support him if he formed a gov-
ernment. This division in the Liberal party had been long
a-growing. The Liberal leaders associated with Asquith,
were men of excessive refinement - almost too fastidious
for polities in peacctime, let alone at the turning point of a
great war. Lloyd George’s supporters were rougher in origin
and in temperament: mostly Radical nonconformists, and
self-made men in wool or engineering who were doing well
out of the war. None was a banker, merchant, or financial
magnate; none, a Londoner. Theirs was a long-delayed re-
volt of the provinces against London’s political and cultural
dominance: a revolt on behalf of the factories and work-
shops where the war was being won.

On 1 December Lloyd George formally proposed to As-
quith a war council of three with himself in the chair.
Asquith insisted that he himself must preside over the
council and that it must be subordinated to the cabinet.
Lloyd George wrote to Law: ‘The life of the country de-
pends on resolute action by you now.” On 3 December Law
met his principal Unionist colleagues, led by the ‘three C’s’
-~ Robert Cecil, Austen Chamberlain,! and Curzon.2 He
told them that he intended to support Lloyd George. The
Unionist leaders were angry at the little troublemaker. They
determined to resign, not in order to support Lloyd George,
but rather to force an end to the conflict one way or the
other. The same afternoon Law gave the Unionists’ decision
to Asquith. Perhaps he did not make its meaning clear.

. Austen Chamberlain (1863-1937): educated Rugby and Cam-
bridge; secretary for India, 1915-17; member of war cabinet, 1918-
19; chancellor of exchequer, 1919-21; lord privy seal, 1921-2; foreign
sccretary, 1924-9; first lord of admiralty, 1931; Birkenhead said:

‘Austen always played the game and always lost it.’
2. Balfour, the other prominent Unionist, was in bed ill.
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Perhaps Asquith failed to grasp it.! More probably Asquith
was alarmed at the prospect of wholesale resignations. At
any rate, he took the easy way out. He wrote to Lloyd
George, accepting the war council as Lloyd George had
proposed it. The crisis seemed over. To clinch things,
Edwin Montagu,? a Liberal who straddled between Asquith
and Lloyd George, persuaded Asquith to inform the press
that the government was about to be reconstructed. This
was an announcement that Lloyd George had won and that
Asquith would become a figurehead.

On 4 December the Liberal ministers, who had hitherto
been kept in the dark, came to Asquith in high indignation.
They demanded a fight. The ‘three C’s’ also indicated that
they were on Asquith’s side. Curzon declared that no
Unionist except Law would join a Lloyd George govern-
ment. As to himself, ‘I would-rather die than serve under
Lloyd George’.? Asquith repented of his weakness the
evening before. He withdrew his agreement to Lloyd
George’s war council.* On 5 December Lloyd George re-

1. It was later made a serious charge against Law that he had
failed to give Asquith the exact words of the Unionists’ decision. If
he had, it is claimed, Asquith would have grasped that they were
against Lloyd George and on his side. Aitken certainly interpreted
the decision in this sense and strongly urged Law not to reveal it. It
is difficult to believe that Law ignored Aitken’s advice. On the other
hand, Law told Donald: ‘Asquith did not like our proposals [i.e. of
resignation] and asked me to consider that the paper had not been
delivered. I, therefore, did not deliver it’. H. A. Tavlor, Robert Donald,
FE Ak .

2. Edwin Montagu (1879-1924): educated City of London and Cam-
bridge; chancellor of duchy of Lancaster, 1916; minister of munitions,
1916; secretary for India, 1917-22; Asquith called him ‘the Assyrian’;
opposed Balfour declaration, though a Jew.

3. Young, Balfour, 371.

4. Asquith used the excuse of a leader in The Times that morning,
which supported Lloyd George. Asquith alleged, and probably be-
lieved, that Lloyd George had inspired the article through Northcliffe.
Actually Dawson, the editor, wrote it independently after a talk with
Carson. Northcliffe had indeed visited Lloyd George on 3 December,
but with quite a different object: to offer Lloyd George a lucrative
contract as a columnist if he left office. Later both men concealed
this. Lloyd George was ashamed at his lack of confidence in thus
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31gned Asquith answered by resigning himself, thus bring-
ing his government to an end. He defied Law or Lloyd
George to form a government: ‘then they will have to come
in on my terms’.* Asquith was not manoeuvred out of office.
He deliberately resigned office as a manoeuvre to rout his
critics. His complaints, when this manoeuvre failed, were
those of an ageing heavyweight, who has been knocked out
bya younger, more agile opponent.

The king, in accordance with constitutional practice, sent
for Law, leader of the second great party. Law would form a
government only if Asquith joined. Asquith refused. Even
a conference at Buckingham Palace, proposed by Arthur
Henderson and summoned by the king, did not move him.
Law, Lloyd George, Balfour - he would serve under none
of them. ‘What is the proposal? That I who have held first
place for eight years should be asked to take a subordinate
position.” Law returned his commission and advised the
king to send for Lloyd George. The king did so. The next
morning, 7 December, Lloyd George met the Labour M.P.s
and the national executive of the Labour party. He said to
them:

Politicians make one fundamental mistake when they have
been in office. They think that the people who are in office, or
who have been in office, are absolutely essential to the Govern-
ment of the country, and that no one else is in the least able to
carry on affairs. Well, we are a nation of 45 millions, and, really,
if we cannot produce at least two or three alternative Cabinets,
we must reallybe what Carlyle once called us—‘a nation of fools’.2

Thus Lloyd George appealed from the ruling classes to ‘the
people’, Labour, speaking for ‘the people’, answered his
call® In wartime the people mattered; and Lloyd George

guarding his financial future; Northcliffe was annoyed at not landing
his fish. Both therefore shammed guilt, where they were in fact inno-
cent.

1. H. A. Taylor, Robert Donald, 121.

2. Beaverbrook, Politicians and the War, ii. 309.

3. The Labour M.P.s were almost solid for Lloyd George. The execu-
tive supported him only by 14 votes to 11.
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was home, once Labour backed him. Law delivered the back-
bench Unionists; Addison had gathered the backbench
Liberals. Yet this government of the people was not com-
posed of backbenchers after all. The Unionist leaders
heard their country’s call, or the call of office, once they saw
that Lloyd George had succeeded. Balfour joined first, won
by a promise of the foreign office. He declared: ‘you put a
pistol at my head’. The ‘three C’’, including Curzon,
yielded later in the day, on condition that neither Churchill
nor Northcliffe was given office and that Haig remained
commander-in-chief. On the other hand, all the prominent
Liberals followed Asquith’s lead, and stayed out! Asquith
in fact, not Lloyd George, pursued a personal vendetta. He
split the Liberal party and riveted on his adherents, how-
ever unwillingly, the appearance of opposing a government
that was fighting the war. On the evening of 7 December
Lloyd George returned to Buckingham Palace, and kissed
hands as prime minister. He was the first son of the people
to rcach supreme power, or, as he put it himself, the first
except Disraeli ‘who had not passed through the Staff
College of the old Universities’.?

Notes

Note A. The partition of Turkey in Asia. Mark Sykes and
Georges Picot, the British and French negotiators, reached a pre-
liminary agreement in January 1916. Broadly, this gave Syria
to France, and Mesopotamia to Great Britain; the British sphere
was to have an outlet on the Mediterranean at Haifa. The Anglo-
French agrcement was conditional on the agreement of Russia.
This was obtained in May 1916 at the price of allotting Turkish
Armenia to Russia. (It is this agreement which is usually, though
wrongly, known as the Sykes-Picot agreement.) There was also a
pledge in the treaty of London to satisfy Italy. The Italians

1. Lloyd George invited Herbert Samuel and Montagu to join his
government. Both refused, Samuel saying that he saw in it ‘no ele-
ment of endurance’. Montagu became secretary for India when Austen
Chamberlain resigned later in 1917.

2. Lloyd George, War Memoirs, iii. 1041. Lloyd George was wrong:
he forgot Wellington. In the forty years since Lloyd George’s time,
the score of the Old Universities v. the rest was 4 all.
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proved obstinate. Agreement with them (wrongly called the
agreement of Saint Jean de Maurienne - the place of an inter-
allied meeting in April 1917) was reached only on 18 August
1917. It marked part of Asia Minor as the Italian sphere. This
agreement began with the words: ‘under reserve of Russian
assent’. No reply came from Russia before the Bolshevik revolu-
tion put an end to allied relations. The British and French there-
fore asserted that the agreement with Italy had lapsed. Was it
the only casualty? Was the agreement of May 1916 still valid,
even though one of the signatories, Russia, had fallen out?
Alternatively, could the original agreement of January 1916 be
resurrected, although it postulated Russian approval? The Brit-
ish and French tended to argue that one or other agreement was
valid - they could not decide which — where it benefited them-
selves, but not where it benefited the other signatory or a third
rty.

pa’.l‘here were further complications. In January 1916 a British
agent, Sir Henry McMahon, vaguely promised the Arab lands of
Turkey to Hussein, Sherif of Mecca, though without indicating
what these lands were. Zionist representatives put in a claim
for Palestine as ‘a national home’ or ‘the national home’ (the
distinction is important), or even as ‘a national state’ for the
Jews. Sir Herbert Samuel supported this claim in the Asquith
cabinet. Grey did so also, less decisively. The British government
did not at all welcome the prospect of the French as neighbours
next door to the Suez Canal. Zionism was a way of keeping them
out. Palestine was chipped out of Syria. It became first an inter-
national, then a British trust. On 2 November 1917 the Balfour
declaration promised ‘a national home’ in Palestine for the
Jews. The French who had expressed vague sympathy with Jew-
ish aspirations, discovered that their promised share of the spoils
had been reduced by half.

NotE B. The proposed Irish settlement, 1916. The Irish Nation-
alists were reluctant to surrender any part of their (apparently)
favourable position, with Home Rule for all Ireland on the
statute book, though suspended for the duration of the war, and
any special treatment of Ulster therefore to be negotiated. They
made two conditions with Lloyd George (i) the Irish mem-
bers should remain at Westminster in undiminished numbers;
(ii) the arrangements should be temporary, strictly for the dura-
tion of the war. Lloyd George agreed, and added this guarantee:
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‘he had placed his life upon the table, and would stand or fall
by the agreement come tc’. Thus assured, Redmond and his
supporters acquiesced in what they supposed to be temporary
partition, i.e. Home Rule for twenty-six counties alone. To
Carson on the other hand, Lloyd George wrote: ‘We must make
it quite clear that at the end of the provisional period Ulster does
not, whether she wills it or not, merge in the rest of Ireland.*
This promise of permanent partition led Carson to renounce
three (Roman Catholic) counties of Ulster, and he persuaded the
Ulster Unionists to renouncz them also. These somewhat con-
tradictory promises would no doubt have caused trouble after
the war, if the Heads of Agreement had been accepted; never-
theless, they were not the cause of breakdown at the time — de-
spite Carson’s statement to the contrary in 1924.

The objection of Lansdowne, and some other Unionists, was
over southern Ireland, not over Ulster. Lansdowne wrote to
Asquith on 28 June: ‘With a Nationalist executive, would it be
possible to deal effectively and promptly with domestic disorder?’
He therefore demanded assurances that the Defence of the
Realm Act should be continued under Home Rule, and that
there should be no amnesty for the Easter rebels. It was impos-
sible to give these assurances without making Home Rule mean-
ingless. Asquith, therefore, tried to weaken Unionist opposition
by reducing concessions elsewhere. Redmond was told (i) that
the exclusion of Ulster from Home Rule must be permanent,
failing new legislation at Westminster; (ii) that Irish represent-
ation at Westminster must be reduced to forty-three. Redmond
refused these conditions. The government offer was then with-
drawn. Lloyd George did not fulfil his promise to resign, plead-
ing that this would merely jeopardize the energetic conduct of
the war (he had just become secretary for war), without helping
Home Rule. All the same, he deservedly got credit for having
nearly succeeded, and Asquith deservedly got the blame for
failure. Addison, a Liberal who later played a decisive part in
making Lloyd George prime minister, wrote: ‘His [Asquith’s]
conduct of this business had more to do with determining the
attitude of many Liberals, including myself, than any other
circumstance.’2

1. Lloyd George, War Memoirs, ii, 703.
2. Addison, Politics from Within, i, 260.
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A NATION AT WAR
1916-18

Lroyp GEoRGE’s accession to power in December 1916 was
more than a change of government. It was a revolution,
British-style. The party magnates and the whips had been
defied. The backbenchers and the newspapers combined in
a sort of unconscious plebiscite and made Lloyd George dic-
tator for the duration of the war. Balfour said: ‘If he wants
to be a dictator, let him be. If he thinks that he can win the
war, I'm all for his having a try.’”* Lloyd George was the
nearest thing England has known to a Napoleon, a supreme
ruler maintaining himself by individual achievement. A
detached observer wrote at the end of the war: ‘The effects
of the change in direction two years ago may be compared
to the substitution of dynamite for a damp squib.”? The
dynamite exploded. There were new departments of state;
new men; new methods of control and regulation; and a
new form of cabinet government. The explosions were
sporadic. Lloyd George was not a man of plan and system.
When faced with a difficulty, he listened to the ideas of
others and saw, in a flash, the solution. He liked to air his
problems in company over the breakfast-table,® feeling his
way with both men and ideas. There was in him a strange
mixture of resolution and timidity. His shirt, as he came to
make a speech, was always wet through from nervous
anxiety. Though Lloyd George often provided leadership of
great moral courage, he trembled before he acted.*

1. Dugdale, Balfour, ii. 170.

2. Sir Almeric Fitzroy, clerk to the privy council, Memoirs, ii. I9I.

3. These breakfasts increased Robertson’s dislike of Lloyd George.
Lloyd George sat long. The habits of a lifetime made Robertson wish

to withdraw at once. Hankey, The Supreme Command, ii. 773.
4. Lloyd George lacked physical courage. The air raids of the first
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At any sign of opposition, he saw a ‘great crisis’ and anti-
cipated that his government might fall. He feared that the
forces which had carried him to power might as easily turn
against him. Public opinion might revolt against heavy
casualties. The Unionist backbenchers, he knew, wanted
more power for the generals, whereas he planned to cut
them down. His enemies ranged, or so he supposed, from
Northcliffe to the king.! Lloyd George stood alone against
the best-entrenched governing class in Europe. He did not
lead a party. Though Coalition Liberal whips were ap-
pointed, they were never clear who their whip should go
to.2 He had no friends and did not deserve any. He repaid
loyalty with disloyalty, as Churchill and Addison experi-
enced.® He was surrounded by dependants and sycophants,
whom he rewarded lavishly and threw aside when they
had served their turn. His rule was dynamic and sordid at
the same time. Its spirit was expressed in the popular catch:

Lloyd George knew my father.
My father knew Lloyd George.

He himself gave hostages to fortune (never in fact im-
pounded) by the irregularity of his private life. He was the
first prime minister since Walpole to leave office flagrantly
richer than he entered 1t, the first since the Duke of Graf-
ton to live openly with his mistress. Essentially his devious

war, and still more those of the second, terrified him, and he rarely
spent a night in London.

1. On New Year’s Day 1917 the king made Haig a field marshal, as
a gesture against Lloyd George.

2. One hundred Liberals revealed themselves as against Lloyd
George in the vote after the Maurice debate. It by no means followed
that the remaining 170 were for him. In November 1918 the Coalition
Liberal whips claimed to have 150 followers. See below, p. 172.

3. Churchill stood unflinchingly by Lloyd George in 1913 at the
time of the Marconi scandal. Lloyd George allowed Churchill to be
saddled with-all the blame for Gallipoli and said (quite untruly):
‘Churchill is the man who brought Turkey into the war against us.’

Addison helped to make Lloyd George prime minister. After the
war Lloyd George offered him as scapegoat when there was an outcry
against ‘homes for heroes’.

110




h

THE WAR CABINET

methods sprang from his nature. He could do things no
other way. He defined these methods in a classic sentence:
‘I never believed in costly frontal attacks either in war or
politics, if there were a way round’.* Though Lloyd George
became ‘the Big Beast of the Forest’, he remained also ‘the
Goat’.

On the issue which had brought Asquith down, Lloyd
George did not hesitate. War committee and historic cab-
inet alike were swept away. Lloyd George’s war cabinet
was a committee of public safety, exercising supreme com-
mand under his direction. It had only five members,? chosen
- in theory at any rate - for their executive ability, not be-
cause of the offices they held or to satisfy the balance of
parties. Only Law had departmental duties, as chancellor
of the exchequer. Henderson spoke for ‘Labour’. Curzon
and Milner® did the steady routine work. There was little
division of functions. Any one of the five — though Law, be-
cause of his commitments in the house of commons, less
than the others - would explore a topic from labour unrest
to the future of the air force, and bring it to the war cab-
inet for decision. Other ministers were summoned to attend
individually when questions affecting their department
were discussed. Balfour, the foreign secretary, perhaps

1. Lloyd George, War Memoirs, iv. 2274.

2. Later six and, for a few months, seven.

3. Milner received his summons to attend the war cabinet only one
hour before its first meeting on 9 December. His appointment, though
apparently an afterthought, was characteristic of Lloyd George. Car-
son, the third member of the rebel group, had the obvious claim, but,
as Lloyd George put it, ‘whether in or out of office ... he was always
“agin the Government” for the time being’. Milner, to quote Lloyd
George again, ‘carried great weight with the Tory intelligentsia and
Diehards (not by any means identical groups)’; he was the favourite
of the generals and, at this time, of Northcliffe. He was eager to
exert his abilities after years of exclusion and, once appointed, grati-
tude made him loyal. Indeed, he soon became Lloyd George’s most
stalwart supporter against the generals and shouldered without hesi-
tation the most dangerous tasks.

The juxtaposition of Curzon and Milner in the war cabinet had its
piquant side. Curzon was the lover of Elinor Glyn, the romantic
novelist. Milner was her devoted admirer and improved her prose.
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spoke with some-independent authority on foreign affairs.
The holders of the other great historic offices merely re-
ceived their marching orders. Where the old cabinet had
met once a week or so and had kept no record of its pro-
ceedings, the war cabinet met practically every day - 300
times in 1917 — and Hankey, brought over from the com-
mittee of imperial defence and its successors, organized an
efficient secretariat. He prepared agenda; kept minutes;
and ensured afterwards that the decisions were operated by
the department concerned. Hankey was also tempted to
exceed his functions and to initiate proposals, particularly
on strategy, instead of merely recording decisions.

He had some excuse. The war cabinet lacked a staff.
This was its great defect. Essentially it was an instrument
for enforcing the will of the prime minister, and he had
been without a department or expert advisers of his own,
since his office became virtually divorced from the treasury
in the course of the nineteenth century. Lloyd George
attempted to remedy this by creating a private staff, housed
in huts in St James’s Park and known as ‘the Garden Sub-
urb’. He thus came to resemble a president of the United
States, who often relies more on unofficial advisers than on
members of his cabinet. The Garden Suburb stirred the
jealousy of established departments, as it encroached in-
creasingly on their functions, and it was, in the end, a
principal count against Lloyd George. In any case,:it took
some time to get going.

Meanwhile, Lloyd George had to fall back on inspiration
and guile. He had intended to establish his mastery over
the service departments. The result of his revolution was
the exact opposite. The service ministers, being no longer
in the cabinet, became more independent and defiant than
before. Carson, having been denied the war cabinet, went
to the admiralty, where he fiercely championed his pro-
fessional advisers. The war office was even worse. Derby
had been the loyal second of Lloyd George when under-
secretary — the only Unionist to back him from the first. He
became the equally loyal second of Robertson, when ele-
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vated to the post of secretary for war. Robertson regarded
the war cabinet as ‘the enemy’. Lloyd George, in particular,
was ‘a real bad un’. Robertson and, to a lesser extent,
Jellicoe (who became first sea lord in December 1916), com-
pelied the war cabinet to fight the war blindfold.

Resistance was more easily overcome on the civilian side.
The generals were supported by backbench Unionists; the
laissez faire officials at the treasury and the board of trade
only by frontbench Liberals. The problems which had
baffled the Asquith Coalition were faced at last. Five new
departments of state were set up almost overnight — four of
them ‘ministries’: shipping, labour, food, national service,
and food production.! These improvisations created a cur-
ious pattern, with unforeseen results. The new departments
evolved a system of war socialism. The peacetime depart-
ments continued to discharge their old functions, or even
had new functions which they had accumulated, taken
away from them. War and peace ran side by side. Hence, at
the end of the war, the temporary ‘socialist’ departments
could be disbanded, and the old departments emerged in
their prewar innocence. The only new creation intended
to be permanent was the ministry of labour, which took
over labour relations from the board of trade and unem-
ployment insurance from the autonomous commission. Even
here wartime functions were kept separate in the ministry
of national service. So, too, with agriculture: the old board
continued unchanged, and the new department, directing
food production, could be disbanded, as it was, at a mo-
ment’s notice.

The new ministries — and one old one, the board of
trade? — were headed by new men, mostly businessmen

1. Labour, shipping, and food became ministries at once; national
service in March 1917. There was also a ministry of pensions. One
new ministry had been created in Asquith’s time after the ministry
of munitions: the ministry of blockade (February 1916), a more or
less autonomous offshoot from the foreign office under Lord Robert
Cecil, which also took over some functions from the board of trade.
Cecil also continued to act as deputy foreign secretary.

2. Albert Stanley, later Lord Ashfield, became its president. Aitken
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with no political background, certainly of no political im-
portance. They were there to do vital jobs, not to carry on
parliamentary government. One of the most successful,
Maclay, the shipping controller, refused to enter parlia-
ment at all. The new ministers had no theory of ‘planning’
or of anything else. Like the country at large, they entered
war socialism backwards, and were surprised at what they
had done. Though they had almost unlimited powers by
statute, they preferred to enlist the cooperation of producers
and owners, who thus largely ran war socialism themselves
for patriotic motives. Maclay first requisitioned all British
merchant ships and then employed the owners as managers,
a system which they continued to operate even when the
courts ruled that one part of the requisitioning was ultra
vires.r Similarly, the county committees which directed
agriculture were composed of local landowners who rarely
attempted to coerce their neighbours. ‘A strike of farmers
would have brought down the whole machinery of food
control.’? Even the rationing of food, when it came, was
really a voluntary system, operated by the retailers.> The
ration books were little more than symbols with which to
impress the public, and the mountains of ‘coupons’ were
rarely checked before being consigned to the bonfire. The
had hoped to receive this office as reward for his services in bringing
Law and Lloyd George together. Instead he was compelled to become
Baron Beaverbrook so that Stanley could have his seat at Ashton-
under-Lyne.

1. Maclay concluded ‘Heads of Arrangement’ with the owners of
liners, by which they ran liners for the government. This, being a
requisitioning of services not of ships, was held by the courts to be
ultra vires. The victor was the firm of old Liverpool radicals, Alfred
Holt & Son.

2. Lloyd, Experiments in State Control, 288.

3. The ministry of food had intended to ration individuals on the
basis of a central register. This register was far from complete when
social discontent made rationing imperative early in 1918. The minis-
try then used the shopkeepers for want of anything better. Thus ‘the
Ministry made its own and much of Lord Rhondda’s reputation by
putting accidentally into practice one system of rationing while it was
formally engaged in devising a different system’. Beveridge, British
Food Control, 229. )
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most powerful instrument, operated by all these ministries,
was control of prices. This virtually stabilized the cost of
living until after the war. Like all their other instruments,
it depended on cooperation. Prices were fixed on the basis
of ‘cost plus’, and industrialists usually accepted this as a
fair arrangement.

There were many odd features, which caused trouble or
set precedents later. Control of rents, for instance, had been
introduced haphazard in Glasgow in 1915, at a time of labour
discontent. It was made general without any thought of the
problems which this would create in the future. Again, coal
miners - perhaps the most essential element in the com-
munity - resented the owners’ profits, even on the basis of
‘cost plus’. The mines were therefore nationalized for the
duration, though without any attempt to reorganize the
industry or to modernize the pits. Cotton, that other old
staple, saw a paradoxical control to lessen production (and
hence the import of American cotton) at 6o per cent of the
prewar level. Those sections of the industry which remained
in work? paid azlevy to compensate those who did not:
Hence men and women were tempted to remain as unems-
ployed cotton operatives instead of moving to more useful
war work elsewhere. Cotton thus devised, by accident, the
model for planned reduction in the nineteen thirties. Wheat
provided a precedent for an even later period. The war
cabinet early decided that there should be no rationing or
limitation imposed on ‘the staff of life’, and they stuck to
thiseven when cheap flour wasdiverted to the makingofcakes.
People could always buy as much bread as they wished
though with some deterioration in quality,? and the price
of bread was kept stable by subsidy when the cost of wheat

1. The ‘Egyptian’ section remained prosperous, as it did in the nine-
teen thirties, though for a different reason. Plenty of Egyptian cotton
could be brought back in the ships which supplied the army in Palcs-
tine. Later, the section prospered because it produced the finer counts.

2. The extraction rate was raised, which probably improved the
nutritive value. Maize, oats, barley, and potatoes were not, however,

agreeable adulterants. The bread caused a psychological ‘war-indi-
gestion’ — imaginary, but no less painful for that.
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imports rose. The subsidy cost £6o million. From it sprang
all' the subsidies which kept the cost of living stable during
the second World war.

The ‘war socialists’ ran into plenty of difficulties and did
not always overcome them. Devonport, though a great
grocer, was a failure at the ministry of food, appealing to
the public instead of telling them what to do. Rhondda, the
next minister of food, remedied this and issued 500 orders
during his time in office - one for each working day. Neville
Chamberlain' fell into hopeless confusion over national
service; as Lloyd George said, ‘not one of my successful sel-
ections’. Chamberlain tried to work out rules varying for
each individual case. Auckland Geddes, his successor, de-
veloped a schedule of protected occupations and applied a
‘clean cut’ in it - the block release of men according to
age — when this became necessary. Even Maclay had his
troubles. Though he did wonders with the existing stock of
ships, he could build few new ones because of the admiralty’s
insistence on priority. In May 1917 he adroitly turned the
flank of this obstacle by saddling the admiralty with res-
ponsibility for all shipbuilding, mercantile and naval.

These improvements were arrived at hit-and-miss. The
war cabinet gave little direction. It was almost as distracted
as its predecessor by being theoretically responsible for
everything and came to the rescue of a minister only when
he knew how to appeal to it, as Neville Chamberlain, for
example, did not. Lloyd George, not content with being
dictator at home, aspired also to coordinate the policy of
the Allies. His first task, forced on him from outside, was
to define war aims. It was easy to brush off the negotia-
tions proposed by Bethmann Hollweg, the German chan-
cellor. For Bethmann demanded a peace based on German

1. Neville Chamberlain (1869-1940): half-brother of Austen: edu-
cated Rugby and Birmingham; director of national service, 1917;
postmaster general, 1922-3; paymaster general, 1923; minister of
health, 1923, 1924-9, 1931; chancellor of exchequer, 1923—4, 1931-7;
prime minister, 1937-40; lord president of council, 1940. His failure

over national service gave him an enduring hostility towards Lloyd
George, who returned the feeling and called him a ‘pinhead’.
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victories, and Lloyd George was pledged to reverse them. It
was less easy to brush off the mediation offered by Presi-
dent Wilson, however much the Allies resented being put
on a level with the Germans. Terms had to be devised
which would rule out mediation without estranging Wilson.
To please him, the Allies championed ‘self-determination’,
which meant, in practice, the end of the Ottoman empire
and ‘the liberation of the Italians, as also of the Slavs, Rou-
manians, and Czechoslovaks from foreign domination’.? In
this casual way, the British people were committed to re-
drawing the map in both east-central Europe and western
Asia - objects infinitely remote from those with which
they had entered the war, but inescapable once they needed
some great cause. Few knew anything of these distant races,
and still fewer cared. But they regarded the war as a
crusade, or so those who spoke for them supposed, and a
crusade inevitably turned against the Turk and the Habs-
burg.

T%ICSC were still distant problems. The immediate need
was victory, and this could be achieved, Lloyd George
thought, only if the Allies acted as one. Early in 1917 he
attended at Rome the first general conference of the Allies.
Lloyd George wanted a combined offensive on the Italian
front - principally no doubt in order to take the conduct of
the war away from British generals. Cardorna, the Italian
commander-in-chief, refused the doubtful honour. The
Rome conference produced only empty talk. Another open-
ing soon presented itself. In December 1916 Joffre had been
dismissed as French generalissimo. Nivelle, his successor on
the western front, had a fine presence and a reputation in-
flated by some minor successes at Verdun; and spoke good
English. He claimed to have discovered the secret of vic-
tory: a dramatic surprise, followed by ‘the rupture of the

1. The British and French intended to specify ‘South Slavs’. The
Italians coveted territory inhabited by South Slavs, and objected.
‘Czechoslovaks’ were therefore stuck in to make the list look more
concrete, and without any realization that it involved the destruction
of the Habsburg monarchy.
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front’. It would all be over in 48 hours; decisive victory and
no great casualties. Lloyd George, though impressed, hesi-
tated. Nivelle came to London. Haig and Robertson acqui-
esced in his plan, less from belief in it, than because at
least it ensured the primacy of the western front. The war
cabinet agreed. Lloyd George, once committed, went in
without reserve. He always had a curious faith in French
generals, though none in British. On 26 February, by means
even more conspiratorial than usual, Lloyd George placed
Nivelle in supreme command over the British armies in
France.! This was an odd outcome for the upheaval of
December 1916. Lloyd George, the ‘easterner’, had swal-
lowed Nivelle’s strategical direction more credulously than
Kitchener ever accepted Joffre’s and was now forcing an
offensive in France on his reluctant generals.

Nivelle’s offensive, if there were any sense in it, de-
pended on swift action. Instead there were wrangles and
delays. The Germans observed the elaborate preparations
and forestalled attack by withdrawing to a shorter, heavily
fortified ‘Hindenburg line’, on which they had been work-
ing throughout the winter. The British generals turned
against Nivelle’s operation, once they realized that it inter-
fered with their own plans. All the French generals were
against it except Nivelle himself. The French ministers lost
what faith in him they originally had. Nivelle could hardly
have got his way without Lloyd George’s relentless backing.
The preliminary British offensive, known as the battle of
Arras (9-14 April), had one success to show: the taking of

1. On 19 February Lloyd George asked Nivelle, through a French
military attaché in London, to devise a directive, subordinating Haig
to himself. On 24 February the war cabinet approved this directive,
Robertson having been told that he need not attend as nothing im-
portant was to be discussed. On 26 February an Anglo-French con-
fercnce was held at Calais, ostensibly to discuss railway transport in
north France. Nivelle produced the directive. Lloyd George pretended
to be surprised, and accepted it. Robertson threatened to resign. Haig
appealed to the king. The directive was limited to the coming offen-
sive, and Haig was given the right to appeal to his government - a
right which he exercised. Military Operations: France and Belgium,
1917, i. 536-8.

118



NIVELLE’S OFFENSIVE

Vimy ridge by the Canadians. British casualties were nearly
twice those of the Germans,! and the great problem re-
mained unsolved: new defensive positions were improvised
faster than the attackers could plod forward on their two
feet. Nor were the Germans diverted by any threat at Arras

from their precautions against Nivelle. His offensive on the
Aisne, delayed until mid-April, was almost as great a fail-
ure as joffre’s offensives had been. The Germans were un-
shaken. No strategical gain was made. The French armies
were brought to the verge of mutiny, and in many cases over
it. Nivelle was dismissed in May.? The cautious Pétain took
his place. Nivelle left two grievous legacies. The French
armies were incapable of any further offensive in 1917;
Haig and Robertson were vindicated in their opposition to
Lloyd George’s project of a supreme command.

He, meanwhile, was projecting a supreme command in
other ways. The Canadians at Vimy ridge were evidence
of the manifold contributions which the Dominions were
making to the war. There was a Canadian army corps in
France; New Zealanders and Australians in the Near
East and in France. The South Africans conducted most
of the campaign against the Germans in East Africa. The
hopes of English imperialists revived. Imperial unity was
being demonstrated on the battleficlds; Milner, its apostle,
was in the war cabinet; the McKenna duties had breached
Free Trade. Hard-headed Unionists, who disliked a war
for remote ideals, embraced the economic imperialism of
which Marxists had long accused them. They wanted to
prolong the war into peacetime and to turn the ‘undeveloped
estate’ of the Empire into a closed economic system, with
Great Britain monopolizing its supplies of raw materials.
Lloyd George took the lead, though principally with the
hope of using imperial sentiment against the gencrals. In
March 1917 the prime ministers of the Dominions? gathered

1. British: 142,000. German: 85,000.

2. Nivelle was one of the few generals who did not write his mem-
oirs after the first World war. He died in 1924.

3- Hughes of Australia was delayed until April. Botha of South
Africa was represented by Smuts, his minister of defence.
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for a meeting of the Imperial War Cabinet in London.
Lloyd George, the old pro-Boer, thus fulfilled the dreams
of Joseph Chamberlain, or so it appeared.

The reality was different. Lloyd George had intended the
imperial war cabinet to be an executive for the Empire.
The prime ministers of the Dominions insisted that they
were responsible exclusively to their own governments. In
their eyes, the British empire was already an association of
sovereign states, and the imperial war cabinet was no more
than a diplomatic conference of intimates. The one tribute
to unity was that prime ministers were invited, when
available, to each other’s cabinets; and this was more hon-
orary than effective. It is unlikely that Borden of Canada
contributed much to British deliberations, or Hughes of
Australia to Canadian. Smuts* was the one exception. Lloyd
George seized on a general who was also, as a Boer, pre-
sumably a good Radical, and persuaded Smuts to remain
in England as a member of the war cabinet. Smuts was a
unique case: the only full cabinet minister of modern times
to have no connexion with either house of parliament. As
a weapon against the generals, Smuts did not come up to
expectations. Professional loyalty worked even with a for-
mer rebel, and Smuts became the champion of British
generals whom he had once beaten in the field.

The imperial war cabinet had another significance, preg-
nant for the future. The Dominions had excluded India
from previous imperial conferences, as a mere dependency
of the crown. Indeed, the Indian empire, directed by the
secretary for India, had been entirely distinct from the
British Empire, which was in the care of the colonial secre-
tary. Now half a million Indians were fighting on the British
side, and more men were killed from India than from any

1. Jan Christian Smuts (1870-1950): Boer general, British field mar-
shal; South African minister of defence, 1910-19; prime minister of
South Africa, 1919—29, 1939-48; member of war cabinet, 1917-19;
chancellor of Cambridge university, 1948-50. Smuts had a high
opinion of his military gifts and, in 1918, wished Lloyd George to
propose him as commander-in-chief of the American armies in
France.
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Dominion. A pretence, at any rate, had to be made that
India had a say in affairs. India was therefore represented
at the imperial war cabinet, though only by the secretary
of state and three assessors — one a representative of the
native princes. Still, this was a grudging admission that
India was outgrowing the trammels of British autocracy,
and that she, too, must become a Dominion, autonomous
or even, if she wished, independent. The line ran, after long
delays, from the imperial war cabinet of 1917 to the British
withdrawal from India thirty years later.

Lloyd George also returned to the problem of Ireland
which he had so nearly settled the year before, though his
aim now was more to satisfy American and Dominions
opinion than to find a solution. He offered Redmond the
previous bargain: immediate Home Rule for twenty-six
counties, and a final settlement after the war. Redmond re-
fused to tread this worn path again. The republican party
of Sinn Fein was now winning every by-election in southern
Ireland, and Redmond dared not compromise. Smuts, in
his first contribution to British politics, proposed a conven-
tion on the South African model, at which the Irish should
settle things for themselves. Lloyd George and Redmond

‘agreed. The men interned or imprisoned after the Easter

rebellion were released. For nearly a year there was peace
in Ireland. The convention duly deliberated in Dublin,
though Sinn Fein refused to attend. The more distant pros-
pect was still misty, and Lloyd George did not help to clear
it. Though he promised to back the proposals of the con-
vention if there were ‘substantial agreement’, he privately
assured Carson that nothing would be done without Ulster’s
consent; and Ulster, strong in this assurance, rejected any
solution in advance. The convention bought time; it could
not bring settlement.

Lloyd George had reason to tread warily with Carson over
Ireland, for naval affairs had already brought them to odds.
On 1 February 1917 the Germans renewed unrestricted sub-
marine warfare, with more submarines. This time more
was heard from Washington than the rattle of President
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Wilson’s typewriter. In February Wilson broke off relations
with Germany. In April the United States declared war on
Germany and entered the war as an ‘Associated Power’.!
The Germans were confident that they could bring Great
Britain to collapse before American action became effec-
tive, if it ever did. They nearly succeeded. The number
of ships sunk by U-boats rose catastrophically. In April
1917 one ship out of four leaving British ports never re-
turned. That month nearly a million tons of shipping were
sunk, two thirds of it British. New building could replace
only one ton in ten. Neutral ships refused cargoes for
British ports. The British reserve of wheat dwindled to
six weeks” supply. Even more menacing was the almost
complete interruption in the supply of pit props from Nor-
way, with the inevitable consequence that the coal industry
itself must soon stop.?

There seemed no effective measure of defence. Jellicoe
was helpless: ‘there is absolutely no solution that we can
see’. Carson was resolutely helpless along with him. Lloyd
George thrashed around for other advice. A junior officer,
Commander Kenworthy,® was smuggled into 10 Downing
Street by Northcliffe late at night through the garden door,
Lloyd George asking: ‘Now tell me who are the good men.
I want to use any men with brains.’”* The men with brains,
Hankey among them, urged convoy. Coal convoys were
already working successfully to the ports of western France.
The Grand Fleet never moved without convoy. Yet the ad-
miralty remained adamant. Merchant captains, they argued,
could not keep station,® the convoys would only offer a

1. The last push was given by a German offer to Mexico of an
offensive alliance against the United States. The British intelligence
service had broken the German code and passed ‘the Zimmermann
telegram’ to the Americans.

2. The timber shortage led to the creation of a Forestry Commuis-
sion, which was to ensure supplies of homegrown timber for the
future.

3. Later a Radical, and then a Labour, member of parliament.

4. Kenworthy, Soldiers, Statesmen - and Others, 70.

5. The admiralty even arranged a mceting of merchant captains to
declare their incapacity.
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larger target to U-boats; 2,500 vessels entered and left
British ports each week - an impossible number to convoy.

On 25 April Lloyd George secured the backing of the war
cabinet for ‘peremptory action’. On 30 April he went to
the admiralty, escorted by Curzon,! and took command -
the only occasion in British history when a prime minister
has directed a great department of state in the teeth of the
minister responsible for it. The board of admiralty acknow-
ledged defeat and produced a scheme for convoy, which
they claimed to have prepared on 26 April. This was a face-
saving device. Convoys were due to Lloyd George alone, his
most decisive achicvement of the war. The first convoy left
Gibraltar on 10 May. Soon convoys, at different speeds, were
organized from Canadian and American ports. By the end
of the war 8o per cent of shipping to British ports came in
convoy. The official naval history states frankly: ‘the chief
objections urged against the system before it was tried had
one and all proved to be unfounded’.?

The merchant captains kept station without difficulty. A
convoy of a hundred ships offered a single, strongly de-
fended target in place of a hundred defenceless targets
when ships were sailing unescorted. The number of ships
requiring convoy turned out to be 140 each week, not
2,500.2 Less than 1 per cent of the ships convoyed were lost
from all causes.* By the end of 1917 British and American
yards were almost replacing ships lost; by the middle of
1918 they were building more ships than were being sunk.
The strain was still great. Many ships not in convoy were
still sunk, particularly in the Mediterranean - a high price
for the imperial side shows. Still, convoy enabled Great

1. Law, alrcady apprehensive of conflict with Carson over Home
Rule, declined the dangerous post of honour.
2. Naval Operations, v. 141.
3. The admiralty had included coastal shipping, and even the Solent
ferries in their original figure.
4. 154 ships out of 16,657 convoyed to or from this country; 456
out of 88,000 convoyed overall (including the Mediterranean and

American shipping to France). 25 per cent were lost before convoys
started.
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Britain to survive and to win the war. Yet men of high pro-
fessional competence and integrity had faced disaster
rather than try something new and, as it turned out, suc-
cessful - a parable illustrating the obstinacy of Great
Britain’s traditional rulers in many spheres.

Lloyd George still shrank from dislodging Carson, des-
pite this great stroke. Carson was not moved from the
admiralty until July, and then only by the subterfuge of
clevating him to the war cabinet, where he proyed useless.
Though Eric Geddes? - Lloyd George’s best find In the busi-
ness world — became first lord, he was saddled with Jellicoe
until the end of the year, when Jellicoe’s dismissal brought
Carson’s final resignation along with it. In these circum-
stances Lloyd George dared not risk a conflict with the
generals as well, particularly as Haig - a master at un-

loading embarrassing friends — supported Lloyd George

agamst ]elhcoe Yet conflict or agreement with the generals
was imperative. The failure of Nivelle’s offensive left
Haig free to determine his own strategy regardless of the
French,? and he was eager to take up the project which he
had cherished since he became commander-in-chief: a
great offensive in Flanders. Here, he believed, he could
win the war — with the added attraction of doing so before

1. Eric Campbell Geddes (1875-1937): educated Merchiston and
Edinburgh; general manager designate of North Eastern Railway;
made a major-general when he directed railway transport in France,
and an admiral when he organized naval supply; first lord of
admiralty, 1917-19; member of war cabinet, 1919; minister of
transport, 1919-22; subsequently chairman of Dunlop Rubber Co.

2. Many years later Haig and his apologists invented the story that
Pétain had appealed for a British offensive in order to distract the
Germans from the mutinous French army. The story has no contem-
porary foundation. The French mutinies occurred in May. Discipline
had been restored long before the British offensive started. During
the autumn the French, though anxious to wait for the Americans
before resuming large-scale attacks, actually made more substantial
gains than the British. There is no evidence that the Germans pro-
jected an offensive on the western front in 1917, and much that
they did not. At the time Haig was lured on by promises of French
support — promises which Pétain did not fulfil. John Terraine,
Douglas Haig, 363.
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the Americans arrived. The British forces would break
out of the salient at Ypres, reach the Belgian coast, and then
roll up the entire German front. The official history suggests
that Haig’s plan ‘may seem super-opnmistic and too far-
reaching, even fantastic’.? It was no doubt impressive as
grand strategy and looked fine on the map. In fact every-
thing was right about Haig’s plan except the first step. He
had devised no solution for the initial ‘break out’ and, as
well, had chosen a field of operations where the pre-
liminary bombardment churned the Flanders plain into
impassable mud. None of Haig’s subordinates expected de-
cisive success. Nor did Robertson. But he could think of
nothing better and was anxious to prevent the diversion of
British resources from the western front. At any rate, the
offensive would kill Germans.

Lloyd George was determined not to be responsible for
another Somme. The war cabinet examined Haig closcly.
He radiated confidence. Robertson concealed his own
doubts from the cabinet, thus failing in his duty as chief
adviser on strategy. Smuts supported Haig,-and Curzon, as
usual, went irresolutely with what appeared to be the
stronger side. Law reported that the house of commons
would not tolerate interference with the-military leaders.
Only Milner, once the darling of the generals, stood by
Lloyd George. Men who had promised to win the war found
it hard to resist a general who insisted that he could win it.
Besides, the war cabinet had many other things to do. They
could not go on arguing with Haig day after day. He wore
them down. They implored him to think again and, when
he refused, gave in. On 25 July they sent him their whole-
hearted support.

On 31 July Haig launched what is officially called the
third battle of Ypres; popularly, from its final episode,
Passchendaele; and, most truly, by Lloyd George, the battle
of the mud. Everything went wrong. The drainage system
of Flanders broke down, as had been foretold. To make
matters worse, it was the rainiest August for many years.

1. Military Operations: France and Belgium, 1917, 101.
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Men struggled forward up to their waists in mud. The guns
sank in the mud. The tanks could not be used. Haig had
declared his intention to stop the offensive if the first attack
failed. He did not do so. The futile struggle went on for
three months. The British advanced, in all, four miles. This
made their salient more precarious than before, and they
evacuated it without fighting when the Germans took the
offensive in March 1918. Three British soldiers were killed
for every two German. The loss of officers was still worse -
more than three to one.! No doubt the morale of the Ger-
man army was shaken by Passchendaele. It is unlikely that
the morale of the British army was much improved.

The campaign in France was not quite over. The new
Tank Corps had been useless in the mud of Flanders. Be-
latedly, Haig allowed it a chance to show what it could do
elsewhere. The tank commanders chose a section of the
front further south on high, hard ground. On 20 November
381 massed tanks broke through the German defences in
front of Cambrai and reached open country. Bells to cele-
brate victory were rung in London for the only time during
the first World war. The rejoicing was premature. No pre-
parations had been made to exploit the success. There
were no infantry reserves with which to consolidate the
opening. Ten days later the Germans recovered all the

1. The official British statistics, published in 1922, gave British
casualties in the Flanders offensive as 324,000. The comparable
German figure was given in the British return as 202,000. This was
slightly better than on the Somme, where, according to the same
source, the British lost 420,000 against 280,000 Germans. The volume
of the official history, published in 1948, revised the figures drasti-
cally. British losses now appeared as 244,897. The German figures
were recalculated and shown to be ‘about 400,000’. Captain Falls, who
worked with General Edmonds on the official history, does not
accept this revision altogether and puts the German losses at 240,000
(First World War, 285). The ‘revision’ is more easily understood if it
is remembered that Lloyd George had meanwhile attacked Haig in his
War Memoirs. A polemic against the greatest prime minister of the
century was thus conducted in an official history, published under the
authority of the cabinet office. Yet ‘unofficial’ historians are denied
access to cabinet papers, for fear that they would turn their inform-
ation to improper use,
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ground they had lost and a bit more into the bargain. Smuts
made an inquiry into the failure for the war cabinet. He
reported that ‘no one down to and including the corps com-
manders was to blame’. The fault lay entirely with ‘the
junior officers and N.C.O.s and men’! These complacent
conclusions were wisely kept from the public. They would
have done little to allay the rising discontent.

Nineteen-seventeen was for civilians the worst year of the
war. Laissez faire had broken down. The new controls were
only beginning to work. Food and fuel were running short;
trains were slow and crowded; the queue became a charac-
teristic British institution, despite its foreign name. Somc
ministers wished to silence the discontent by industrial con-
scription. Lloyd George, more wisely, set up cight regional
commissions of i 1nqu1ry, and these reported that the discon-
tent had solid economic causes. There followed a gcneral
increase of wages in all government work, while prices re-
mained rigorously controlled. As a result, wages, which had
lagged behind the cost of living in the first two years of the
war, now rose beyond it, and the prewar level of real wages
was almost reached before the war ended. The poor, in fact,
were no longer carrying the burden of the war alone. At
the same time, with markedly less to buy, genuine savings
increased, and government borrowing came from these
savings instcad of coming, as it did earlier, from new money
created by the banks. National Savmgs were invented to
attract the humble man, and the Savings campaign gave
demagogues something to do just when they lost thcxr
old occupation on the recruiting platform. National Savings
were the only new element in public finance introduced by
Law, while chancellor of the exchequer - unless we count his
abolition of the penny post in 1918. Law considered what
the house of commons would stand, not what financial needs
demanded, and it was no thanks to him that British finances
were not worse after the war.

Economic discontent slipped easily into political protest.
Shop stewards, agitating over wages or dilution, also en-
1. Military Operations: France and Belgium, 1917, iii. 296.

127



A NATION AT WAR, 1916-18

dorsed the criticisms of foreign policy made by the Union of
Democratic Control. In March 1917 the Russian revolution
added to the political stir. The tsar was overthrown, and
Russia became, in theory at any rate, a democratic republic.
Though all the Russian parties except the extreme socialists
or ‘Bolsheviks’ were ready to continue the war against Ger-
many, they would fight only for an idealistic cause, and pro-
posed a peace with ‘no annexations and no indemnities’.
This seemed to imply that others, including the British and
French governments, were seeking annexations and indem-
nities — as indeed they were. It was easy to allege that the war
was dragging on for the sake of Alsace and Lorraine or
the spoils of Turkey-in-Asia. In England opponents of the
war found a new vigour and divided the house of com-
mons three times during the year in favour of peace by nego-
tiation.! The Independent Labour party and the British
Socialist party, which was avowedly Marxist, set up a United
Socialist Council - first taste of the Popular Front, though
by no means the last, and in June this body summoned a
convention at Leeds to inaugurate the British revolution.
Eleven hundred delegates attended, among them men
usually moderate such as MacDonald and Snowden.? The
convention endorsed the Russian peace programme and
instructed the British government to do likewise. It also
called for the setting up of workers’ and soldiers’ councils,
or, to give them their Russian name, Soviets. It was the first
breath in England of the Bolshevik wind.

The Leeds convention assembled only those already criti-
cal of the war. The effects of the Russian revolution soon
cut deeper into the Labour movement. In May Henderson
went to Russia on behalf of the war cabinet. He came home
convinced that, in order to keep the Russian people in the

1. The support was not impressive. Thirty-two M.P.s voted in favour
of the Russian peace programme on 16 May; 19 in favour of the
(German) Reichstag peace resolution on 26 July; 18 in support of the
Stockholm conference on 16 August.

2. Philip Snowden (1864-1937): educated elementary school; pro-

minent member of I.L.P.; chancellor of exchequer, 1924, 1929-31; lord
privy seal, 1931-2; created Viscount, 193T.
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war, the British Labour party, too, should accept the Russian
peace programme and should send delegates to a confer-
ence of all socialist parties — allied, neutral, and enemy -
which was being promoted at Stockholm. The war cabinet
did not like this proposal. Lloyd George first agreed; then,
to please the French government,! retracted. Henderson re-
mained unshaken. He carried the Labour party conference
in favour of sending delegates to Stockholm, though none
actually went - the seamen refused to carry them. Hender-
son had to resign from the war cabinet, after being kept ‘on
the mat’ while his colleagues discussed, and condemned,
his behaviour. George Barnes,? a former leader of the party,
took Henderson’s place in the war cabinet; the other Labour
ministers remained in office.

Lloyd George attached little importance to the incident.
He imagined that Barnes, by entering the war cabinet, had
automatically been made Labour leader, much as the king
made a politician leader of his party by appointing him
prime minister. Nothing of the kind. Henderson re-
mained the Labour leader, and he had learnt his lesson.
Never again, he declared, would he join a government in
which Labour did not predominate. From this moment,
‘Lib-Lab’ was dead. Under Henderson’s guidance, Labour
set out to be a national party instead of an interest group,
aiming at an independent majority and running candidates
nearly everywhere in the country. Constituency organiza-
tions needed individual members of the party where trade
unions were weak, and it now became possible to join the
Labour party directly for the first time. This, in turn, de-
manded a clear party programme. It was drafted by Sidney

1. The French government feared an uncontrollable movement in
France against the war, if French and German socialists, were allowed
to meet.

2. George Nicoll Barnes (1859-1940): educated elementary school;
sometime general secretary of Amalgamated Society of Engineers;
leader of Labour party, 1910-11; member of war cabinet, 1917-19;
minister without portfolio, 1919-20; resigned from Labour party, 1918;
left public life after conclusion of the peace treaties.
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Webb, the Fabian,! and appealed to ‘the producers by hand
and by brain’. Inevitably, the programme had a socialist
ring, demanding ‘common ownership of the means of pro-
duction.’? A national party needed also its own foreign
policy, and where could it turn to for ideas? Only to the
Union of Democratic Control which had been preaching an
alternative foreign policy ever since the outbreak of war. In
practical terms, this meant the return of MacDonald as
Henderson’s partner, or even as unacknowledged leader.
The new Labour party, with its national organization and
socialist programme, threatened both Liberals and extrem-
ists. On the one hand, Labour offered a new party of the
Left, not associated with past failures and free from the
Liberal trammels with the privileged classes. Labour found
new causes for ‘the people’, just when the traditional Liberal
issues of Home Rule, Free Trade, and non-sectarian educa-
tion no longer made hearts beat faster. In particular,
Radical critics of conventional foreign policy, such as
Charles Trevelyan, swarmed into the Labour party, without
reflecting on the socialism to which they were also being
committed. At the same time, the Labour party - being still
financed by the trade unions and largely controlled by
them® - was a barrier against extremism, just when this
extremism was receiving new stimulus from the Russian

revolution.
It is not surprising that Lenin saw in MacDonald and

1. Sidney Webb (1859-1947): educated City of London College;
president of board of trade, 1924; colonial secretary, 1929-31; created
Baron Passfield, 1929; his wife insisted on remaining Mrs Beatrice
Webb; the ashes of both were interred in Westminster Abbey.

2. It is often said that Webb wrote Fabianism into the Labour
programme, Labour and the New Social Order. This is not so. He
merely pieced together resolutions from previous annual conferences
of the party. :

3. The unions still had a majority on the national executive of the
party, though the constituency organizations were now represented
as well as the affiliated societies (L.L.P., Fabians, and B.S.P.). Curi-
ously, the one disqualification for membership of the Labour national
executive was (and still is) to be a member of the T.U.C. General
Council.
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Henderson the rocks on which European Communism
foundered. Nor was it only the Communist party, yet un-
born, which was thwarted by Henderson’s new model.
Ultimately the LL.P., too, was ruined. Socialists could now
join the Labour party as individual members. They no
longer needed the LL.P. as intermediary, and it became a
diminishing sect. Labour, with its loose federal organization,
had room for all sorts and sizes from cautious trade unionists
without a creed to revolutionary shop stewards or middle-
class idealists — on condition that they observed certain
broad limits of ‘loyalty’. Many were tempted to break away.
They were restrained, or their revolt was rendered futile, by
the fact that only the Labour party could tap the flow
of funds from the ‘political levy’. This, in the last resort, sus-
tained the Labour party as decisively as subscriptions from
the dukes had once sustained the Whigs.?

The threat from Labour lay in the future. At the moment
Lloyd George feared only the ‘Squiffites’? - the followers of
Asquith, now seated on the Opposition benches. Asquith
claimed to be giving the government independent support,
as Law had done for the Liberals in the first nine months of
the war. There was a difference. Law had sustained the
Liberal government against his own backbenchers; Asquith
hoped to turn the Lloyd George government out, so far as he
hoped for anything. Yet Asquith, as leader of the Op-
position, proved a godsend to Lloyd George. It only needed
the question - Asquith or Lloyd George as prime minister?
- and the most discontented Unionists cowered into silence.
Asquith could not even reunite the Liberals. After all, what
could he reunite them on except his divine right to be prime
minister for cver? The old dispute between laissez faire
and controlled economy had been settled by events. Even
Runciman no longer denounced convoys or food rationing.
An Opposition to a war government might have been ex-
pected to urge peace by negotiation, but decisive victory was

1. Sec Note A, p. 157.
2. The nickname is said to be derived from Asquith’s convivial
habits. Was it not simply a shortening of his surname?

131



A NATION AT WAR, 1916-18

the one point on which Asquith never wavered. Indeed, he
and his followers, in their anxiety not to be tarred with
‘peace by negotiation], failed even to formulate war aims,
leaving this task first to Labour and then to Lloyd George.
On the other side, Lloyd George was deterred from follow-
ing up the openings for a negotiated peace which presented
themselves in 1917 partly by the fear that Asquith would
buckle on the armour of the knock-out blow if he himself
laid it off.2

Asquith, in view of his previous record, could hardly claim
to run the war better than the existing government. But
others could make the claim. On 10 May 1917 Lloyd George
held a secret session, apparently to prepare the ground for
direction of labour and food rationing. Though he spoke
well, he was eclipsed by Churchill. Lloyd George did not
waste a moment. He caught Churchill behind the Speaker’s
chair, and, says Churchill, ‘from that day ... I became his
colleague’.2 Two months later, Churchill was made minister
of munitions. The Unionists protested in vain: Lloyd
George could not allow Churchill to rage untamed. The
appointment was cloaked by a general reshuffle of ministers
who had not come up to expectations. Lloyd George’s most
skilful stroke was to send Northcliffe on a special mission to
America, where he proved surprisingly successful. There
was another important consequence. Addison, dislodged by
Churchill from munitions, was made minister of reconstruc-
tion. Under his direction, committees surveyed practically
every aspect of British life. Much of this was windowdress-
ing, to allay labour discontent. Many of the plans were
never executed. Nevertheless, it was a startling recognition
of the obligations which the state owed to its citizens and a
first attempt to bring public affairs into some kind of rational
order.

Reconstruction brought also the end of an auld sang which
had haunted politics for more than a hundred years: it
virtually completed parliamentary, or strictly franchise, re-

1. See Note B, p. 158.
2. Churchill, World Crisis 1916-1918, 1. 2535.
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form. The existing householder or occupancy franchise dat-
ing from 1885, though often called democratic, gave the
vote only to three adult males out of five, and of course
women did not have the vote. Radicals were also aggrieved
that there was no limit to the number of votes an owner
of property could cast so long as he cast them in different
constituencies. The prewar register was flagrantly out of
date. A new one, on the same basis, could not include the
millions of men in the services. Yet it would be monstrously
unjust to leave them out. And if men serving their country
were to be enfranchised, why not women in the services
also? The problem came to a head in 1916 when there was
talk of a general election. Asquith, in his usual fashion, ran
away from it. He first asked the house of commons to decide.
When it refused, he remitted the problem to a conference,
presided over by the Speaker. This conference reported
soon after Lloyd George became prime minister. It unani-
mously recommended a six months’ residence qualification,
instead of occupancy, and one plural vote only. A majority
also recommended votes for women on the old occupancy
basis, at a higher age than for men.

The war cabinet backed the report, even though over a
hundred Unionists, led by Carson (himself a member of the
government), protested against it. Only women’s suffrage was
left to a free vote of the house, and even here opposition
was small. Most members agreed with Asquith, previously
an opponent of votes for women, when he said: ‘Some years
ago I ventured to use the expression, “Let the women work
out their own salvation.” Well, Sir, they have worked it out
during this war.” The bill passed the house of commons in
December 1917. It was held up by a dispute with the house
of lords over the rival merits of proportional representation
and the alternative vote, neither of which was in the end
adopted at all seriously. The act, which became law in June
1918, marked the victory of the Radical principle ‘one man,
one vote’, except for the University seats and a second vote
for business premises, both of which survived until 1948. The
act added more voters to the register than all its predeces-
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sors put together. It settled in principle the question of
votes for women, which had caused so much turmoil before
the war. Yet it went through almost without fuss. War
smoothed the way for democracy - one of the few things to
be said in its favour.!

Franchise reform and ‘reconstruction’ had little appeal in
the autumn of 1917. The war was going badly, except at sea.
There had been military failure on the western front. In
October the Germans, stiffening the Austro-Hungarian army,
broke through the Italian lines at Caporetto and almost
reached Venice. In November the Bolsheviks seized power
in Russia and at once s1gned an armistice with the Germans.
They proposed negotiations for a general peace. When the
Allies refused to join them, they negotiated alone with
the Central Powers. Russia was clearly out of the war; the
eastern front had ceased to exist. Lansdowne took the oppor-
tunity to refurbish his proposal of a year before for a com-
promise peace and published it in the Daily Telegraph.?
He had supporters even within the government. The British
entente or alliance with Russia had always been an uneasy
affair, imposed only by the greater threat from Germany.
Now it had gone. Why not swing back to the support of
Germany so far as eastern Europe was concerned? Milner,
the protagonist of Empire, strongly urged this view. If the
Germans would renounce their lost colonies; abandon their
useless navy; and respect the independence of Great Bri-
tain’s continental outposts, Belgium and France, then they
could retain their eastern spoils, including the rich Ukraine.
Thus Germany would be satisfied, and eastern Europe pre-
served from Bolshevism.? Here was a sketch for the pro-

1, See Note C, p. 159.

2. It had earlier been refused by The Times.

3. On 3 Nov. 1917 Milner told an American diplomatist that the
Allies ‘ought to listen to every peace whisper’. He continued to
advocate a compromise peace at Russia’s expense until the conclusion
of the armistice. On 1 March 1918 Beatrice Webb noted (Diaries 1912~
1924, 111-16): ‘The P.M. and Milner are thinking of a peace at the

expense of Russia. ... I gather that Haldane is also looking forward
to a reconciliation between the Junkers of Germany and those of
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gramme which Hitler was to lay down later in Mein Kampf
and which he was allegedly to apply when he came to power.
It is not surprising that the members of Milner’s kinder-
garten were, in the nineteen thirties, apostles of appease-
ment. At the time, the policy did not bite. On the one side,
the rulers of Imperial Germany - more ambitious than
Hitler - sought to dominate the west as well as the east. On
the other, the British people, as distinct from sophisticated
statesmen like Milner, were obstinately set on the defeat of
Germany. On 2 November Ben Tillett, the only rogue can-
didate to repeat Pemberton Billing’s success, defeated a
‘SquLfﬁte with the old cry of ‘a more energetic conduct of the
war’.

Public opinion had little idea how this could be done. In-
deed, its restlessness took some odd forms. For instance,
sudden panic swept the country about the distribution of
food - a panic as unreasoning as ‘the great fear’ which had
accompanied the French revolution. The food position was
in fact better than it had been earlier in the year. The wheat
harvest of 1917 was the best of the century. Supplies of meat
and fat were coming in faster. Yet, without warning, people
everywhere took alarm and bought food irrationally. There
were disappointed queues at every butcher’s and grocer’s
shop. The ministry of food had to introduce rationing helter-
skelter early in 1918, not at all because food was scarce, but
simply to allay this strange disturbance. There was no
intention of reducing the consumption of food. The ration
book was a promise that all demands would be met, as in-
deed they were, and, since people took up their full ration,
consumptlon shghtly increased. This was war psychology at
its most mysterious.

There was another outbreak with more sinister conse-
quences. The cry for reprisals against German air attacks
was common to all demagogues. The experts, such as they

England over an agreed extension of both Empires. With Russia to
cut up, the map of the world is capable of all sorts of rearrangements,

. The fullest discussion of this obscure subject is in chapter xx
of Gollin, Proconsul in Pelitics, 522-77.
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were, opposed this demand. They held that aeroplanes were
best used in cooperation with the army at the front: to
act as observers for the artillery; to fight the enemy fighters;
and to carry out tactical bombing. This did not suit public
opinion at home. Smuts stepped into the breach, his first as-
signment as a member of the war cabinet. His report,
completed in October 1917, was an epoch-making document.
There stem from it all the great achievements of our con-
temporary civilization: the indiscriminate destruction of
cities in the second World war; the nuclear bombs dropped
on Hiroshima and Nagasaki; and the present preparations
for destroying mankind. Smuts laid down, that, given enough
aeroplanes, the enemy could be brought to his knees with-
out fighting on land at all. This did not merely endorse the
popular demand for reprisals. It was another version of the
Gallipoli dream - a way of achieving decisive victory with-
out mass casualties. Lloyd George naturally snatched at it.
An independent air ministry was set up under Rothermere.?
Trenchard, head of the Royal Flying Corps, was made chief
of staff to the Royal Air Force; and, when he quar-
relled with Rothermere, given command of an independent
air force in France, with the task of bombing Germany into
submission. Trenchard never got the 100 squadrons which he
demanded - his highest effective force was nine. His inde-
pendent force achieved nothing. Nevertheless, he insisted
that victory by air power alone was theoretically possible,
and he riveted this doctrine on the R.A.F. after the war.
This was probably the most permanent, certainly the most
disastrous, legacy of the first World war.

The air offensive had no relevance at the time except as
a demagogic gesture. Lloyd George sought other means of
holding ‘the people’ to his side. They had to be told more
clearly what they were fighting for, particularly when the

1. Harold Sidney Harmsworth (1868-1940): younger brother of
Northcliffe; created Baron Rothermere, 1914, Viscount, 1919. Director
of army clothing department, 1916-17; secretary for air, 1917-18; took
over the Daily Mail on Northcliffe’s death.
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unmannerly Bolsheviks discredited Allied war aims by pub-
hshmg the secret treaties. Besides, Labour took up the run-
ning. In December 1917 the Labour party and the T.U.C.
agreed on a joint statement of war aims, which had been
drafted mainly by MacDonald. This was almost indistin-
guishable from the programme which the U.D.C. had been
preaching since the beginning of the war. There was the
same repudiation of secret dlplomacy, the same refusal to
discriminate between enemies and allies, the same empha-
sis on reconciliation with Germany - an outlook far removed
from that of most supporters of the government in the house
of commons. Nevertheless, Lloyd George endorsed the pro-
gramme unreservedly when he spoke to a conference of
trade union leaders on 5 January 1918. “We are not fighting
a war of aggression against the German people. ... Nor are
we ﬁghtmg to destroy Austria-Hungary or to deprlve Turkey
of its capital, or of the rich and renowned lands of Asia
Minor and Thrace.” There must be reparation and indepen-
dence for Belgium. ‘We mean to stand by the French
democracy to the death in the demand they make for a
reconsideration of the great wrong of 1871 There should
be an independent Poland, and the nationalities of Austria-
Hungary should receive ‘genuine self-government on true
democratic principles’. Above all; ‘a great attempt must be
made to establish by some international organization an
alternative to war as a means of settling international
disputes.?

This was the fullest statement of British war aims made in
the course of the war. It had been formally approved be-
forehand by the king, by the governments of the Dominions,
and by Asquith and Grey on behalf of the Opposition. Yet
it was made to a trade unio<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>